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INTEM || SANPAOLO

BASE PROSPECTUS DATED 22 DECEMBER 2020

Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.
(incorporated as a joint stock company under the laws of the Republic of Italy)
Euro 20,000,000,000 Covered Bond (Obbligazioni Bancarie Garantite) Programme

unsecured and unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed as to payments of interest and principal
by

ISP CB Pubblico S.r.L
(incorporated as a limited liability company under the laws of the Republic of Italy)

The Euro 20,000,000,000 Covered Bond (Obbligazioni Bancarie Garantite) Programme (the
Programme) described in this base prospectus (the Base Prospectus) has been established by Intesa
Sanpaolo S.p.A. (in its capacity as issuer of the Covered Bonds, as herein defined below, Intesa
Sanpaolo, the Bank or the Issuer) for the issuance of obbligazioni bancarie garantite (Covered Bonds
which term includes, for avoidance of doubt the Registered Covered Bonds as defined below)
guaranteed by ISP CB Pubblico S.r.l. pursuant to Article 7-bis of Law no. 130 of 30 April 1999 (as
subsequently amended, the Law 130) and regulated by the Decree of the Ministry of Economy and
Finance no. 310 of 14 December 2006 (the MEF Decree) and the supervisory instructions of the Bank
of Italy relating to covered bonds under Part III, Chapter 3, of the circular no. 285 of 17 December
2013, containing the “Disposizioni di vigilanza per le banche” as further implemented and amended
(the Bol OBG Regulations).

ISP CB Pubblico S.r.l. (the Covered Bonds Guarantor) issued a first demand (a prima richiesta),
autonomous, unconditional and irrevocable (irrevocabile) guarantee (garanzia autonoma) securing the
payment obligations of the Issuer under the Covered Bonds (the Covered Bonds Guarantee), in
accordance with the provisions of Law 130 and of the MEF Decree. The obligation of payment under
the Covered Bonds Guarantee shall be limited recourse to the Portfolio and the Available Funds (as
defined herein).

This Base Prospectus has been approved by the Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier (the
CSSF), which is the competent authority under Regulation EU 2017/1129 (the Prospectus Regulation)
in the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg, as a base prospectus for the purpose of article 8 of the Prospectus
Regulation.

The CSSF only approves this Base Prospectus as meeting the standards of completeness,
comprehensibility and consistency imposed by the Prospectus Regulation. Approval by the CSSF
should not be considered as an endorsement of the Issuer or the Guarantor or the quality of the Covered
Bonds that are subject to this Base Prospectus. Potential investors should make their own assessment
as to the suitability of investing in Covered Bonds.

Capitalised terms used in this Base Prospectus shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the
“Glossary” included herein, unless otherwise defined in the single section of this Base Prospectus in
which they are used.
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Where Covered Bonds (other than Registered Covered Bonds) issued under the Programme are
admitted to trading on a regulated market within the European Economic Area or offered to the public
in a Member State of the European Economic Area in circumstances which require the publication of a
prospectus under the Prospectus Regulation, such Covered Bonds will not have a denomination of less
than Euro 100,000 (or, where the Covered Bonds are issued in a currency other than Euro, the equivalent
amount in such other currency).

Under the Programme, the Issuer may issue Covered Bonds denominated in any currencies, including
Euro, US Dollar, Japanese Yen, Swiss Franc and UK Sterling. Interest on the Covered Bonds shall
accrue monthly, quarterly, semi-annually, annually or on such other basis as specified in the relevant
Final Terms (as defined in the “Terms and Conditions of the Covered Bonds” below), in arrear at fixed
or floating rate, increased or decreased by a margin. The Issuer may also issue Covered Bonds at a
discounted price with no interest accruing and repayable at nominal value (zero-coupon Covered
Bonds).

The terms of each Series will be set forth in the Final Terms relating to such Series prepared in
accordance with the provisions of this Base Prospectus and, if listed, to be delivered to the CSSF and
the Luxembourg Stock Exchange on or before the date of issue of such Series.

Application has been made for Covered Bonds (other than Registered Covered Bonds) issued under the
Programme during the period of 12 (twelve) months from the date of this Base Prospectus to be listed
on the official list of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and admitted to trading on the regulated market
of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, which is a regulated market for the purposes of Directive
2014/65/EU. In addition, the Issuer and each Relevant Dealer (as defined in the “Terms and Conditions
of the Covered Bonds”) named under “Subscription and Sale” may agree to make an application to list
a Series on any other stock exchange as specified in the relevant Final Terms. The Programme also
permits Covered Bonds to be issued on an unlisted basis.

As referred to in Article 6(4) of the Luxembourg law on prospectuses for securities of 16 July 2019, by
approving this Base Prospectus, in accordance with Article 20 of the Prospectus Regulation, the CSSF
does not engage in respect of the economic or financial opportunity of the operation or the quality and
solvency of the Issuer.

This Base Prospectus is valid for 12 months from the date of approval in relation to Covered
Bonds (until 22 December 2021) which are to be admitted to trading on a regulated market in the
European Economic Area (the EEA). The obligation to supplement this Base Prospectus in the
event of a significant new factor, material mistake or material inaccuracy does not apply when
this Base Prospectus is no longer valid.

Covered bonds may be issued in dematerialised form or in registered form also as German governed
registered covered bonds (Gedeckte Namensschuldverschreibung) (the Registered Covered Bonds).
The terms and conditions of the Registered Covered Bonds (the Registered Covered Bond
Conditions), which will differ from the terms and conditions set out in the section headed Terms and
Conditions of the Covered Bonds, will specify the minimum denomination for Registered Covered
Bonds, which might not be listed. This Base Prospectus does not relate to the Registered Covered
Bonds, which may be issued by the Issuer under the Programme pursuant to either separate
documentation or the documents described in this Base Prospectus after having made the necessary
amendments. The approval of this Base Prospectus by the CSSF does not cover any Registered
Covered Bonds which may be issued by the Issuer under the Programme.

Amounts payable under the Covered Bonds may be calculated by reference to EURIBOR, or to LIBOR,
in each case as specified in the relevant Final Terms. As at the date of this Base Prospectus, the ICE
Benchmark Administration (as administrator of LIBOR) and the European Money Markets Institute
(EMMI as administrator of EURIBOR) are included in the register of administrators and benchmarks
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established and maintained by the European Securities and Markets Authority pursuant to article 36 of
Regulation (EU) 2016/1011 (the BMR).

The Covered Bonds issued in dematerialised form to be issued on or after the date hereof will be held
on behalf of their ultimate owners, until redemption or cancellation thercof, by Monte Titoli S.p.A.
(Monte Titoli) for the account of the relevant Monte Titoli Account Holders. The expression Monte
Titoli Account Holders means any authorised financial intermediary institution entitled to hold
accounts on behalf of their customers with Monte Titoli and includes any depositary banks appointed
by Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. as operator of the Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V., 1 Boulevard du Roi Albert
II, B-1210 Bruxelles (Euroclear) and Clearstream Banking, société anonyme, 42 Avenue JF Kennedy,
1855, Luxembourg (Clearstream). Each Series of Covered Bonds issued in dematerialised form is and
will be deposited with Monte Titoli on the relevant Issue Date (as defined in the “Terms and Conditions
of the Covered Bonds” below). Monte Titoli shall act as depositary for Clearstream and Euroclear. The
Covered Bonds will at all times be held in book entry form and title to the Covered Bonds will be
evidenced by book entries in accordance with the provisions of Italian Legislative Decree no. 58 of 24
February 1998 (Financial Law) and implementing regulation and with the joint regulation of the
Commissione Nazionale per le Societa e la Borsa (CONSOB) and the Bank of Italy dated 13 August
2018and published in the Official Gazette of the Republic of Italy (Gazzetta Ufficiale della Repubblica
Italiana) No. 201 of 30 August 2018, as subsequently amended and supplemented. No physical
document of title is and will be issued in respect of the Covered Bonds.

Before the Maturity Date the Covered Bonds will be subject to mandatory and optional redemption in
whole or in part in certain circumstances, as set out in Condition 8 (Redemption and Purchase).

Each Series may, upon the relevant issue, be assigned a rating as specified in the relevant Final Terms
by Moody’s France S.A.S. (Moody’s or the Rating Agency) and/or any other rating agency which may
be appointed from time to time by the Issuer in relation to any issuance of Covered Bonds or for the
remaining duration of the Programme, to the extent that any of them at the relevant time provides ratings
in respect of any series of Covered Bonds. Conditions precedent to the issuance of any Series include
that the rating letter assigning the rating to such Series of Covered Bonds is issued by the Rating
Agency. Whether or not the credit rating applied for in relation to relevant Series of Covered Bonds
will be issued by a credit rating agency established in the European Union or in the United Kingdom
(UK) and registered under Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 (as amended, the CRA Regulation) will be
disclosed in the Final Terms. In general, European regulated investors are restricted from using a rating
for regulatory purposes if such rating is not issued by a credit rating agency established in the European
Union or the UK and registered under the CRA Regulation (or is endorsed and published or distributed
by subscription by such a credit rating agency in accordance with the CRA Regulation) unless (1) the
rating is provided by a credit rating agency not established in the EEA or the UK but endorsed by a
credit rating agency established in the EEA or the UK and registered under the CRA Regulation or (2)
the rating is provided by a credit rating agency not established in the EEA or the UK which is certified
under the CRA Regulation. The European Securities and Markets Authority (the ESMA) is obliged to
maintain on its website, https://www.esma.europa.eu/page/List-registered-and-certified-CRAs, a list of
credit rating agencies registered and certified in accordance with the CRA Regulation.

A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold Covered Bonds and may be subject
to revision or withdrawal by the Rating Agency.

For a discussion of certain risks and other factors that should be considered in connection with
an investment in the Covered Bonds, see the section entitled “Risk Factors” of this Base
Prospectus.

Other than in relation to the documents which are deemed to be incorporated by reference (see
the section headed “Documents Incorporated by Reference”), the information on the websites to



which this Base Prospectus refers does not form part of this Base Prospectus and has not been
scrutinised or approved by the CSSF.

Arranger and Dealer
IMI - Intesa Sanpaolo

The date of this Base Prospectus is 22 December 2020.



RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENTS

The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Base Prospectus. To the best of
the knowledge of the Issuer, having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case, the
information containted in this Base Prospectus is in accordance with the facts and this Base Prospectus
makes no omission likely to affect the importance of such information.

The Covered Bonds Guarantor accepts responsibility for the information included in this Base
Prospectus in the section headed “Description of the Covered Bonds Guarantor” and any other
information contained in this Base Prospectus relating to itself. To the best of the knowledge of the
Covered Bonds Guarantor those parts of this Base Prospectus for which the Covered Bonds Guarantor
is responsible are in accordance with the facts and makes no omission likely to affect the importance of
such information.

NOTICE

This Base Prospectus is a base prospectus for the purposes of Article 8 of the Prospectus Regulation
and for the purposes of giving information which, according to the particular nature of the Covered
Bonds, is necessary to enable investors to make an informed assessment of the assets and liabilities,
financial position, profit and losses and prospects of the Issuer and of the Covered Bonds Guarantor
and of the rights attaching to the Covered Bonds.

This Base Prospectus should be read and understood in conjunction with any supplement thereto along
with any document incorporated herein by reference (see section “Documents incorporated by
reference’”) and in relation to any Series of Covered Bonds, with the combination of the Base Prospectus
and the relevant Final Terms.

Other than in relation to the documents which are deemed to be incorporated by reference (see
Documents Incorporated by Reference), the information on the websites to which this Base Prospectus
refers does not form part of this Base Prospectus and has not been scrutinised or approved by the CSSF.

Capitalised terms used in this Base Prospectus shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the
section headed “Glossary”, unless otherwise defined in the single section of this Base Prospectus
in which they are used.

The Issuer and, with respect to the information relating to itself only, the Covered Bond Guarantor,
have confirmed to the Dealer (as defined herein) that this Base Prospectus contains all information with
regard to the Issuer and the Covered Bonds which is material in the context of the Programme and the
issue and offering of Covered Bonds thereunder; that the information contained herein is accurate in all
material respects and is not misleading; that any opinions and intentions expressed by it herein are
honestly held and based on reasonable assumptions; that there are no other facts with respect to the
Issuer, the omission of which would make this Base Prospectus as a whole or any statement therein or
opinions or intentions expressed therein misleading in any material respect; and that all reasonable
enquiries have been made to verify the foregoing.

Third Party Information — Certain information and statistics presented in this Base Prospectus regarding
markets and market share of the Issuer or the Group are either derived from, or are based on, internal
data or publicly available data from external sources. In addition, the sources for the rating information
set out in the sections headed “Ratings” of this Base Prospectus are the following rating agencies: Fitch
Ratings Limited, Moody’s France S.A.S., S&P Global Ratings Europe Limited and DBRS Rating
GmbH (each as defined below). In respect of information in this Base Prospectus that has been extracted
from a third party, the Issuer confirms that such information has been accurately reproduced and that,
so far as it is aware, and is able to ascertain from information published by third parties, no facts have
been omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading. Although the



Issuer believes that the external sources used are reliable, the Issuer has not independently verified the
information provided by such sources.

No person is or has been authorised by the Issuer or the Covered Bonds Guarantor to disclose any
information or to make any representation which is not contained in or not consistent with this Base
Prospectus or any other document entered into in relation to the Programme or any information supplied
by the Issuer or such other information as in the public domain and, if given or made, such information
or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorised by the Issuer, the Dealer or any
party to the Transaction Documents (as defined in the Conditions).

This Base Prospectus is valid for twelve months following its date of approval and it and any supplement
hereto as well as any Final Terms filed within these twelve months reflects the status as of their
respective dates of issue. The offering, sale or delivery of any Covered Bonds may not be taken as an
implication that the information contained in such documents is accurate and complete subsequent to
their respective dates of issue or that there has been no adverse change in the financial condition of the
Issuer since such date or that any other information supplied in connection with the Programme is
accurate at any time subsequent to the date on which it is supplied or, if different, the date indicated in
the document containing the same.

The Issuer has undertaken with the Dealer to supplement this Base Prospectus or publish a new Base
Prospectus if and when the information herein should become materially inaccurate or incomplete and
has further agreed with the Dealer to furnish a supplement to the Base Prospectus in the event of any
significant new factor, material mistake or material inaccuracy relating to the information included in
this Base Prospectus which is capable of affecting the assessment of the Covered Bonds and which
arises or is noted between the time when this Base Prospectus has been approved and the final closing
of any Series or Tranche of Covered Bonds offered to the public or, as the case may be, when trading
of any Series or Tranche of Covered Bonds on a regulated market begins, in respect of Covered Bonds
issued on the basis of this Base Prospectus.

Neither the Arranger nor the Dealer nor any person mentioned in this Base Prospectus, with exception
of the Issuer, the Covered Bonds Guarantor and the Asset Monitor (only with respect to the section
“Description of the Asset Monitor”), is responsible for the information contained in this Base
Prospectus, any document incorporated herein by reference, or any supplement thereof, or any Final
Terms or any document incorporated herein by reference, and accordingly, and to the extent permitted
by the laws of any relevant jurisdiction, none of these persons accepts any responsibility for the accuracy
and completeness of the information contained in any of these documents.

Neither the Dealer, nor the Arranger have separately verified the information contained in this Base
Prospectus. None of the Dealer or the Arranger makes any representation, express or implied, or accepts
any responsibility, with respect to the accuracy or completeness of any of the information in this Base
Prospectus. Neither this Base Prospectus nor any other financial statements are intended to provide the
basis of any credit or other evaluation and should not be considered as a recommendation by any of the
Issuer, the Covered Bonds Guarantor, the Arranger or the Dealer that any recipient of this Base
Prospectus or any other financial statements should purchase the Covered Bonds. Each potential
purchaser of Covered Bonds should determine for itself the relevance of the information contained in
this Base Prospectus and its purchase of Covered Bonds should be based upon such investigation as it
deems necessary. None of the Dealer or the Arranger undertakes to review the financial condition or
affairs of the Issuer, the Covered Bonds Guarantor during the life of the arrangements contemplated by
this Base Prospectus nor to advise any investor or potential investor in Covered Bonds of any
information coming to the attention of any of the Dealer or the Arranger.

The distribution of this Base Prospectus, any document incorporated herein by reference and any Final
Terms and the offering, sale and delivery of the Covered Bonds in certain jurisdictions may be restricted



by law. Any persons into possession of this Base Prospectus or any Final Terms come are required by
the Issuer and the Dealer to inform themselves about and to observe any such restrictions.

For a description of certain restrictions on offers, sales and deliveries of Covered Bonds and on the
distribution of the Base Prospectus or any Final Terms and other offering material relating to the
Covered Bonds, see the section headed “Subscription and Sale” of this Base Prospectus. In particular,
the Covered Bonds have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of
1933, as amended. Subject to certain exceptions, Covered Bonds may not be offered, sold or delivered
within the United States of America or to U.S. persons.

Intesa Sanpaolo may offer and sell the Covered Bonds to or through one or more underwriters, dealers
and agents, including Intesa Sanpaolo, or directly to purchasers.

Neither this Base Prospectus, any supplement thereto, nor any Final Terms (or any part thereof)
constitutes an offer, nor may they be used for the purpose of an offer to sell any of the Covered Bonds,
or a solicitation of an offer to buy any of the Covered Bonds, by anyone in any jurisdiction or in any
circumstances in which such offer or solicitation is not authorised or is unlawful. Each recipient of this
Base Prospectus or any Final Terms is required and shall be taken to have made its own investigation
and appraisal of the condition (financial or otherwise) of the Issuer.

The language of the Base Prospectus is English. Where a claim relating to the information contained in
this Base Prospectus is brought before a court in a member State of the European Economic Area (a
Member State), the plaintiff may, under the national legislation of the Member State where the claim
is brought, be required to bear the costs of translating the Base Prospectus before the legal proceedings
are initiated.

This Base Prospectus may only be used for the purpose for which it has been published.

This Base Prospectus and any Final Terms may not be used for the purpose of an offer or solicitation
by anyone in any jurisdiction in which such offer or solicitation is not authorised or to any person to
whom it is unlawful to make such an offer or solicitation.

In this Base Prospectus, references to € or euro or Euro are to the single currency introduced at the
start of the Third Stage of European Economic and Monetary Union pursuant to the Treaty establishing
the European Union, as amended; references to U.S.$ or U.S. Dollar are to the currency of the Unites
States of America; references to £ or UK Sterling are to the currency of the United Kingdom; reference
to Japanese Yen is to the currency of Japan; reference to Swiss Franc or CHF are to the currency of
the Swiss Confederation; references to Italy are to the Republic of Italy; references to laws and
regulations are, unless otherwise specified, to the laws and regulations of Italy; and references to
billions are to thousands of millions.

Certain monetary amounts and currency conversions included in this Base Prospectus have been subject
to rounding adjustments; accordingly, figures shown as totals in certain tables may not be an arithmetic
aggregation of the figures which preceded them.

Each initial and subsequent purchaser of a Covered Bond will be deemed, by its acceptance of the
purchase of such Covered Bond, to have made certain acknowledgements, representations and
agreements intended to restrict the resale or other transfer thereof as set forth therein and described in
this Base Prospectus and, in connection therewith, may be required to provide confirmation of its
compliance with such resale or other transfer restrictions in certain cases.

The Arranger is acting for the Issuer and no one else in connection with the Programme and will not be
responsible to any person other than the Issuer for providing the protection afforded to clients of the
Arranger or for providing advice in relation to the issue of the Covered Bonds.



In connection with the issue of any Series under the Programme, the Dealer or the Dealers (if
any) which is specified in the relevant Final Terms as the stabilising manager (the Stabilising
Manager) or any person acting for the Stabilising Manager may over-allot any such Series or
effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price such Series at a level higher than
that which might otherwise prevail for a limited period. However, there may be no obligation on
the Stabilising Manager (or any agent of the Stabilising Manager) to do this. Any stabilisation
action may begin on or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the final terms of
the offer of the Covered Bonds is made and, if begun, may be ended at any time, but it must end
no later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue date of the relevant Series and 60 days after the
date of the allotment of any such Series. Such stabilising shall be in compliance with all applicable
laws, regulations and rules.

IMPORTANT - EEA AND UK RETAIL INVESTORS - If the Final Terms in respect of any Cover
Bonds include a legend entitled Prohibition of Sales to EEA and UK Retail Investors, the Covered
Bonds are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered,
sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area (EEA) or in the
United Kingdom (UK). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of:
(1) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (MiFID II); or (ii) a
customer within the meaning of Directive (UE) 2016/97 (IDD), where that customer would not qualify
as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II. Consequently no key
information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (the PRIIPs Regulation) for
offering or selling the Covered Bonds or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA
or the UK has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Covered Bonds or otherwise making
them available to any retail investor in the EEA or the UK may be unlawful under the PRIIPs
Regulation.

MIFID II product governance / target market — The Final Terms in respect of any Covered Bonds
will include a legend entitled “MiFID II Product Governance” which will outline the target market
assessment in respect of the Covered Bonds and which channels for distribution of the Covered Bonds
are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Covered Bonds (a
"distributor") should take into consideration the target market assessment; however, a distributor subject
to MiFID 1I is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Covered
Bonds (by either adopting or refining the target market assessment) and determining appropriate
distribution channels.

A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the MiFID
Product Governance rules under EU Delegated Directive 2017/593 (the MiFID Product Governance
Rules), any Dealer subscribing for any Covered Bonds is a manufacturer in respect of such Covered
Bonds, but otherwise neither the Arranger nor the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates will be
a manufacturer for the purpose of the MIFID Product Governance Rules.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

General Description of the Programme ............c.ccocveiiiiiiiiiiiciiciecece et st 10
RISK FACLOTS ...ttt st sttt et e bt e s bt e shtesatesabeeabe e bt e bt enaeenaeas 54
Documents Incorporated by REference..........ceeevieiiiiiiieiieiierieseceeeeeeee e 82
Supplement to the Base PrOSPECIUS .......eccvieiiieriieiieierie sttt sieeseeevesteebeeseessaessnesssessseensaeseens 87
DesSCription Of the ISSUCT .......eiiiiiiiiie ettt et et e e seb e e s b e e eebeessbeeetaeessessnseeesseas 88
REGUIALOTY SECLIOMN.....eeiuiiiiieiieiieieereeste ettt et et et estte et e esseebeestaestaessseasseassaesseesssesssesssessseenseesseens 139
Description of the Covered Bonds GUATaNtOr............ccvevcviriieriienieniesieseeereereesieeseesnesssessseesseesseens 156
Description Of the ASSEt IMOMILOT......cccuuiiiiieiiiieeiieciee ettt e eteeerireeeteeestbeesbeeeareesabeessseeeeseeesseeennns 162
Description Of the POItfOlio ........cocviiiiiiiiie sttt eve e e ree e 163
Collection and RECOVETY PrOCEAUIES ........uevviiiieiiiiiesie ettt ettt e e b e e e staesraesnnesnne e 166
CIEAIE STIUCTULE ..ottt ettt ettt ettt et e e st esh e e e ateeate e bt e bt e bt e saeesaeeeateenbeenbeesbeesaeesnseenseenne 179
Accounts and Cash FLOWS .......cccuiiiiiiiiiiii ettt ettt ettt ettt et e nae e 189
CASN FIOWS...c.eeieeee ettt ettt h e bt et e bt s h e e e bt e et et e eae et e sbeemte bt ententeeneeneenees 195
USE OF PIOCEEAS. ...ttt ettt ettt ettt et e st e st et e e bt et enteeneeneeeees 200
Description of the Transaction DOCUMENTS..........cccuiiiiiiiiiiieieee ettt 201
Selected Aspects Of Italian Law.........ccceviiiieiiiiiie ettt v v ssre b e este e sa e saesenas 219
Terms and Conditions of the Covered Bonds ...........cooceeiiiiiiiiinieeeeeeeeee e 228
FOTm Of FINAL TEITIS ...cueeiiiiiiiieieeieet ettt ettt ettt ettt st e st eeate et e e bt e beesstesnteenseenseenseens 296
Responsibility for Third Party InfOrmation .............cocceiiiriieniereirie e 303
Taxation in the Republic Of [taly .......c.cccuiiiiiiiieiciececeee e r e sb e b e eree s 310
SUbSCIIPHION AN SALE....c..eiiiiiiiiiiieeee ettt sttt e b e sne e neeenees 318
GeNETral INTOIMATION. .......iiitiiiiiieciie ettt ettt e et e et e e s abeeeabeeesebeeebeeesaseesabesensseesnsesenens 323

GLOSSATY ...vievieerietiesieeetteste ettt ebeebe e teesttesebeasbeasseassaessaesssessseasseasseasseasssesssessseasseassaasssessaesssesssenssenssenses 328



The following section contains a general description of the Programme pursuant to Article 25 of
Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/980 and, as such, does not purport to be complete and
is qualified in its entirety by the remainder of this Base Prospectus and, in relation to the terms and
conditions of any Series or Tranche, the applicable Final Terms. Prospective purchasers of Covered
Bonds should carefully read the information set out elsewhere in this Base Prospectus prior to making
an investment decision in respect of the Covered Bonds. In this section, references to a numbered

GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAMME

condition are to such condition in “Terms and Conditions of the Covered Bonds” below.
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1. PRINCIPAL PARTIES

Issuer

Arranger

Dealer

Covered Bonds Guarantor

Seller

Additional Sellers

Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A., a bank organised as a joint stock
company under the laws of the Republic of Italy, whose
registered office is at Piazza San Carlo 156, Turin, Italy and
secondary office at Via Monte di Pieta 8, Milan, Italy,
incorporated with Fiscal Code number and registration number
with the Turin Register of Enterprises 00799960158, delegate
of Intesa Sanpaolo Banking Group VAT under number
11991500015, enrolled under number 5361 in the register of
banks held by the Bank of Italy pursuant to article 13 of the
Consolidated Banking Act, holding company of the Intesa
Sanpaolo Banking Group, enrolled in the register of banking
groups held by the Bank of Italy pursuant to article 64 of the
Consolidated Banking Act (the Issuer or Intesa Sanpaolo or
ISP).

Intesa Sanpaolo (or the Arranger).

As of the date hereof Intesa Sanpaolo (the Dealer), and any
entity so appointed by the Issuer in accordance with the terms
of the Dealer Agreement.

ISP CB Pubblico S.rl. a limited liability company
incorporated under Article 7-bis of Law 130, whose registered
office is at Via Monte di Pieta 8, 20121 Milan, Italy,
incorporated with Fiscal Code number and registration number
with the Milan, Monza-Brianza, Lodi Register of Enterprises
no. 05936150969, belonging to the Gruppo Bancario Intesa
Sanpaolo, subject to the direction and coordination (direzione
e coordinamento) pursuant to Article 2947-bis of Italian Civil
Code, of Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. (the Covered Bonds
Guarantor, as the case may be part of the group of which ISP
is parent company (the Intesa Sanpaolo Group or the
Group)).

The issued capital of the Covered Bonds Guarantor is equal to
Euro 120,000.00, 60 per cent. owned by the Issuer and 40 per
cent. owned by Stichting Viridis 2.

Intesa Sanpaolo in its capacity as seller under the Master
Transfer Agreement (the Seller).

Any bank (each an Additional Seller), other than the Seller,
which is a member of the Intesa Sanpaolo Group, may sell
Public Assets or Integration Assets (as defined below) to the
Covered Bonds Guarantor, subject to satisfaction of certain
conditions, and that, for such purpose, shall, infer alia, enter
into a master transfer agreement, substantially in the form of
the Master Transfer Agreement, a servicing agreement,
substantially in the form of the Servicing Agreement, and a



Servicer

Successor Servicer

Administrative Services Provider

Portfolio Manager

Asset Monitor

Cash Manager

Receivables Collection Account
Bank

subordinated loan agreement, substantially in the form of the
Subordinated Loan Agreement, and shall accede to the
Intercreditor Agreement (which will be amended in order to
take into account the granting of additional subordinated loans)
and the other Transaction Documents executed by the Seller.

Intesa Sanpaolo, in its capacity as servicer under the Servicing
Agreement (the Servicer).

The party or parties (the Successor Servicer) which will be
appointed in order to perform, inter alia, the servicing
activities performed by the Servicer, and any successor or
replacing entity thereto following the occurrence of a Servicer
Termination Event (for a more detailed description see
“Description of the Transaction Documents — Servicing
Agreement”).

Intesa Sanpaolo in its capacity as administrative services
provider under the Administrative Services Agreement (the
Administrative Services Provider).

The entity to be appointed under the Portfolio Administration
Agreement in order to carry out certain activities in connection
with the sale of Public Assets, following the occurrence of an
Issuer Event of Default or a Covered Bonds Guarantor Event
of Default (the Portfolio Manager).

BDO Italia S.p.A., a joint stock company incorporated under
the laws of the Republic of Italy, having its registered office at
Viale Abruzzi 94, 20131, Milan, Italy, fiscal code and
enrolment with the companies register of Milan, Monza-
Brianza, Lodi no. 07722780967, and enrolled under 167911 in
the Register of Certified Auditors held by the Ministry for
Economy and Finance — Stage general accounting office
pursuant to Legislative Decree no. 39 of 27 January 2010 and
the Ministerial decree no. 145 of 20 June 2012 (the Asset
Monitor).

Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A., through its branch whose registered
office is at Via Verdi 8, Milan in its capacity as cash manager
under the Cash Management and Agency Agreement (the
Cash Manager).

Intesa Sanpaolo, with which the Receivables Collection
Accounts (as defined below) are opened and held in the name
of the Covered Bonds Guarantor, on which all the amounts
collected or recovered by the Servicer in respect of the
Portfolio will be transferred in accordance with the terms of
the Servicing Agreement and the Cash Management and
Agency Agreement (the Receivables Collection Account
Bank).

The Receivables Collection Accounts will be maintained with
the Receivables Collection Account Bank for as long as it



Account Bank

Calculation Agent

CB Hedging Counterparty

TBG 1 Hedging Counterparty

TBG 2 Hedging Counterparty

maintains the Minimum Required Receivables Collection
Account Bank Rating provided for under the Transaction
Documents.

Intesa Sanpaolo, with which the Securities Collection
Accounts, the Investment Account, the Securities Account, the
Eligible Investments Account, the Quota Capital Account, the
Expenses Account and the Corporate Account (the Other
Accounts and together with the Receivables Collection
Accounts the Accounts) are opened and held in the name of
the Covered Bonds Guarantor in accordance with the terms of
the Cash Management and Agency Agreement (the Account
Bank).

The Accounts will be maintained with the Account Bank for
as long as it maintains the Minimum Required Account Bank
Rating provided for under the Transaction Documents.

Banca  Finanziaria Internazionale S.p.A. (formerly
Securitisation Services S.p.A.), breviter Banca Finint S.p.A., a
bank incorporated under the laws of Italy as a “societa per
azioni”’, with a sole shareholder, having its registered office in
Via V. Alfieri,1, 31015 Conegliano (TV), Italy, share capital
of Euro 71,817,500.00 fully paid up, tax code and enrolment
in the Companies’ Register of Treviso-Belluno number
04040580963, VAT Group “Gruppo IVA FININT S.P.A.” -
VAT number 04977190265, registered in the Register of the
Banks under number 5580 pursuant to article 13 of the
Consolidated Banking Act and in the Register of the Banking
groups as Parent Company of the Banca Finanziaria
Internazionale Banking Group, member of the “Fondo
Interbancario di Tutela dei Depositi” and of the “Fondo
Nazionale di Garanzia”.

Intesa Sanpaolo and any other party (each, a CB Hedging
Counterparty and together, the CB  Hedging
Counterparties) that, from time to time, will enter into a CB
Swap (as defined below) with the Covered Bonds Guarantor
for the hedging of currency risk and/or interest rate risk on the
Covered Bonds.

Intesa Sanpaolo and any other party (each, a TBG 1 Hedging
Counterparty and together, the TBG 1 Hedging
Counterparties) that, from time to time, will enter into a TBG
1 Swap (as defined below) with the Covered Bonds Guarantor
for the hedging of currency and/or interest rate risk on the
Portfolio.

Intesa Sanpaolo and any other party (each, a TBG 2 Hedging
Counterparty and together, the TBG 2 Hedging
Counterparties and jointly with the TBG 1 Hedging
Counterparties, the TBG Hedging Counterparties and
together with the CB Hedging Counterparties, the Hedging
Counterparties) that, from time to time, will enter into a TBG
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2 Swap (as defined below) with the Covered Bonds Guarantor
for the hedging of currency and/or interest rate risk on the
Portfolio.

Deutsche Bank S.p.A. a bank incorporated under the laws of
the Republic of Italy, whose registered office is at Piazza del
Calendario no. 3, Milan, Italy, in its capacity as paying agent
of the Covered Bonds under the Cash Management and
Agency Agreement (the Paying Agent).

Any reference to the Paying Agent included in this Base
Prospectus, shall include, for the avoidance of doubt, any
reference to additional paying agent and/or the N Paying Agent
appointed by the Issuer in relation to a specific Series of
Covered Bonds or Registered Covered Bonds.

Intesa Sanpaolo and Intesa Sanpaolo Group Services S.c.p.A.,
a limited liability consortium (societa consortile per azioni)
whose registered office is at Piazza San Carlo 156, Turin,
registered under the Register of Enterprises of Turin No.
07975420154, VAT number 04932231006, belonging to the
Intesa Sanpaolo Group and under the management and
coordination (direzione e coordinamento), pursuant to Article
2497 bis of the Italian Civil Code, of Intesa Sanpaolo, in their
capacity as swap service providers under the ISP Mandate
Agreement (the Swap Service Providers).

Any institution which may be appointed from time to time by
the Issuer to act as registrar in respect of the Registered
Covered Bonds issued under the Programme (the Registrar),
provided that if the Issuer will keep the register and will not
delegate such activity, any reference to the Registrar will be
construed as a reference to the Issuer.

Any institution appointed from time to time by the Issuer to act
as paying agent in respect of the Registered Covered Bonds
issued under the Programme (the N Paying Agent).

Deutsche Bank Luxembourg S.A. a bank incorporated under
the laws of Luxembourg, whose registered office is at 2
Boulevard Konrad Adenauer, Luxembourg 1115, in its
capacity as Luxembourg listing agent under the Cash
Management and Agency Agreement (the Luxembourg
Listing Agent).

Banca Finanziaria Internazionale S.p.A., in its own capacity
and as representative of the Organisation of the Covered
Bondholders (the Representative of the Covered
Bondholders).

Moody’s France S.A.S. (Moody’s or the Rating Agency)
and/or any other rating agency which may be appointed from
time to time by the Issuer in relation to any issuance of
Covered Bonds or for the remaining duration of the



Ownership or control relationships
between the principal parties

Programme, to the extent that any of them at the relevant time
provides ratings in respect of any series of Covered Bonds.
Whether or not a rating in relation to any Series of Covered
Bonds will be issued by a credit rating agency established in
the European Union and registered under the CRA Regulation
will be disclosed in the relevant Final Terms. The credit ratings
included or referred to in this Base Prospectus have been
issued by Moody’s which is established in the European Union
and is registered under the CRA Regulation. As such Moody's
is included in the list of credit rating agencies published by the
European Securities and Markets Authority on its website in
accordance with such CRA Regulation.

As of the date of this Base Prospectus, no direct or indirect
ownership or control relationships exist between the principal
parties described above in this Section, other than the
relationships existing between the Issuer and the Covered
Bonds Guarantor all of which pertain to the Intesa Sanpaolo
Group.

2. THE COVERED BONDS AND THE PROGRAMME

Description

Programme Amount

Distribution of the Covered Bonds

Selling Restrictions

Euro 20,000,000,000 Covered Bond (Obbligazioni Bancarie
Garantite) Programme.

Up to Euro 20,000,000,000 (and for this purpose, any Covered
Bonds denominated in another currency shall be translated into
Euro at the date of the agreement to issue such Covered Bonds,
and the Euro exchange rate used shall be included in the Final
Terms) in aggregate principal amount of Covered Bonds
outstanding (the Programme Limit). The Programme Limit
may be increased in accordance with the terms of the Dealer
Agreement and, according to Article 18, letter (i), of the
Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/979 of 14
March 2019, the Issuer will publish a supplement to this
Prospectus.

The Covered Bonds may be distributed on a syndicated or non-
syndicated basis, in each case only in accordance with the
relevant selling restrictions.

The offer, sale and delivery of the Covered Bonds and the
distribution of offering material in certain jurisdictions may be
subject to certain selling restrictions. Persons who are in
possession of this Base Prospectus are required by the Issuer,
the Dealer and the Arranger to inform themselves about, and
to observe, any such restriction. The Covered Bonds have not
been and will not be registered under the Securities Act.
Subject to certain exceptions, the Covered Bonds may not be
offered, sold or delivered within the United States or to US
persons. There are further restrictions on the distribution of this
Base Prospectus and the offer or sale of Covered Bonds in the
European Economic Area (including the Republic of Ireland,
Germany, and the Republic of Italy), the United Kingdom and



Currencies

Denominations

Minimum Denomination

Issue Price

Issue Date

Initial Issue Date

Japan. For a description of certain restrictions on offers and
sales of Covered Bonds and on distribution of this Base
Prospectus, see the section headed “Subscription and Sale”
below.

Intesa Sanpaolo may offer and sell the Covered Bonds to or
through one or more underwriters, dealers and agents,
including Intesa Sanpaolo, or directly to purchasers.

Covered Bonds may be denominated in Euro, UK Sterling,
Swiss Franc, Japanese Yen and US Dollar, as specified in the
applicable Final Terms, or in any other currency, as may be
agreed between the Issuer and the Relevant Dealer(s) (each a
Specified Currency), subject to compliance with all
applicable legal and/or regulatory and/or central bank
requirements, in which case the Covered Bonds Guarantor
and/or the Issuer may enter into certain agreements in order to
hedge inter alia its currency exchange exposure in relation to
such Covered Bonds. Payments in respect of Covered Bonds
may, subject to such compliance, be made in or linked to, any
currency other than the currency in which such Covered Bonds
are denominated.

In accordance with the Conditions, the Covered Bonds (other
than the Registered Covered Bonds) will be issued in such
denominations as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms,
subject to compliance with all applicable legal or regulatory or
central bank requirements (see Condition 3 (Form,
Denomination and Title)). Registered Covered Bonds will be
issued in such denominations indicated in the applicable
Registered Covered Bonds Conditions.

The minimum denomination of each Covered Bonds (other
than the Registered Covered Bonds) will be Euro 100,000 or
such other integral multiples of another smaller amount (or,
where the Covered Bonds are issued in a currency other than
Euro, the equivalent amount in such other currency), in each
case as specified in the relevant Final Terms. The minimum
denomination for the Registered Covered Bonds will be
specified in the relevant Registered Covered Bonds
Conditions.

Covered Bonds of each Series may be issued at an issue price
which is at par or at a discount to, or premium over, par, as
specified in the relevant Final Terms (in each case, the Issue
Price for such Series).

The date of issue of a Series pursuant to and in accordance with
the Dealer Agreement (each, the Issue Date in relation to such
Series).

The date on which the Issuer will issue the first Series of
Covered Bonds (the Initial Issue Date).



CB Payment Date

CB Interest Period

Interest Commencement Date

Form of Covered Bonds

The dates specified as such in, or determined in accordance
with the provisions of the Conditions and, the relevant Final
Terms, subject in each case, to the extent provided in the
relevant Final Terms, to adjustment in accordance with the
applicable Business Day Convention (as defined in the
Conditions) (such date, a CB Payment Date).

Each period beginning on (and including) a CB Payment Date
(or, in the case of the first CB Interest Period, the Interest
Commencement Date) and ending on (but excluding) the next
CB Payment Date (or, in the case of the last CB Interest Period,
the Maturity Date) (each such period, a CB Interest Period).

In relation to any Series of Covered Bonds, the Issue Date of
such Covered Bonds or such other date as may be specified as
the Interest Commencement Date in the relevant Final Terms
(Interest Commencement Date).

The Covered Bonds will be issued and will be held in
dematerialised form or as German governed registered covered
bonds  (Gedeckte = Namensschuldverschreibung)  (the
Registered Covered Bonds), or in any other form as set out
in the relevant Final Terms.

The Covered Bonds issued in dematerialised form will be held
on behalf of the beneficial owners, until redemption or
cancellation thereof, by Monte Titoli for the account of the
relevant Monte Titoli Account Holders. Each Series will be
deposited with Monte Titoli on the relevant Issue Date. Monte
Titoli shall act as depositary for Clearstream and Euroclear.
The Covered Bonds will, at all times, be held in book entry
form and title to the Covered Bonds will be evidenced by book
entries in accordance with the provisions of (i) Article 83-bis
et seq. of the Financial Law and the relevant implementing
regulations and (ii) Regulation 13 Augsut 2018. No physical
document of title will be issued in respect of the Covered
Bonds issued in dematerialised form.

Registered Covered Bonds will be issued to each holder in the
form of a Registered Covered Bond (Gedeckte
Namensschuldverschreibung), each issued with a minimum
denomination indicated in the relevant Registered Covered
Bond terms and conditions (the Registered Covered Bond
Conditions).

The relevant Registered Covered Bonds (Gedeckte
Namensschuldverschreibung), together with the related
Registered Covered Bond Conditions attached thereto and any
other document expressed to govern such Series of Registered
Covered Bonds, will constitute the full terms and conditions of
the relevant Series of Registered Covered Bonds.



Types of Covered Bonds

In the case of Registered Covered Bonds, each reference in this
Base Prospectus to information being set out, specified, stated,
shown, indicated or otherwise provided for in the applicable
Final Terms, shall be read and construed as a reference to such
information being set out, specified, stated, shown, indicated
or otherwise provided in the Registered Covered Bond
(Gedeckte Namensschuldverschreibung), the Registered
Covered Bond Conditions attached thereto or other related
agreements and, as applicable, each other reference to Final
Terms in this Base Prospectus shall be construed and read as a
reference to such Registered Covered Bond (Gedeckte
Namensschuldverschreibung) or the Registered Covered Bond
Conditions attached thereto or the relevant Registered Covered
Bond agreement.

Any reference to a Covered Bondholder shall be referred to the
holder of a Covered Bond and/or the registered holder for the
time being of a Registered Covered Bond (the Registered
Covered Bondholder) as the context may require.

A transfer of Registered Covered Bonds is deemed to be not
effective until the transferee has delivered to the Registrar a
duly executed copy of the Registered Covered Bond certificate
relating to such Registered Covered Bond along with a duly
executed Registered Covered Bond assignment agreement. A
transfer can only occur for the minimum denomination
indicated in the applicable Registered Covered Bond
Conditions or multiples thereof.

In connection with the Registered Covered Bonds, references
in this Base Prospectus to the Conditions or a particularly
numbered Condition shall be construed, where relevant (and
unless specified otherwise), as references to the equivalent
Condition in the relevant Registered Covered Bond Conditions
as supplemented by any applicable document.

For the avoidance of doubt, Registered Covered Bonds are not
and will not be subject to the generally applicable terms and
conditions of the Covered Bonds (contained in the section
headed “Terms and Conditions of the Covered Bonds™). No
Final Terms will be issued in respect of Registered Covered
Bonds.

In accordance with the Conditions, the Covered Bonds may be
Fixed Rate Covered Bonds, Floating Rate Covered Bonds,
Zero Coupon Covered Bonds or a combination of any of the
foregoing, depending upon the Interest Basis shown in the
applicable Final Terms. The Covered Bonds may be repayable
in one or more instalments or a combination of any of the
foregoing, depending on the Redemption/Payment Basis
shown in the applicable Final Terms. Each Series shall be
comprised of Fixed Rate Covered Bonds only or Floating Rate
Covered Bonds only or Zero Coupon Covered Bonds only or



Rating of the Covered Bonds

Issuance in Series

such other Covered Bonds accruing interest on such other basis
and at such other rate as may be so specified in the relevant
Final Terms only.

Fixed Rate Covered Bonds: fixed interest on the Covered
Bonds will be payable in accordance with the relevant Final
Terms, on such date as may be agreed between the Issuer and
the Relevant Dealers (as defined below) and on redemption,
and will be calculated on the basis of such Day Count Fraction
provided for in the Conditions and the relevant Final Terms.

Floating Rate Covered Bonds: Floating Rate Covered Bonds
will bear interest at a rate determined in accordance with the
Conditions and the relevant Final Terms.

The margin (if any) relating to such floating rate will be agreed
between the Issuer and the Relevant Dealers for each Series of
Floating Rate Covered Bonds.

Other provisions in relation to Floating Rate Covered Bonds:
Floating Rate Covered Bonds may also have a maximum
interest rate, a minimum interest rate or both.

Interest on Floating Rate Covered Bonds in respect of each CB
Interest Period, as agreed prior to issue by the Issuer and the
Relevant Dealer, will be payable on such CB Payment Dates,
and will be calculated on the basis of such Day Count Fraction
provided for in the Conditions and the relevant Final Terms.

Zero Coupon Covered Bonds: Zero Coupon Covered Bonds
will be offered and sold at a discount to their nominal amount
and will not bear interest.

The issue of any Series of Covered Bonds (including, for the
avoidance of doubt, Zero Coupon Covered Bonds) in each case
as specified in the applicable Final Terms may be rated by the
Rating Agency and/or any other rating agency which may be
appointed from time to time by the Issuer in relation to any
issuance of Covered Bonds or for the remaining duration of the
Programme, to the extent that any of them at the relevant time
provides ratings in respect of any series of Covered Bonds.

Covered Bonds will be issued in Series, but on different terms
from each other, subject to the terms set out in the relevant
Final Terms in respect of such Series. Covered Bonds of
different Series will not be fungible among themselves. Each
Series may be issued in more than one Tranche (as defined
under the Conditions) (excluding any Series of Registered
Covered Bonds, which may be issued in single Series only)
which are identical in all respects, but having different issue
dates, interest commencement dates, issue prices, and dates for
first interest payments and may be issued in different
currencies (provided that Tranches issued in different
currencies will not be fungible among themselves). The Issuer



Final Terms

Interest on the Covered Bonds

Margin Step-up

Interest Rate Conversion

will issue Covered Bonds without the prior consent of the
holders of any outstanding Covered Bonds but subject to
certain conditions (see “Conditions Precedent to the Issuance
of a new series of Covered Bonds” below). Notwithstanding
the foregoing, the term “Series” shall mean in the case of
Registered Covered Bonds, each Registered Covered Bonds
made out in the name of a specific Registered Covered
Bondholder.

Specific final terms will be issued and published in accordance
with the generally applicable terms and conditions of the
Covered Bonds (the Conditions) prior to the issue of each
Series detailing certain relevant terms thereof which, for the
purposes of that Series only, completes the Conditions and the
Base Prospectus and must be read in conjunction with the Base
Prospectus (such specific final terms, the Final Terms). The
terms and conditions applicable to any particular Series are the
Conditions as completed by the relevant Final Terms.

In the case of Registered Covered Bonds, each other reference
to Final Terms in the Prospectus shall be construed and read as
a reference to such Registered Covered Bond (Gedeckte
Namensschuldverschreibung), the Registered Covered Bond
Conditions and any other related agreements.

Except for the Zero Coupon Covered Bonds and unless
otherwise specified in the Conditions and the relevant Final
Terms, the Covered Bonds will be interest-bearing and interest
will be calculated on the Outstanding Principal Balance of the
relevant Covered Bonds. Interest will be calculated on the
basis of such Day Count Fraction in accordance with the
Conditions and in the relevant Final Terms. Interest may
accrue on the Covered Bonds at a fixed rate or a floating rate
or on such other basis and at such rate as may be so specified
in the relevant Final Terms and the method of calculating
interest may vary between the Issue Date and the Maturity
Date of the relevant Series.

Final Terms may specify, with respect to a Series of Covered
Bonds which are Floating Rate Covered Bonds, that, in the
event such Covered Bonds are not redeemed in full on the
Maturity Date (as defined under the relevant terms and
conditions), the margin payable on such Covered Bonds
increases in accordance with the terms specified in the relevant
Final Terms.

The relevant Final Terms may specify, with respect to a Series
of Covered Bonds which are Fixed Rate Covered Bonds, that,
in the event such Covered Bonds are not redeemed in full on
the Maturity Date, the interest rate payable on such Covered
Bonds converts to a floating rate index plus a conversion
margin in accordance with the terms specified in the relevant
Final Terms.



Redemption of the Covered Bonds

Tax Gross Up and Redemption for
taxation reasons

Maturity Date

The applicable Final Terms will indicate either (a) that the
Covered Bonds cannot be redeemed prior to their stated
maturity (other than in specified instalments, if applicable, or
in other specified cases, e.g. taxation reasons, or Covered
Bonds Guarantor Events of Default), or (b) that such Covered
Bonds will be redeemable at the option of the Issuer upon
giving notice to the Representative of the Covered
Bondholders on behalf of the holders of the Covered Bonds
(the Covered Bondholders), or at the option of the Covered
Bondholders upon deposit of a notice by the Representative of
the Covered Bondholders on behalf of the Covered
Bondholders with the Paying Agent, and in accordance with
the provisions of Condition 8 (Redemption and Purchase) and
of the relevant Final Terms, on a date or dates specified prior
to such maturity and at a price or prices and on such other terms
as may be agreed between the Issuer and the Relevant Dealers
as set out in the applicable Final Terms, provided that the Final
Redemption Amount in respect of any Series of Covered
Bonds will be equal to the principal amount of such Series.

Covered Bonds may be redeemable in accordance with the
provisions of Condition 8 (Redemption and Purchase) and the
relevant Final Terms but in any case the redemption amount
shall be at least equal to par value. Covered Bonds may also be
redeemable in two or more instalments on such dates and in
such manner as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms.

Payments in respect of the Covered Bonds to be made by the
Issuer will be made without deduction for or on account of
withholding taxes imposed by Italy, subject as provided in
Condition 10 (Taxation).

All payments in respect of the Covered Bonds will be made
subject to any withholding or deduction required pursuant to
FATCA.

In the event that any such withholding or deduction is to be
made, the Issuer will be required to pay additional amounts to
cover the amounts so deducted. In such circumstances and
provided that such obligation cannot be avoided by the Issuer
taking reasonable measures available to it, the Covered Bonds
will be redeemable (in whole, but not in part) at the option of
the Issuer. See Condition 8(c) (Redemption for tax reasons).

The Covered Bonds Guarantor will not be liable to pay any
additional amount due to taxation reasons following an Issuer
Event of Default (as defined below).

The Maturity Date for each Series will be specified in the
relevant Final Terms, subject to such minimum or maximum
maturities as may be allowed or required from time to time by
the relevant central bank (or equivalent body) or any laws or
regulations applicable to the Issuer or the currency of the



Extendable Maturity

Covered Bonds. Unless previously redeemed as provided in
Condition 8 (Redemption and Purchase), the Covered Bonds
of each Series will be redeemed at their Outstanding Principal
Balance on the relevant Maturity Date.

The applicable Final Terms may also provide that the
obligations of the Covered Bonds Guarantor to pay all or (as
applicable) part of the Final Redemption Amount payable on
the Maturity Date may be deferred to a later date pursuant to
Condition 8(b) (Extension of maturity) (the Extended
Maturity Date). Such deferral may occur, if so stated in the
relevant Final Terms, automatically if:

(a) an Article 74 Event or an Issuer Event of Default has
occurred; and

(b) the Covered Bonds Guarantor has, on the Extension
Determination Date, insufficient Available Funds (in
accordance with the Post-Issuer Default Priority of
Payments) to pay in full any amount representing the
Guaranteed Amounts corresponding to the Final
Redemption Amount on the Maturity Date (the
Extendable Maturity).

In these circumstances, to the extent that the Covered Bonds
Guarantor has sufficient Available Funds (as defined below)
to pay in part the Final Redemption Amount in respect of the
relevant Series of Covered Bonds, the Covered Bonds
Guarantor shall make partial payment of the relevant Final
Redemption Amount, in accordance with the Post-Issuer
Default Priority of Payments (as defined below), without any
preference among the Covered Bonds outstanding, except in
respect of maturities of each Series.

Payment of all unpaid amounts shall be deferred automatically
until the applicable Extended Maturity Date, provided that, any
amount representing the Final Redemption Amount due and
remaining unpaid on the Maturity Date may be paid by the
Covered Bonds Guarantor on any CB Payment Date thereafter,
up to (and including) the relevant Extended Maturity Date.
Interest will continue to accrue and be payable on any unpaid
amount up to the Extended Maturity Date in accordance with
Condition 8(b) (Extension of maturity).

Notwithstanding the above, if the Covered Bonds are extended
as a consequence of the occurrence of an Article 74 Event,
upon termination of the suspension period and withdrawal of
the Article 74 Notice to Pay, the Issuer shall resume
responsibility for meeting the payment obligations under any
Series of Covered Bonds in respect of which an Extandable
Maturity has occurred, and any Final Redemption Amount
shall be due for payment on the last Business Day of the month
in which the Article 74 Notice to Pay has been withdrawn.



Long Dated Covered Bonds

Hard Bullet Covered Bonds

Ranking of the Covered Bonds

Recourse

Substitution of the Issuer

If the Extended Maturity Date is set at the Long Date Due for
Payment Date in the relevant Final Terms, the relevant
Covered Bonds will be considered Long Dated Covered
Bonds.

If no Extended Maturity Date is specified in the relevant Final
Terms, the Final Redemption Amount in respect to a Series of
Covered Bonds (the Hard Bullet Covered Bonds) will be due
for payment on the Maturity Date and the Pre-Maturity
Liquidity Test shall apply.

The Covered Bonds will constitute direct, unconditional,
unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer — guaranteed by the
Covered Bonds Guarantor by means of the Covered Bonds
Guarantee (as defined below) — and will rank pari passu
without any preference among themselves, except in respect of
maturities of each Series, and (save for any applicable statutory
provisions) at least equally with all other present and future
unsecured, unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer having the
same maturity of each Series of the Covered Bonds, from time
to time outstanding.

In accordance with the legal framework established by Law
130 and the MEF Decree (as defined below) and with the terms
and conditions of the relevant Transaction Documents (as
defined below), the Covered Bondholders will benefit from
full recourse to the Issuer and limited recourse to the Covered
Bonds Guarantor (see Section Credit Structure). The
obligation of the Covered Bonds Guarantor under the Covered
Bonds Guarantee shall be limited recourse to the Portfolio.

The Representative of the Covered Bondholders may (and in
the case of an Approved Reorganisation — as defined under the
Conditions — shall) agree with the Issuer (or any previous
substitute) and the Covered Bonds Guarantor at any time
without the consent of the Covered Bondholders:

(a) to the substitution in place of Intesa Sanpaolo (or of
any previous substitute) as principal debtor under the
Covered Bonds by a Substitute Obligor by way of an
Issuer obligation transfer agreement without recourse
to the Issuer (accollo liberatorio); or

(b) to an Approved Reorganisation; or

(c) that Intesa Sanpaolo (or any previous substitute) may,
other than by means of an Approved Reorganisation,
consolidate with, merge into or amalgamate with any

successor company,

provided that, inter alia:



Provisions of Transaction
Documents

Conditions Precedent to the
Issuance of a new Series of
Covered Bonds

(1) the obligations of the Substitute Obligor or the
Resulting Entity under the Covered Bonds shall be
irrevocably and unconditionally guaranteed by Intesa
Sanpaolo (on like terms as to subordination, if
applicable, to those of the Covered Bonds Guarantee);

(i1) (other than in the case of an Approved Reorganisation)
the Representative of the Covered Bondholders is
satisfied that the interests of the Covered Bondholders
will not be materially prejudiced thereby;

(1i1) the Substitute Obligor or the Resulting Entity agrees,
in form and manner satisfactory to the Representative
of the Covered Bondholders, to be bound by the terms
and conditions of the Covered Bonds and all the
Transaction Documents in respect to any Series of
Covered Bonds still outstanding, by means of
executing agreements and documents substantially in
the same form and substance of the Transaction
Documents; and

(iv)  the Representative of the Covered Bondholders is
satisfied that (a) the Resulting Entity or Substituted
Obligor has obtained all governmental and regulatory
approvals and consents necessary for its assumption of
liability as principal debtor in respect of the Covered
Bonds in place of the Issuer (or such previous
substitute as aforesaid), and (b) such approvals and
consents are, at the time of substitution, Approved
Reorganisation or consolidation, merger,
amalgamation other than by means of an Approved
Reorganisation, as the case may be, in full force and
effect.

Upon the assumption of the obligations of the Issuer by a
Substitute Obligor or a Resulting Entity (as defined under the
Conditions) a successor company, Intesa Sanpaolo shall have
no further liabilities under or in respect of the Covered Bonds.

The Covered Bondholders are entitled to the benefit of, are
bound by, and are deemed to have notice of, all provisions of
the Transaction Documents applicable to them. In particular,
each Covered Bondholder, by reason of holding Covered
Bonds, recognises the Representative of the Covered
Bondholders as its representative and accepts to be bound by
the terms of each of the Transaction Documents signed by the
Representative of the Covered Bondholders as if such Covered
Bondholder was a signatory thereto.

The Issuer will be entitled (but not obliged) at its option, on
any date and without the consent of the holders of the Covered
Bonds issued beforehand and of any other creditors of the
Covered Bonds Guarantor or of the Issuer, to issue further



Listing and admission to trading

Series of Covered Bonds other than the first issued Series,
subject to:

(1) issuance of a rating letter by the Rating Agency with
respect to such further issue of Covered Bonds; and

(i1) satisfaction of the Tests; and

(iii) compliance with (a) the requirements of
issuing/assigning banks (Requisiti delle banche
emittenti e/o cedenti; see Section 11, Para. 1 of the Bol
OBG Regulations; the Conditions to the Issue) and
(b) Limits to the Assignment, if applicable;

(iv) no Article 74 Event (as defined below) having
occurred;

(v) no Issuer Event of Default or Covered Bonds
Guarantor Event of Default (as defined below) having
occurred;

(vi) (1) the Reserve Funds Required Amount, the ATI
Commingling Reserve Amount, the CB Swaps
Accumulation Amount and the Interest Accumulation
Amount (if and to the extent due) have been credited
on the Investment Account, on the immediately
preceding Guarantor Payment Date or (2) the amounts
standing to the credit of the Accounts are sufficient,
taking into account the amounts to be paid under
points (i) to (iv) of the Pre-Issuer Default Interest
Priority of Payments, to constitute the Reserve Funds
Required Amount, the ATI Commingling Reserve
Amount, the CB Swaps Accumulation Amount and
the Interest Accumulation Amount (if and to the extent
due), on the next Guarantor Payment Date.

It is a condition precedent to the issue of Long Dated Covered
Bonds that no Series of Covered Bonds which are not Long
Dated Covered Bonds are outstanding.

It is a condition precedent to the issue of a Series of Covered
Bonds which are not Long Dated Covered Bonds that no Series
of Long Dated Covered Bonds are outstanding.

The payment obligations under the Covered Bonds issued
under all Series shall be cross-collateralised by all the assets
included in the Portfolio, through the Covered Bonds
Guarantee (as defined below) (see also Section Ranking of the
Covered Bonds).

Application has been made to the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange for Covered Bonds (other than the Registered
Covered Bonds) to be issued under the Programme to be
admitted to the official list and to be admitted to trading on the



Settlement

Governing law

Ratings

Purchase of the Covered Bonds by
the Issuer

Luxembourg Stock Exchange’s regulated market or as
otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms and references
to listing shall be construed accordingly. As specified in the
relevant Final Terms, a Series of Covered Bonds may be
unlisted.

The applicable Final Terms will state whether or not the
relevant Covered Bonds are to be listed and, if so, on which
stock exchange(s). The Registered Covered Bonds may not be
listed and/or admitted to trading on any regulated market. The
approval of this Base Prospectus by the CSSF does not cover
any Registered Covered Bonds which may be issued by the
Issuer under the Programme.

Monte Titoli / Euroclear / Clearstream or any other clearing
system as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms.
Registered Covered Bonds will not be settled through a
clearing system.

The Covered Bonds (other than the Registered Covered
Bonds), the Programme and the other Transaction Documents
will be governed by Italian law except for Swap Agreements
and the Deed of Charge that will be governed by English law.

The Registered Covered Bonds will be governed by the laws
of the Federal Republic of Germany or by whatever law chosen
by the Issuer (to be supplemented with the specific provisions
required under German law in order for the Registered
Covered Bonds to be a German law registered note (Gedeckte
Namensschuld verschreibung)) and shall be regulated by
separate agreements provided that, in any case, provisions
applicable to the Issuer, the Representative of the Covered
Bondholders, the Rules of the Organisation of Covered
Bondholders and the Portfolio shall be confirmed to be
governed by Italian law.

Each Series issued under the Programme may be assigned a
rating by the Rating Agency. Whether or not a rating in
relation to any Series of Covered Bonds will be issued by a
credit rating agency established in the European Union or in
the UK and registered under the CRA Regulation, will be
disclosed in the relevant Final Terms.All credit ratings
assigned to the Covered Bonds issued under the
Programme will be disclosed in the relevant Final Terms.

The Issuer may at any time purchase any Covered Bonds in the
open market or otherwise and at any price. If the purchase is
made by tender, tenders must be available to all holders of the
Series which the Issuer intends to buy.

3. COVERED BONDS GUARANTEE

Security for the Covered Bonds

In accordance with Law 130, by virtue of the Covered Bonds
Guarantee, the Covered Bondholders will benefit from a



guarantee issued by the Covered Bonds Guarantor which will,
in turn, hold a portfolio of receivables originated by the Seller
and Additional Seller, if any, consisting of some or all of the
following assets: (i) loans extended to, or guaranteed by (on
the basis of “guarantees valid for the purpose of credit risk
mitigation” — garanzie valide ai fini della mitigazione del
rischio di credito — as defined by Article 1, paragraph 1, lett.
h) of the MEF Decree), the public entities indicated in Article
2, paragraph 1, lett. ¢) of the MEF Decree (including (a) public
administrations of Admitted States, including therein any
Ministries, municipalities (enti pubblici territoriali), national
or local entities and other public bodies, which attract a risk
weighting factor not exceeding 20 per cent. pursuant to Bank
of Italy's prudential regulations for banks - standardised
approach; (b) public administrations of States other than
Admitted States which attract a risk weighting factor equal to
0 per cent. under the “Standardised Approach” to credit risk
measurement, municipalities and national or local public
bodies not carrying out economic activities (organismi
pubblici non economici) of States other than Admitted States
which attract a risk weight factor not exceeding 20 per cent.
pursuant to Bank of Italy's prudential regulations for banks -
standardised approach (provided that such receivables and
securities may not exceed 10 per cent. of the nominal value of
the assets held by the Covered Bonds Guarantor) (the Loans);
and (ii) securities issued or guaranteed by the entities
mentioned under (i) above satisfying the requirements set forth
under article 2, paragraph 1, letter ¢) of the MEF Decree (the
Public Securities and, jointly with the securities mentioned
under article, 2, para. 3, point 3, of the MEF Decree and any
ancillary right thereto, the Securities). Assets under (i) and (ii)
are jointly defined as the Public Assets and, within certain
limits, Integration Assets (as defined below). The monetary
claims arising out of Public Assets and Integration Assets (as
defined below) are jointly defined as the Receivables.

Under the terms of the Covered Bonds Guarantee the Covered
Bonds Guarantor will be obliged to pay any amounts due under
the Covered Bonds on the relevant Due for Payment Date (as
defined herein) and in accordance with the relevant Priority of
Payments.

In view of ensuring timely payment by the Covered Bonds
Guarantor, a Notice to Pay (as defined below) will be served
on the same as a consequence of an Issuer Event of Default.

The obligations of the Covered Bonds Guarantor under the
Covered Bonds Guarantee shall constitute a first demand,
unconditional and independent guarantee (garanzia
autonoma) and certain provisions of Italian Civil Code relating
to non-autonomous personal guarantees (fidejussioni),
specified in the MEF Decree, shall not apply. Accordingly,
such obligation shall be a direct, unconditional,



Temporary Transfer of Payment
Obligations to the Covered Bonds
Guarantor

unsubordinated obligation of the Covered Bonds Guarantor,
with limited recourse to the Available Funds (as defined
below), irrespective of any invalidity, irregularity or
unenforceability of any of the guaranteed obligations of the
Issuer.

If a resolution pursuant to Article 74 of the Banking Law is
issued in respect of the Issuer (Article 74 Event), the Covered
Bonds Guarantor, in accordance with Article 4, Paragraph 4,
of the MEF Decree, shall be responsible for the payments of
the amounts due and payable under the Covered Bonds within
the Suspension Period and each Series of Covered Bonds will
accelerate against the Issuer.

Upon the termination of the suspension period, the Issuer shall
resume responsibility for meeting the payment obligations
under the Covered Bonds (and for the avoidance of doubt, the
Covered Bonds then outstanding will not be deemed to have
been accelerated against the Issuer).

Following to an Article 74 Event the Representative of the
Covered Bondholders will serve a notice (the Article 74
Notice to Pay) on the Covered Bonds Guarantor that an Article
74 Event has occurred. Unless and until such Article 74 Notice
to Pay has been withdrawn:

(1) each Series of Covered Bonds will accelerate against
the Issuer and they will rank pari passu amongst
themselves against the Issuer, provided that: (a) such
events shall not trigger an acceleration against the
Covered Bonds Guarantor, and (b) in accordance with
Article 4, Paragraph 4, of the MEF Decree, the
Covered Bonds Guarantor shall be responsible for the
payments of the amounts due and payable under the
Covered Bonds within the Suspension Period,

(i1) the Covered Bond Guarantor (directly or through the
Representative of the Covered Bondholders) shall
exercise, on an exclusive basis, the right of the
Covered Bondholders vis-a-vis the Issuer in
accordance with the provisions of the Covered Bond
Guarantee in the context of which the Covered
Bondholders have irrevocably delegated — also in the
interest and for the benefit of the Covered Bond
Guarantor — to the Covered Bond Guarantor the
exclusive right to proceed against the Issuer to enforce
the performance of any of the payment obligations of
the Issuer under the Covered Bonds including any
rights of enforcing any acceleration of payment
provisions provided under the Conditions or under the
applicable legislation. For this purpose, upon request
of the Covered Bond Guarantor, the Representative of
the Covered Bondholders on behalf of the Covered
Bondholders shall provide the Covered Bond



Issuer Events of Default

(iii)

(iv)
™)

Guarantor with any powers of attorney and/or
mandates as the latter may deem necessary or
expedient for taking all necessary steps to ensure the
timely and correct performance of its mandate.

In accordance with the Covered Bond Guarantee, the
Representative of the Covered Bondholders on behalf
of the Covered Bondholders has confirmed such
delegation and waived any rights of the Covered
Bondholders to revoke such delegation and take any
such individual action against the Issuer;

the Covered Bonds Guarantor will pay any amounts
due under the Covered Bonds on the Due for Payment
Date in accordance with (i)(b) above (See Section
Covered Bonds Guarantee);

the Tests shall continue to be applied; and

the Pre-Maturity Liquidity Test shall be deemed to be
failed with respect to any Hard Bullet Covered Bonds
for which the Maturity Date falls within 12 months.

Upon the termination of the suspension period, the Article 74
Notice to Pay shall be withdrawn and the Issuer shall be
responsible for meeting the payment obligations under the
Covered Bonds (and for the avoidance of doubts, the Covered
Bonds then outstanding will not be deemed to be accelerated
against the Issuer) in accordance with the relevant Priority of
Payments.

Each of the following events with respect to the Issuer shall
constitute an Issuer Event of Default:

(1)

(i)

default is made by the Issuer for a period of 7 days or
more in the payment of any principal or redemption
amount, or for a period of 14 days or more in the
payment of any interest on the Covered Bonds of any
Series when due; or

the Issuer is in breach of material obligations under or
in respect of the Covered Bonds (of any Series
outstanding) or any of the Transaction Documents to
which it is a party (other than any obligation for the
payment of principal or interest on the Covered
Bonds) and such failure remains unremedied for 30
days after the Representative of the Covered
Bondholders has given written notice thereof to the
Issuer, certifying that such failure is, in its opinion,
materially prejudicial to the interests of the Covered
Bondholders and specifying whether or not such
failure is capable of remedy; or



Covered Bonds Guarantor Events
of Default

(iii)

(iv)

(i)

an Insolvency Event (as defined in the Conditions)
occurs in respect of the Issuer;

in relation to the Hard Bullet Covered Bonds, breach
of the Pre-Maturity Liquidity Test which is not
remedied by the earlier of:

(a) 20 Business Days from the date on which the
Issuer is notified of the breach of the Pre-
Maturity Liquidity Test; and

(b) the Maturity Date of that Series of Covered
Bonds;

breach of the Tests which is not remedied within 6
months from the notification of the occurrence of such
breach.

If an Issuer Event of Default occurs:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

the Representative of the Covered Bondholders will
serve a notice (the Notice to Pay”) on the Issuer and
Covered Bonds Guarantor that an Issuer Event of
Default has occurred;

each Series of Covered Bonds will accelerate against
the Issuer and they will rank pari passu amongst
themselves against the Issuer, provided that (i) such
events shall not trigger an acceleration against the
Covered Bonds Guarantor, (ii) in accordance with
Article 4, Paragraph 3, of the MEF Decree and
pursuant to the relevant provisions of the Transaction
Documents, the Covered Bonds Guarantor shall be
solely responsible for the exercise of the rights of the
Covered Bondholders vis-a-vis the Issuer;

the Covered Bonds Guarantor will pay any amounts
due under the Covered Bonds on the Due for Payment
Date in accordance with (b) above (See Section
Covered Bonds Guarantee);

the Tests, shall continue to be applied.

Following an Issuer Event of Default, each of the following
events shall constitute a Covered Bonds Guarantor Event of
Default:

(1)

non-payment of principal and/or interest in respect of
the relevant Series of Covered Bonds in accordance
with the Covered Bonds Guarantee, subject to a period
of 7 Business Days cure period in respect of principal
or redemption amount and a 14 Business Days cure
period in respect of interest payment the Covered



Cross Acceleration

Pre-Maturity Liquidity Test

Bonds Guarantor or non-payment or non setting aside
for payment of costs or amounts due to any Hedging
Counterparty;

(ii) breach of the Amortisation Test;

(iii)  breach of the other binding obligations under the
Dealer Agreement, the Intercreditor Agreement, the
Covered Bonds Guarantee or any other Transaction
Document to which the Covered Bonds Guarantor is a
party, which is not remedied within 30 days from the
date on which the Covered Bonds Guarantor is
notified of such breach;

(iv) an Insolvency Event occurs in respect of the Covered
Bonds Guarantor.

If a Covered Bonds Guarantor Event of Default occurs and is
continuing, the Representative of the Covered Bondholders
shall serve a notice on the Covered Bonds Guarantor (the
Covered Bonds Guarantor Acceleration Notice) and all
Covered Bonds will accelerate against the Covered Bonds
Guarantor, becoming immediately due and payable, and they
will rank pari passu amongst themselves.

If a Covered Bonds Guarantor Event of Default is triggered
with respect to a Series, each series of Covered Bonds will
cross accelerate at the same time against the Covered Bonds
Guarantor, provided that the Covered Bonds will not otherwise
contain a cross default provision and will thus not cross
accelerate against the Covered Bonds Guarantor in case of an
Issuer Event of Default.

The Pre-Maturity Liquidity Test is intended to provide
liquidity for Hard Bullet Covered Bonds when the Issuer’s
long-term credit ratings fall below the Pre-Maturity Liquidity
Required Ratings.

On any Business Day (each the Pre-Maturity Liquidity Test
Date) falling during the Pre-Maturity Rating Period prior to
the occurrence of an Issuer Event of Default, the Calculation
Agent will determine if the Pre-Maturity Liquidity Test has
been breached, and if so, it shall immediately notify the Issuer,
the Seller, the Hedging Counterparties and the Representative
of the Covered Bondholders.

For the purpose of this paragraph the Pre-Maturity Liquidity
Test is complied with on any Pre-Maturity Liquidity Test Date
if, during the Pre-Maturity Rating Period, all of the Issuer’s
credit ratings are equal to, or greater than, the Pre-Maturity
Liquidity Required Ratings. Following a breach of a Pre-
Maturity Liquidity Test in respect of a Series of Covered
Bonds:



(1)

(i)

the Issuer shall:

(A)

(B)

©

and/or

make a cash deposit for an amount equal to the
Required Redemption Amount of the Series of
Hard Bullet Covered Bonds to which such
Pre-Maturity Liquidity Test relates on the Pre-
Maturity Test Account, opened in its name
with a bank whose ratings are at least equal to
the Minimum Required Account Bank
Ratings provided for under the Transaction
Documents and pledged in favour of the
Covered Bondholders; and/or

obtain a first demand, autonomous guarantee
(meeting the criteria set forth by the Rating
Agency) for an amount equal to the Required
Redemption Amount of the Series of Hard
Bullet Covered Bonds to which such Pre-
Maturity Liquidity Test relates, by an eligible
entity whose ratings are at least equal to the
Minimum Required Pre-Maturity Liquidity
Guarantor Ratings; and/or

take action in the form of a combination of the
foregoing which in aggregate adding up to an
amount equal to the Required Redemption
Amount of the Series of Hard Bullet Covered
Bonds to which such Pre-Maturity Liquidity
Test relates;

the Covered Bonds Guarantor shall direct the Servicer
to sell Selected Assets in accordance with the
procedures set out in the Portfolio Administration
Agreement, for an amount equal to the Adjusted
Required Redemption Amount of the Series of Hard
Bullet Covered Bonds to which such Pre-Maturity
Liquidity Test relates.

If the Pre-Maturity Liquidity Test in respect of any Series of
Covered Bonds is breached and the Issuer or the Covered
Bonds Guarantor has not taken the required actions (as
described above) following the breach by the earlier to occur

of:

(a)

(b)

20 Business Days from the date on which the Issuer is
notified of the breach of the Pre-Maturity Liquidity
Test, and

the Maturity Date of that Series of Covered Bonds,



Eligible Investments

Authorised Investments

Pre-Issuer Default Interest Priority
of Payment

an Issuer Event of Default shall occur and the Representative
of the Covered Bondholders will serve a Notice to Pay to the
Covered Bonds Guarantor.

Pre-Maturity Liquidity Required Ratings has the meaning
ascribed to such expression in the Master Definition
Agreement.

The Cash Manager shall invest funds standing to the credit of
the Investment Account in Eligible Investments.

Following the occurrence of an Article 74 Event or Issuer
Event of Default, and service respectively of an Article 74
Notice to Pay (which has not been withdrawn) or a Notice to
Pay, the Cash Manager shall invest funds standing to the credit
of the Investment Account in Authorised Investments.

On each Guarantor Payment Date, prior to the service of an
Article 74 Notice to Pay or a Notice to Pay (or following the
withdrawal of an Article 74 Notice to Pay), the Covered Bonds
Guarantor will use Interest Available Funds (as defined below)
to make payments in the order of priority set out below (in each
case only if and to the extent that payments of a higher priority
have been made in full):

(1) first, to pay pari passu and pro rata according to the
respective amounts thereof any and all taxes due and
payable by the Covered Bonds Guarantor;

(i1) second, pari passu and pro rata according to the
respective amounts thereof (a) to pay any Expenses, to
the extent that such costs and expenses are not met by
utilising any amounts standing to the credit of the
Expenses Account and/or the Corporate Account on
the Guarantor Payment Date falling in March and
September of each year and (b) to credit the Covered
Bonds Guarantor Disbursement Amount into the
Expenses Account and the Covered Bonds Guarantor
Retention Amount into the Corporate Account;

(ii1) third, to pay, pari passu and pro rata according to the
respective amounts thereof any amount due and
payable (including fees, costs and expenses) to the
Representative of the Covered Bondholders, the
Receivables Collection Account Bank, the Account
Bank, the Cash Manager, the Calculation Agent, the
Administrative Services Provider, the Asset Monitor,
the Portfolio Manager, the Swap Service Providers
and the Servicer;

(iv)  fourth, pari passu and pro rata according to the
respective amounts thereof (a) to pay any Hedging
Senior Payments, other than in respect of principal,



)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

due and payable on such Guarantor Payment Date,
under the TBG Swaps, (b) to pay any Hedging Senior
Payment, other than in respect of principal, due and
payable on such Guarantor Payment Date under the
CB Swaps or to credit to the Investment Account an
amount equal to the CB Swaps Interest Accumulation
Amount to be used for Hedging Senior Payments,
other than in respect of principal, under the CB Swaps
after the relevant Guarantor Payment Date; and (c) to
credit to the Investment Account an amount equal to
the Interest Accumulation Amount, to be used for any
interest payment due on the CB Payment Dates falling
during the Guarantor Interest Period starting from
such Guarantor Payment Date, in respect of any Series
of Covered Bonds in relation to which no CB Swaps
have been entered into;

fifth, to credit to the Investment Account an amount
equal to the Reserve Fund Required Amount;

sixth, if an ATI Agent Trigger Event occurs and is
continuing and no other ATI Agent Remedy Actions
has been implemented, to credit to the Investment
Account an amount equal to the ATI Commingling
Reserve Amount;

seventh, to credit to the Principal Receivables
Collection Account an amount equal to the amounts
paid under item (i) of the Pre-Issuer Default Principal
Priority of Payment on any preceding Guarantor
Payment Date and not yet repaid under this item (vii);

eighth, if a Servicer Termination Event has occurred,
to credit all remaining Interest Available Funds to the
Investment Account until such Servicer Termination
Event is either remedied by the Servicer or waived by
the Representative of the Covered Bondholders or a
new servicer is appointed to service the Portfolio (or
the relevant part thereof);

ninth, if the Pre-Maturity Liquidity Test or the Tests
are not satisfied on the Calculation Date immediately
preceding the relevant Guarantor Payment Date or an
Issuer Event of Default or a Covered Bonds Guarantor
Event of Default has occurred on or prior such
Guarantor Payment Date or the Issuer has not paid
interest and principal due on the CB Payment Dates in
the immediately previous Guarantor Interest Period, to
credit all remaining Interest Available Funds to the
Investment Account until the following Guarantor
Payment Date;



Pre-Issuer Default Principal
Priority of Payments

(x)

(xi)

(xii)

(xiii)

tenth, to pay any amount arising out of any termination
event under any Swap Agreements not provided for
under item (iv) above;

eleventh, to pay pari passu and pro rata, any other
amount due and payable to the Seller, the Additional
Sellers (if any) or the Issuer under any Transaction
Document (other than the Subordinated Loan
Agreement);

twelfth, to pay, pari passu and pro rata according to
the respective amounts thereof any amount due and
payable as Minimum Interest Amount under the
Subordinated Loan;

thirteenth, to pay any Premium Interest Amount under
the Subordinated Loan.

(the Pre-Issuer Default Interest Priority of Payment).

On each Guarantor Payment Date, prior to the service of an
Article 74 Notice to Pay or a Notice to Pay (or following the
withdrawal of an Article 74 Notice to Pay), the Covered Bonds
Guarantor will use Principal Available Funds to make
payments in the order of priority set out below (in each case
only if and to the extent that payments of a higher priority have
been made in full):

(1)

(i)

(iii)

first, to pay any amount due and payable under items
(i) to (vi) of the Pre-Issuer Default Interest Priority of
Payment, to the extent that the Interest Available
Funds are not sufficient, on such Guarantor Payment
Date, to make such payments in full;

second, pari passu and pro rata according to the
respective amounts thereof (a) to pay any Hedging
Senior Payment in respect of principal due and
payable on such Guarantor Payment Date under the
TBG Swaps and (b) to pay any Hedging Senior
Payment in respect of principal due and payable on
such Guarantor Payment Date under the CB Swaps or
to credit to the Investment Account an amount equal
to the CB Swaps Principal Accumulation Amount to
be used for Hedging Senior Payment under the CB
Swaps after the relevant Guarantor Payment Date;

third, if the Pre-Maturity Liquidity Test is satisfied,
pari passu and pro rata according to the respective
amounts thereof, (a) to pay the purchase price of the
Public Assets and/or Integration Assets offered for
sale by the Seller, the Additional Sellers (if any) or the
Issuer in the context of Revolving Assignment in
accordance with the provisions of the Master Transfer



(iv)

)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

Agreement or any amount due to the Seller as
purchase price in the context of Revolving
Assignment pursuant to the Master Transfer
Agreement that was not paid on the previous
Guarantor Payment Date, (b) to credit to the
Investment Account the Purchase Price Accumulation
Amount;

fourth, to deposit on the Investment Account any
residual Principal Available Funds in an amount
sufficient to ensure that taking into account the other
resources available to the Covered Bonds Guarantor,
the Tests are met;

fifth, if a Servicer Termination Event has occurred, all
residual Principal Available Funds to be credited to the
Investment Account until such event of default of the
Servicer is either remedied by the Servicer or waived
by the Representative of the Covered Bondholders or
a new servicer is appointed to service the Portfolio (or
the relevant part thereof);

sixth, if the Pre-Maturity Liquidity Test or the Tests
are not satisfied on the Calculation Date immediately
preceding the relevant Guarantor Payment Date or an
Issuer Event of Default or a Covered Bonds Guarantor
Event of Default has occurred on or prior such
Guarantor Payment Date or the Issuer has not paid
interest and principal due on the CB Payment Dates in
the immediately previous Guarantor Interest Period, to
credit all remaining Principal Available Funds to the
Investment Account until the following Guarantor
Payment Date;

seventh, to pay any amount arising out of any
termination event under any Swap Agreements not
provided for under item (ii) above;

eight, to pay pari passu and pro rata any other amount
due and payable to the Seller, the Additional Sellers
(if any) or the Issuer under any Transaction Document
(other than the Subordinated Loan Agreement) not
already provided for under item (xi) of the Pre-Issuer
Default Interest Priority of Payment;

ninth, to pay the amount (if any) due to the Seller as
principal redemption under the Subordinated Loan
(including as a consequence of “richiesta di rimborso
anticipato” as indicated therein) provided that the
Tests and the Pre-Maturity Liquidity Test are still
satisfied after such payment;

(the Pre-Issuer Default Principal Priority of Payment).



Post-Issuer Default Priority of
Payments

On each Guarantor Payment Date, following the service of an
Article 74 Notice to Pay (which has not been withdrawn) or a
Notice to Pay, but prior to the occurrence of any Covered
Bonds Guarantor Events of Default, the Covered Bonds
Guarantor will use the Available Funds, to make payments in
the order of priority set out below (in each case only if and to
the extent that payments of a higher priority have been made
in full):

(1) first, to pay, pari passu and pro rata according to the
respective amounts thereof, any Expenses and taxes,
in order to preserve its corporate existence, to maintain
it in good standing and to comply with applicable
legislation;

(i1) second, pari passu and pro rata according to the
respective amounts thereof (a) to pay any amount due
and payable to the Representative of the Covered
Bondholders, the Receivables Collection Account
Bank, the Account Bank, the Cash Manager, the
Administrative Services Provider, the Calculation
Agent, the Asset Monitor, the Portfolio Manager, the
Swap Service Providers and the Servicer and (b) to
credit the Covered Bonds Guarantor Disbursement
Amount into the Expenses Account and the Covered
Bonds Guarantor Retention Amount into the
Corporate Account;

(ii1) third, pari passu and pro rata according to the
respective amounts thereof (a) to pay any Hedging
Senior Payment, other than in respect of principal, due
and payable on such Guarantor Payment Date, under
the TBG Swaps, (b) to pay any Hedging Senior
Payment, other than in respect of principal, due and
payable on such Guarantor Payment Date under the
CB Swaps or to credit to the Investment Account an
amount equal to the CB Swaps Interest Accumulation
Amount to be used for Hedging Senior Payments,
other than in respect of principal, under the CB Swaps
after the relevant Guarantor Payment Date and (c) to
pay any interest due and payable on such Guarantor
Payment Date or to credit to the Investment Account
an amount equal to the Interest Accumulation
Amount, to be used for any interest payment due on
the CB Payment Dates falling during the Guarantor
Interest Period starting from such Guarantor Payment
Date, in respect of any Series of Covered Bonds in
relation to which no CB Swaps have been entered into;

(iv)  fourth, pari passu and pro rata according to the
respective amounts thereof,



)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(a) to pay any Hedging Senior Payment in respect
of principal due and payable on such
Guarantor Payment Date, under the TBG
Swaps;

(b) to pay any amount in respect of principal due
and payable on each Series of Covered Bonds
on each CB Payment Date falling on such
Guarantor Payment Date or to credit to the
Investment Account any amount in respect of
principal to be paid on each CB Payment
Dates falling during the Guarantor Interest
Period starting from such Guarantor Payment
Date; and

(c) to pay any Hedging Senior Payment, in
respect of principal, due and payable on such
Guarantor Payment Date under the CB Swaps
or to credit to the Investment Account an
amount equal to the CB Swaps Principal
Accumulation Amount to be used for Hedging
Senior Payments under the CB Swaps during
the Guarantor Interest Period starting from
such Guarantor Payment Date;

fifth, to deposit on the Investment Account any
residual amount until all Covered Bonds are fully
repaid or an amount equal to the Required Redemption
Amount for each Series of Covered Bonds outstanding
has been accumulated;

sixth, to pay, pari passu and pro rata according to the
respective amounts thereof, any amount arising out of
any termination event under any Swap Agreement not
provided for under items (iii) and (iv) above;

seventh, to the extent that all the Covered Bonds issued
under any Series have been repaid in full or an amount
equal to the Required Redemption Amount for each
Series of Covered Bonds outstanding has been
accumulated, to pay, pari passu and pro rata according
to the respective amounts thereof, any other amount
due and payable to the Seller, the Additional Sellers
(if any) or the Issuer under any Transaction Document
(other than the Subordinated Loan Agreement);

eighth, to the extent that all the Covered Bonds issued
under any Series have been repaid in full or an amount
equal to the Required Redemption Amount for each
Series of Covered Bonds outstanding has been
accumulated, to pay, pari passu and pro rata according
to the respective amounts thereof, any amount due as



Post-Guarantor Default Priority of
Payments

(ix)

(x)

Minimum Interest Amount under the Subordinated
Loan;

ninth, to the extent that all the Covered Bonds issued
under any Series have been repaid in full or an amount
equal to the Required Redemption Amount for each
Series of Covered Bonds outstanding has been
accumulated, to pay, pari passu and pro rata according
to the respective amounts thereof, any amount due as
principal under the Subordinated Loan;

tenth, to the extent that all the Covered Bonds issued
under any Series have been repaid in full or an amount
equal to the Required Redemption Amount for each
Series of Covered Bonds outstanding has been
accumulated, to pay, pari passu and pro rata according
to the respective amounts thereof, any amount due as
Premium Interest Amount under the Subordinated
Loan.

(the Post-Issuer Default Priority of Payments).

On each Guarantor Payment Date, following the service of a
Covered Bonds Guarantor Acceleration Notice, the Covered
Bonds Guarantor will use the Available Funds, to make
payments in the order of priority set out below (in each case
only if and to the extent that payments of a higher priority have
been made in full):

(1)

(i)

(iii)

first, to pay, pari passu and pro rata according to the
respective amounts thereof, any Expenses and taxes;

second, to pay, pari passu and pro rata according to the
respective amounts thereof, any amounts due and
payable to the Representative of the Covered
Bondholders, the Receivables Collection Account
Bank, the Account Bank, the Cash Manager, the
Calculation Agent, the Administrative Services
Provider, the Asset Monitor, the Portfolio Manager,
the Swap Service Providers and the Servicer and to
credit an amount up to the Covered Bonds Guarantor
Disbursement Amount into the Expenses Account and
the Covered Bonds Guarantor Retention Amount into
the Corporate Account;

third, pari passu and pro rata according to the
respective amounts thereof (a) to pay any Hedging
Senior Payment, other than in respect of principal, due
and payable on such Guarantor Payment Date, under
the TBG Swaps, and (b) to pay any amount, other than
in respect of principal, due and payable on each Series
of Covered Bonds and (c¢) to pay any Hedging Senior
Payments, other than in respect of principal, due and



(iv)

)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

payable on such Guarantor Payment Date under the
CB Swaps;

fourth, pari passu and pro rata according to the
respective amounts thereof, (a) to pay any Hedging
Senior Payment in respect of principal due and
payable on such Guarantor Payment Date, under the
TBG Swaps, (b) to pay any amount in respect of
principal due and payable under each Series of
Covered Bonds on such Guarantor Payment Date and
(c) to pay any Hedging Senior Payments in respect of
principal due and payable on such Guarantor Payment
Date under the CB Swaps;

fifth, to pay, pari passu and pro rata according to the
respective amounts thereof, any amount arising out of
any termination event under any Swap Agreements
not provided for under items (iii) and (iv) above;

sixth, to pay, pari passu and pro rata according to the
respective amounts thereof, any other amount due and
payable to the Seller, the Additional Sellers (if any) or
the Issuer under any Transaction Document (other
than the Subordinated Loan Agreement);

seventh, to pay, pari passu and pro rata according to
the respective amounts thereof, any amount due as
Minimum Interest Amount under the Subordinated
Loan;

eighth, to pay, pari passu and pro rata according to the
respective amounts thereof, any amounts due as
principal under the Subordinated Loan;

ninth, to pay, pari passu and pro rata according to the
respective amounts thereof, any amount due as
Premium Interest Amount under the Subordinated
Loan;

(the Post-Guarantor Default Priority of Payment).

4. CREATION AND ADMINISTRATION OF THE PORTFOLIO

Transfer of the Portfolio

The Seller and the Covered Bonds Guarantor entered into a
master transfer agreement pursuant to which the Seller (a)

transferred to the Covered Bonds Guarantor an initial portfolio

comprising Public Assets (the Initial Portfolio) and (b) may
assign and transfer further portfolios comprising Public Assets
and/or Integration Assets, satisfying the Criteria (each a New
Portfolio and jointly with the Initial Portfolio and any other
Integration Assets and Eligible Investments purchased by the
Covered Bonds Guarantor, the Portfolio), to the Covered
Bonds Guarantor from time to time (the Master Transfer



Representations and Warranties of
the Seller

Agreement), in the cases and subject to the limits on the
transfer of further Public Assets referred to below.

The Covered Bonds Guarantor may acquire the
aforementioned further Public Assets or Integration Assets, as
the case may be, in order to:

(a) collateralise and allow the issue of further series of
Covered Bonds by the Issuer, subject to the Limits to
the Assignment of further Public Assets (the Issuance
Collateralisation Assignment);

(b) invest the Principal Available Funds, subject to the
Limits to the Assignment, provided that no Issuer
Event of Default or Covered Bonds Guarantor Event
of Default have occurred (the Revolving
Assignment); or

() comply with the Tests, and prevent the breach of the
Tests, in accordance with the Portfolio Administration
Agreement (the Integration Assignment), subject to
the limits referred to in the following provision
“Integration Assets”.

Pursuant to the Master Transfer Agreement, and subject to the
conditions provided therein, the Seller shall also be allowed to
repurchase Receivables and/or Securities which have been
assigned to the Covered Bonds Guarantor.

The Public Assets and the Integration Assets will be assigned
and transferred to the Covered Bonds Guarantor without
recourse (pro soluto) in accordance with Law 130 and subject
to the terms and conditions of the Master Transfer Agreement.

Under the Warranty and Indemnity Agreement, the Seller has
made certain representations and warranties regarding itself
and the Receivables or Securities including, inter alia:

6)] its status, capacity and authority to enter into the
Transaction Documents and assume the obligations
expressed to be assumed by it therein;

(ii) the legality, validity, binding nature and enforceability
of the obligations assumed by it;

(iii)  the existence of the Receivables or Securities, the
absence of any lien attaching the Receivables or
Securities; subject to the applicable provisions of laws
and of the relevant agreements, the full, unconditional,
legal title of the Seller to the Initial Portfolio;

(iv) the wvalidity and enforceability, subject to the
applicable provisions of laws and of the relevant



General Criteria

agreements, against the relevant Debtors of the
obligations from which the Initial Portfolio arises.

Each of the Receivables forming part of the Portfolio shall
comply with all of the following criteria (the General
Criteria):

(1)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

)

Receivables whose debtors or guarantors (pursuant to
a “guarantee valid for the purpose of credit risk
mitigation” (garanzie valide ai fini della mitigazione
del rischio di credito), as defined by Article 1,
paragraph 1, lett. h) of the MEF Decree) are (a) public
administrations of Admitted States, including therein
any Ministries, municipalities (enti pubblici
territoriali), national or local entities and other public
bodies, which attract a risk weighting factor not
exceeding 20 per cent. pursuant to Bank of Italy's
prudential regulations for banks - standardised
approach; (b) public administrations of States other
than Admitted States which attract a risk weighting
factor equal to 0 per cent. under the “Standardised
Approach” to credit risk measurement; (c)
municipalities and national or local public bodies not
carrying out economic activities (organismi pubblici
non economici) of States other than Admitted States
which attract a risk weight factor not exceeding 20 per
cent. pursuant to Bank of Italy's prudential regulations
for banks - standardised approach;

Receivables arising out of Loan Agreements which
have been fully disbursed or, only in respect of the
Multi-tranche Agreements, the Receivables arising
out from each credit line or tranche which have been
fully disbursed;

Receivables in respect of which as of the Cut-off Date
(a) there are no amounts due and payable to the Seller
by the relevant debtors, both as repayment of any
instalments and as interest, which have not been paid
and (b) neither the termination of the Loan Agreement
nor the acceleration (decadenza dal beneficio del
termine) of the payment obligations have been
requested or declared nor the withdrawal (recesso) has
occurred;

Receivables arising out of fixed rate loans or floating
rate loans;

Receivables in respect of which the relevant
amortisation plan for principal and interest provides
that the payments have to occur at or within previously
fixed payment dates.



The term “Loan Agreement” used in these General Criteria is
referred to each of the following agreements:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

®

loan and financing agreements, including loan
agreements for a relevant purpose;

loan and financing agreements “multi-tranche” which
provide for disbursement of singles credit lines or
tranches which differ each other in the interest rate, the
amortisation plan or the final reimbursement date
(hereinafter, the “Multi-tranche Agreements”);

acknowledgement and consolidation acts or
agreements, related to loans disbursed on the basis of
a credit opened agreement (contratto di apertura di
credito) pursuant to article 205-bis of the Legislative
Decree no. 267 of 18 August 2000 (also denominated
master credit opened agreement), by means of which
are ruled, inter alia, interest rate, amortisation plan and
the final reimbursement date;

disbursement and receipt acts or agreements (however
denominated) — related to loans disbursed on the basis
of a credit opened agreement (contratto di apertura di
credito) (however denominated) — by means of which,
inter alia, the interest rate, the amortisation plan, the
disbursement date and the final reimbursement date
are ruled;

loan and financing agreements (which provide for,
inter alia, an indication of loan amount, interest rate,
amortisation plan, guarantees, disbursement date and
final reimbursement date) on the basis of a plafond
made available by means of an adjudication of a
competitive bid and/or the relevant agreement, or by
means of a specific loan agreement (convenzione
speciale di finanziamento) or a treasury agreement
(convenzione di tesoreria) (which provide for the
disbursement of singles loans up to a predetermined
maximum amount (id est a plafond);

receivables purchase agreements with predetermined
principal and interest reimbursement dates or
receivables purchase agreements in which the
receivables have been settled by means of fixing of
principal and interest reimbursement dates.

The term “Receivables” used under points from (i) to (v) of
these General Criteria is referred to any receivable arising from
a Loan Agreement, also, if the case, renegotiated jointly or
separately with other Loan Agreements or, exclusively with
reference to Multi-tranche Agreements, the receivables arising
from each credit line or tranche which differ each other in the



Integration Assets

Excluded Assets

interest rate, the amortisation plan, the disbursement date or
the final reimbursement date.

The Receivables shall also comply with the Specific Criteria.

Specific Criteria means the criteria for the selection of the
Receivables to be included in the Portfolio to which such
criteria are applied, set forth in Annex 2 (I Criteri Specifici) to
the Master Transfer Agreement for the Initial Portfolio and in
the relevant offer for New Portfolios.

Criteria means jointly the General Criteria and the Specific
Criteria.

In accordance with Article 2 paragraph 3 of the MEF Decree
and paragraph 3 of the Bol OBG Regulations, Integration
Assets shall include:

6)] deposits with banks residing in Eligible States;

(ii) securities issued by banks residing in Eligible States
with residual maturity not longer than one year;

The Integration Assets calculated for the purpose of the Tests
shall meet the Integration Assets Rating Requirements.

Integration through the inclusion of Integration Assets shall be
allowed up to but not exceeding the Integration Assets Limit.
Integration (whether through Integration Assets or through
originally eligible Public Assets) shall be allowed for the
purpose of complying with the Tests.

On the basis of the information provided by the Servicer and
in accordance with the provisions of the Cash Management
and Agency Agreement the Calculation Agent shall identify
(a) the Integration Assets in excess of the Integration Assets
Limit to be excluded from the Eligible Portfolio, (b) the
aggregate of Integration Assets which do not meet the
Integration Assets Rating Requirements (the assets mentioned
in (a) and (b) above, the Excluded Assets), and (c) the
corresponding portion of the hedging arrangements, if any, to
be excluded from the calculation of the Tests (the Excluded
Swaps) with the objective of obtaining a combination of
Integration Assets included in the Eligible Portfolio, net of
exclusions, that would allow the compliance with the Tests, if
possible.

On the basis of the information provided by the Calculation
Agent, the Servicer may sell the Excluded Assets and the Cash
Manager shall invest the amounts deriving from such selling
in Public Assets, Integration Assets (only in the case described
under the Cash Management and Agency Agreement) or
Authorised Investments or Eligible Investments.



Tests

Breach of the Tests

In accordance with the Portfolio Administration Agreement
and the provisions of the MEF Decree, for so long as the
Covered Bonds remain outstanding, the Issuer and the Seller
shall procure on a continuing basis and on each Calculation
Date, or any other date on which the verification of the tests is
required pursuant to the Transaction Documents, that:

(1) prior to the occurrence of an Issuer Event of Default,
the OC Adjusted Eligible Portfolio shall be equal to,
or greater than, the Outstanding Principal Balance of
the Covered Bonds (the Asset Coverage Test) or,
following the occurrence of an Issuer Event of
Default, and service of the Notice to Pay by the
Representative of the Covered Bondholders, the
Amortisation Test Adjusted Eligible Portfolio shall be
equal to, or greater than, the Outstanding Principal
Balance of the Covered Bonds (the Amortisation
Test);

(i1) the Net Present Value of the Eligible Portfolio shall be
equal to, or greater than, the Net Present Value of all
Series of the outstanding Covered Bonds (the NPV
Test);

(iii)  the Net Interest Collections from the Eligible Portfolio
shall be equal to, or greater than, the Interest Payments
and the Annual Net Interest Collections from the
Eligible Portfolio shall be equal to, or greater than, the
Annual Interest Payments (the Interest Coverage
Test);

(the tests above are jointly defined as the Tests).

Compliance with the Tests will be verified by the Calculation
Agent, and internal risk management functions of the Intesa
Sanpaolo Group (under the supervision of the management
body of the Issuer) on each Calculation Date and on any other
date on which the verification of the Tests is required pursuant
to the Transaction Documents, and subsequently checked by
the Asset Monitor on a semi-annual basis. In addition to the
above, following the occurrence of a breach of the Tests, based
on the information provided by the Servicer with reference to
the end of the previous month and with reference to the last
day of each calendar month (starting from the date on which
such breach has been notified, and until 6 (six) months after
the date on which such breach has been cured the Calculation
Agent shall verify compliance with the Tests not later than the
fifth Business Day of the following calendar month. For a
detailed description see section “Credit Structure — Tests”.

In order to cure the breach of the Tests:



Role of the Asset Monitor

Sale of Public Assets following the
occurrence of an Article 74 Event
or an Issuer Event of Default

6)] the Seller shall sell, as soon as possible, and in any
case within 6 (six) months from the notification of
such breach, sufficient Public Assets or Integration
Assets to the Covered Bonds Guarantor in accordance
with the Master Transfer Agreement and, to this
extent, shall grant the funds necessary for payment of
the purchase price of the assets to the Covered Bonds
Guarantor in accordance with the Subordinated Loan
Agreement or, if necessary, increasing the Maximum
Amount of the Subordinated Loan, or

(ii) following the occurrence of one of the events indicated
in Clause 15.1 (Cause di estinzione dell'obbligo di
acquisto), of the Master Transfer Agreement,
paragraph (i) (Inadempimento di obblighi da parte del
Cedente), (ii) (Violazione delle dichiarazioni e
garanzie da parte del Cedente), (iii) (Mutamento
Sostanzialmente Pregiudizievole) and (iv) (Crisi), the
Issuer shall sell, as soon as possible, and in any case
within 6 (six) months from the notification of such
breach, sufficient Public Assets or Integration Assets
to the Covered Bonds Guarantor in accordance with
the Portfolio Administration Agreement and, to this
extent, shall grant the funds necessary for payment of
the purchase price of the assets to the Covered Bonds
Guarantor in accordance with the subordinated loan
agreement to be entered into pursuant to the Portfolio
Administration Agreement;

in an aggregate amount sufficient to ensure that the Tests are
met as soon as practicable.

A breach of the Tests which is not remedied within 6 (six)
months from the notification of the occurrence of such breach
constitutes an Issuer Event of Default.

A breach of the Amortisation Test constitutes a Covered Bonds
Guarantor Event of Default.

The Asset Monitor will, subject to receipt of the relevant
information from the Calculation Agent, test the calculations
performed by the Calculation Agent in respect of the Tests on
a semi-annual basis and more frequently under certain
circumstances. The Asset Monitor will also perform the other
activities provided under the Asset Monitor Agreement.

Following the delivery of an Article 74 Notice to Pay (which
has not been withdrawn) or a Notice to Pay and prior to the
occurrence of a Covered Bonds Guarantor Events of Default,
if necessary in order to effect timely payments under the
Covered Bonds, as determined by the Calculation Agent in
consultation with the Portfolio Manager, the Covered Bonds
Guarantor shall direct the Servicer to sell Selected Assets in



accordance with the provisions of the Portfolio Administration
Agreement, subject to any pre-emption right of the Seller
pursuant to the Master Transfer Agreement or any other
Transaction Documents. The proceeds of any such sale shall
be credited to the Investment Account and invested in
Authorised Investments.

5. THE TRANSACTION DOCUMENTS

Master Transfer Agreement

Warranty and Indemnity
Agreement

Subordinated Loan Agreement

Covered Bonds Guarantee

On 20 May 2009, the Seller and the Covered Bonds Guarantor
entered into a Master Transfer Agreement, as amended and
supplemented, pursuant to which the Seller assigned and
transferred the Initial Portfolio to the Covered Bonds
Guarantor, without recourse (pro soluto), in accordance with
Law 130. Pursuant to the Master Transfer Agreement, the
Covered Bonds Guarantor has agreed to pay the Seller a
purchase price of Euro 3,790,358,323.04. Furthermore, the
Seller and the Covered Bonds Guarantor agreed that the Seller
may, from time to time, assign and transfer Public Assets
and/or Integration Assets satisfying the Criteria to the Covered
Bonds Guarantor (See Sections “The Portfolio” and
“Description of the Transaction Documents - Description of
the Transfer Agreement”).

On 20 May 2009, the Seller and the Covered Bonds Guarantor
entered into a warranty and indemnity agreement (as amended
and supplemented, the Warranty and Indemnity
Agreement), pursuant to which the Seller made certain
representations and warranties in favour of the Covered Bonds
Guarantor (See Section “Description of the Transaction
Documents - Description of the Warranty and Indemnity
Agreement”).

On 20 May 2009, the Seller and the Covered Bonds Guarantor
entered into a subordinated loan agreement (as amended and
supplemented, the Subordinated Loan Agreement), pursuant
to which the Seller granted a subordinated loan to the Covered
Bonds Guarantor (the Subordinated Loan) with a maximum
amount equal to the Maximum Amount, as amended from time
to time. Under the provisions of such agreement, the Seller
shall make advances to the Covered Bonds Guarantor in
amounts equal to the relevant price of the Portfolio transferred
from time to time to the Covered Bonds Guarantor. The
Subordinated Loan shall be remunerated by way of the
Subordinated Loan Interest Amount.

On or about the Initial Issue Date the Covered Bonds
Guarantor issued a guarantee securing the payment obligations
of the Issuer under the Covered Bonds (as amended and
supplemented, the Covered Bonds Guarantee), in
accordance with the provisions of Law 130 and of the MEF
Decree (See Sections “Transaction Summary — Covered Bonds
Guarantee” and “Description of the Transaction Documents -
Description of the Covered Bonds Guarantee”).



Servicing Agreement and
Collection Policies

Administrative Services
Agreement

Intercreditor Agreement

Pursuant to the terms of a servicing agreement entered into on
20 May 2009 (as amended and supplemented, the Servicing
Agreement), the Servicer has agreed to administer and service
the Portfolio, on behalf of the Covered Bonds Guarantor in
accordance with the Collection Policies.

The Servicer has also agreed to be responsible for verifying
that the transaction complies with the law and this Base
Prospectus, in accordance with the requirements of Law 130.

The Servicer has undertaken to prepare and submit quarterly
reports to the Covered Bonds Guarantor, the Administrative
Services Provider and the Calculation Agent, in the form set
out in the Servicing Agreement, containing information as to
all the Collections, as a result of the activity of the Servicer
pursuant to the Servicing Agreement during the preceding
Collection Period. The reports will provide the main
information relating to the Servicer’s activity during the
period, including without limitation: a description of the
Portfolio (outstanding amount, principal and interest),
information relating to delinquencies, defaults and collections
during the Collection Period as well as a performance analysis
(See Section “Description of the Transaction Documents -
Description of the Servicing Agreement” and “Collection and
Recovery Procedures™).

Pursuant to an administrative services agreement entered into
on 20 May 2009 (as amended and supplemented, the
Administrative Services Agreement), the Administrative
Services Provider has agreed to provide the Covered Bonds
Guarantor with a number of administrative services, including
the keeping of the corporate books and of the accounting and
tax registers (See “Description of the Transaction Documents
- Description of the Administrative Services Agreement”).

Under the terms of an intercreditor agreement entered into on
or about the Initial Issue Date (as amended and supplemented,
the Intercreditor Agreement) among the Covered Bonds
Guarantor and the Secured Creditors, the parties agreed that all
the Available Funds of the Covered Bonds Guarantor will be
applied in or towards satisfaction of the Covered Bonds
Guarantor’s payment obligations towards the Covered
Bondholders as well as the Secured Creditors, in accordance
with the relevant Priorities of Payments provided in the
Intercreditor Agreement.

According to the Intercreditor Agreement, the Representative
of the Covered Bondholders will, subject to a Covered Bonds
Guarantor Event of Default having occurred, ensure that all the
Available Funds are applied in or towards satisfaction of the
Covered Bonds Guarantor’s payment obligations towards the
Covered Bondholders as well as the Secured Creditors, in



Cash Management and Agency
Agreement

Asset Monitor Agreement

Portfolio Administration
Agreement

accordance with the Post-Guarantor Default Priority of
Payments provided in the Intercreditor Agreement.

The obligations owed by the Covered Bonds Guarantor to each
of the Covered Bondholders and each of the Secured Creditors
will be limited recourse obligations of the Covered Bonds
Guarantor. The Covered Bondholders and the Secured
Creditors will have a claim against the Covered Bonds
Guarantor only to the extent of the Available Funds, in each
case subject to and as provided for in the Intercreditor
Agreement and the other Transaction Documents (See
“Description of the Transaction Documents - Description of
the Intercreditor Agreement”).

In accordance with a cash management and agency agreement
entered into on or about the Initial Issue Date, as amended and
supplemented, among, inter alios, the Covered Bonds
Guarantor, the Cash Manager, the Account Bank, the
Receivables Collection Account Bank, the Paying Agent, the
Luxembourg Listing Agent, the Servicer, the Administrative
Services Provider, the Calculation Agent and the
Representative of the Covered Bondholders (the Cash
Management and Agency Agreement), the Account Bank,
the Receivables Collection Account Bank, the Paying Agent,
the Luxembourg Listing Agent, the Servicer, the
Administrative Services Provider and the Calculation Agent
will provide the Covered Bonds Guarantor with certain
calculation, notification and reporting services together with
account handling and cash management services in relation to
moneys from time to time standing to the credit of the
Accounts (See “Description of the Transaction Documents -
Description of the Cash Management and Agency
Agreement”).

In accordance with an asset monitor agreement entered into on
or about the Initial Issue Date, among the Asset Monitor, the
Covered Bonds Guarantor, the Representative of the Covered
Bondholders, the Issuer and the Calculation Agent (as
amended and supplemented, the Asset Monitor Agreement),
the Asset Monitor will conduct independent tests in respect
of the calculations performed by the Calculation Agent for
the Tests, as applicable on a semi-annual basis with a view
to verifying the compliance by the Covered Bonds
Guarantor with such tests (See “Description of the
Transaction Documents - Description of the Asset Monitor
Agreement”).

By a portfolio administration agreement entered into on or
about the Initial Issue Date, among, inter alia, the Covered
Bonds Guarantor, the Issuer, the Seller, the Representative of
the Covered Bondholders, the Calculation Agent, the Cash
Manager and the Asset Monitor (as amended and
supplemented, the Portfolio Administration Agreement), the



Quotaholders Agreement

Deed of Pledge

Deed of Charge

Dealer Agreement

Seller and the Issuer have undertaken certain obligations for
the replenishment of the Portfolio in order to cure a breach of
the Tests. (See “Description of the Transaction Documents -
Description of the Portfolio Administration Agreement”).

The quotaholders’ agreement entered into on or about the
Initial Issue Date, among the Covered Bonds Guarantor, Intesa
Sanpaolo and Stichting Viridis 2 (as amended and
supplemented, the Quotaholders’ Agreement), contains
provisions and undertakings in relation to the management of
the Covered Bonds Guarantor. In addition, pursuant to the
Quotaholders’ Agreement, Stichting Viridis 2 will grant a call
option in favour of Intesa Sanpaolo to purchase from Stichting
Viridis 2 and Intesa Sanpaolo will grant a put option in favour
of Stichting Viridis 2 to sell to Intesa Sanpaolo the quota of the
Issuer quota capital held by Stichting Viridis 2 (See
“Description of the Transaction Documents - Description of
the Quotaholders Agreement”).

By a deed of pledge (as amended and supplemented, the Deed
of Pledge) executed by the Covered Bonds Guarantor on or
about the Initial Issue Date, the Covered Bonds Guarantor will
pledge in favour of the Covered Bondholders and the Secured
Creditors all monetary claims and rights and all amounts
payable from time to time (including payment for claims,
indemnities, damages, penalties, credits and guarantees) to
which the Covered Bonds Guarantor is entitled pursuant or in
relation with the Transaction Documents (other than the
English law Transaction Documents and the Deed of Pledge),
including any monetary claims and rights relating to the
amounts standing to the credit of the Accounts and any other
account established by the Covered Bonds Guarantor in
accordance with the provisions of the Transaction Documents,
but excluding, for avoidance of doubt, the Public Assets and
Integration Assets. (See “Description of the Transaction
Documents - Description of the Deed of Pledge”).

By a deed of charge executed by the Covered Bonds Guarantor
on or about the Initial Issue Date (as amended and
supplemented, the Deed of Charge), the Covered Bonds
Guarantor will assign by way of security to and charge in
favour of the Representative of the Covered Bondholders
(acting in its capacity as security trustee for itself and on trust
for the Covered Bondholders and the Secured Creditors; in
such capacity the Security Trustee), all of its rights, title,
interest and benefit from time to time in and to the Swap
Agreements (See “Description of the Transaction Documents
- Description of the Deed of Charge™).

By a dealer agreement entered into on or about the Initial Issue
Date among the Issuer, the Representative of Covered
Bondholders and the Dealer, (as amended and supplemented,
the Dealer Agreement), the Dealer has been appointed as



Subscription Agreement

Swaps

ISP Mandate Agreement

Provisions of Transaction
Documents

such. The Dealer Agreement contains, inter alia, provisions
for the resignation or termination of appointment of existing
Dealer and for the appointment of additional or other dealers
either generally in respect of the Programme or in relation to a
particular Series (See “Description of the Transaction
Documents - Description of the Dealer Agreement”).

By a subscription agreement entered or to be entered into on
or about each Issue Date among the Issuer and the Relevant
Dealer(s), the Relevant Dealers will agree to subscribe for the
relevant Series of Covered Bonds and pay the Issue Price
subject to the conditions set out therein (as amended and
supplemented, the Subscription Agreement) (See
“Description of the Transaction Documents - Description of
the Subscription Agreement™).

In order to hedge the currency and/or interest rate exposure in
relation to its floating or fixed rate obligations under the CB,
the Covered Bonds Guarantor entered and will enter into one
or more swap transactions with the CB Hedging Counterparty
on each Issue Date as confirmed by a confirmation (a CB
Swap Confirmation) evidencing the terms of any such
transaction (each a CB Swap), subject to a 1992 International
Swaps and Derivatives Association Inc. (ISDA) Master
Agreement (Multicurrency - Cross Border), including
Schedule, 1995 ISDA Credit Support Annex (Bilateral Form —
Transfer)(ISDA Agreements Subject to English law) (the
Credit Support Annex) and CB Swap Confirmation (the CB
Master Agreement).

In addition, in order to hedge the interest rate and/or currency
risks related to the transfer of each Portfolio, the Covered
Bonds Guarantor entered and will enter into one or more swap
transactions with the TBG Hedging Counterparty, on the date
of each transfer as confirmed by a confirmation (a TBG Swap
Confirmation) evidencing the terms of each such transaction
(each a TBG Swap), subject to a 1992 International Swaps and
Derivatives Association Inc. (ISDA) Master Agreement
(Multicurrency - Cross Border), including Schedule, Credit
Support Annex and TBG Swap Confirmation (the TBG
Master Agreement) (See “Description of the Transaction
Documents - Description of the Swaps”).

By a mandate agreement entered into on 28 February 2014
between Intesa Sanpaolo, as Swap Service Provider, and the
Covered Bonds Guarantor, Intesa Sanpaolo has agreed to
provide the Covered Bonds Guarantor with certain services
due under the Swap Agreements pursuant to the EMIR
Regulation (the ISP Mandate Agreement).

The Covered Bondholders are entitled to the benefit of, are
bound by, and are deemed to have notice of, all provisions of
the Transaction Documents applicable to them. In particular,
each Covered Bondholder, by reason of holding Covered



Bonds, recognises the Representative of the Covered
Bondholders as its representative and accepts to be bound by
the terms of each of the Transaction Documents signed by the
Representative of the Covered Bondholders as if such Covered
Bondholder was a signatory thereto.






RISK FACTORS

In purchasing Covered Bonds, investors assume the risk that the Issuer and the Covered Bonds
Guarantor may become insolvent or otherwise be unable to make all payments due in respect of the
Covered Bonds. There is a wide range of factors which individually or together could result in the
Issuer and the Covered Bonds Guarantor becoming unable to make all payments due in respect of the
Covered Bonds.

Certain risks which it currently deems not to be material as at the date of this Base Prospectus may
become material as a result of the occurrence of events outside the Issuer's and the Covered Bonds
Guarantor's control. The Issuer and the Covered Bonds Guarantor have identified in this Base
Prospectus a number of factors which could materially adversely affect their businesses and ability to
make payments due under the Covered Bonds.

In addition, risks which are material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with the
Covered Bonds issued under the Programme are also described below.

The Issuer believes that the risks described below are the main risks inherent in the holding of Covered
Bonds of any Series issued under the Programme but the inability of the Issuer to pay interest or repay
principal on the Covered Bonds of any Series may occur for other reasons and the Issuer does not
represent that the above statements of the risks of holding Covered Bonds are exhaustive. While the
various structural elements described in this Base Prospectus are intended to lessen some of the risks
for holders of Covered Bonds of any Series, there can be no assurance that these measures will be
sufficient or effective to ensure payment to the holders of Covered Bonds of any Series of interest or
principal on such Covered Bonds on a timely basis or at all.

Prospective investors should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in this Base
Prospectus (including any documents deemed to be incorporated by reference herein) and reach their
own views prior to making any investment decision.

1. RISK FACTORS RELATING TO THE ISSUER

Prospective investors are invited to carefully read this chapter on the risk factors before making any
investment decision, in order to understand the risks related to the Intesa Sanpaolo Group and obtain
a better appreciation of the Intesa Sanpaolo Group 's abilities to satisfy the obligations related to the
Covered Bonds issued and described in the relevant Final Terms. The Issuer deems that the following
risk factors could affect the ability of the same to satisfy its obligations arising from the Covered Bonds.
The risks below have been classified into the following categories:

Risks relating to the financial situation of the Intesa Sanpaolo Group;

Risks related to legal proceedings;

Risks related to the business sector of Intesa Sanpaolo;

Risk related to the development of the banking sector regulation and the changes in the regulation on
the solution of banking crises, and

Risks related to the entry into force of new accounting principles and the amendment of the applied
accounting principles.



Risks related to the financial situation of Intesa Sanpaolo Group

Risk exposure to debt Securities issued by sovereign States

As at 30 June 2020, the exposure to securities issued by Italy amounted to approximately € 90 billion,
increased compared to approximately € 86 billion as at 31 December 2019. On the same date, the
investments in sovereign debt securities issued by EU Countries corresponded to € 125 billion,
compared to € 120 billion at the end of 2019.

The market tensions regarding government bonds and their volatility, as well as Italy's rating
downgrading or the forecast that such downgrading may occur, might have negative effects on the
assets, the economic and/or financial situation, the operational results and the perspectives of the Bank.

Intesa Sanpaolo Group results is and will be exposed to sovereign debtors, in particular to Italy and
certain major European Countries.

As at 30 June 2020, the exposure to securities issued by Italy amounted to approximately € 90 billion
(10.4% of the total assets of the Group), to which should be added approximately € 10 billion
represented by investments. On the same date, the investments in sovereign debt securities issued by
EU Countries corresponded to € 125 billion (14.6% of the total assets of the Group), to which should
be added approximately € 12 billion represented by loans.

At the end 0f 2019, the exposure to securities issued by Italy corresponded to approximately €86 billion
(10.5% of the total assets of the Group), to which should be added approximately €11 billion represented
by investments. On the same date, the investments in sovereign debt securities issued by EU Countries
corresponded to €121 billion (14.8% of the total assets of the Group), to which should be added
approximately €12 billion represented by loans. On the whole, the securities issued by governments,
central banks and other public entities represented approximately 46% of the total financial assets.

At the end of 2018, the exposure to securities issued by Italy corresponded to approximately € 76 billion
(9.6% of the total assets of the Group), to which should be added approximately 12 billion represented
by investments. On the same date, the investments in sovereign debt securities issued by EU Countries
corresponded to € 101 billion (12.8% of the total assets of the Group), to which should be added
approximately € 13 billion represented by loans. On the whole, the securities issued by governments,
central banks and other public entities represented approximately 44.4% of the total financial assets.

The tensions in the market of Government Bonds and their volatility, in particular with reference to the
spread of the performance of Italian bonds compared to other benchmark government bonds may have
negative effects on the activities and the economic and/or financial situation of the Bank.

Furthermore, the downgrading of Italy's rating, or the forecast that such downgrading may occur, could
make the markets unstable and have negative impacts on the operational results, financial conditions
and perspectives of the Bank.

For further information please refer to Part E of the Explanatory Note of the consolidated financial
statements for 2019, incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus.

Risks related to legal proceedings

As at 30 June 2020, there were a total of about 26,000 disputes pending, other than tax disputes,
(excluding those involving Risanamento S.p.A. and Autostrade Lombarde S.p.A., which are not subject
to management and coordination by Intesa Sanpaolo) with a total remedy sought of 5,622 million euro.

This amount includes all outstanding disputes, regardless of the estimated risk of a disbursement of
financial resources resulting from a potential negative outcome and therefore also includes disputes
with a remote risk.



The risks associated with the above disputes have been thoroughly analysed by the parent company and
Group companies involved. Specific and appropriate provisions have been made to the Allowances for
Risks and Charges in the event of disputes for which there is an estimated probability of a disbursement
of more than 50% and where the amount of the disbursement may be reliably estimated (disputes with
likely risk).

These disputes amount to around 11,600 with a remedy sought of 1,815 million euro and provisions of
589 million euro. The part relating to the parent company is around 5,100 disputes with a remedy
sought of 1,451 million euro and provisions of 441 million euro, the part relating to other Italian
subsidiaries is around 500 disputes with a remedy sought of 254 million euro and provisions of 93
million euro, and the part relating to the international subsidiaries is around 6,000 disputes with a
remedy sought of 110 million euro and provisions of 55 million euro.

The risk arising from legal proceedings consists of the possibility of the Bank being obliged to pay any
sum in case of unfavourable outcome.

The most common legal disputes are related to invalidity, cancellation, inefficacy actions or
compensation for damages as a consequence of transactions related to the ordinary banking and
financial activity carried out by the Bank.

For any individual assessment regarding legal disputes please refer to the paragraph titled "Legal
Proceedings" on page 108 of this Base Prospectus. Such paragraph also includes information
concerning the disputes on the marketing of convertible and/or subordinated shares/bonds issued by
Banca Popolare di Vicenza or Veneto Banca, which filled against respectively Banca Nuova and Banca
Apulia (both subsequently merged by incorporation in Intesa Sanpaolo).

In this respect, the Bank would like to highlight that, as of 31 December 2018, the Arbitrator for
Financial Controversies accepted no. 88 appeals from Banca Nuova’s clients, whose claims aimed the
shares of Banca Popolare di Vicenza, as well as no. 108 appeals submitted by the clients of Banca
Apulia whose claims aimed the shares of Veneto Banca. Banca Nuova and Banca Apulia (both now
Intesa Sanpaolo) have not executed the decisions as — in compliance with the provisions of Decision
C(2017) 4501 of the European Commission on State Aid — every liability in relation to the marketing
of shares of ex Venetian banks shall be borne exclusively by Veneto Banca S.p.A. in compulsory
administrative liquidation and Banca Popolare di Vicenza in compulsory administrative liquidation.

Risks related to the business sector of Intesa Sanpaolo

Risks related to the economic/financial crisis and the impact of current uncertainties of the macro-
economic context

The future development in the macro-economic context may be considered as a risk as it may produce
negative effects and trends in the economic and financial situation of the Bank and/or the Group.

Any negative variations of the factors described hereafter, in particular during periods of economic-
financial crisis, could lead the Bank and/or the Group to suffer losses, increases of financing costs, and
reductions of the value of the assets held, with a potential negative impact on the liquidity of the Bank
and/or the Group and its financial soundness.

The trends of the Bank and the Group are affected by the general, national and economic situation of
the Eurozone, the dynamics of financial markets and the soundness and growth prospects of the
economy of other geographic areas in which the Bank and/or the Group operates.

In particular, the profitability capacity and solvency of the Bank and/or the Group are affected by the
trends of certain factors, such as the investors’ expectations and trust, the level and volatility of short-
term and long-term interest rates, exchange rates, financial markets liquidity, availability and cost of



capital, sustainability of sovereign debt, household incomes and consumer spending, unemployment
levels, business profitability, inflation and housing prices.

The macro-economic framework is currently characterised by significant profiles of uncertainty, in
relation to: (a) the outbreak of COVID-19, which caused a major decline in economic activity in 2020
and may originate further economic downturns in the near future, in addition to more persistent effects
on default rates, unemployment rates and country risk; (b) the future developments of ECB monetary
policies in the Euro area and of the FED in the dollar area; (c) the tensions observed, on a more or less
recurrent basis, on the financial markets; (d) the risk that in the future holders of Italian government
debt lose confidence in the credit standing of Republic of Italy, owing to the uncertainty of budgetary
policies and the high debt ratio; (e) the exit of the United Kingdom from the single market on 1 January
2021.

With specific reference to point (e), the relationship of the UK with the EU may affect the business of
the Issuers. On 29 March 2017, the UK invoked Article 50 of the Treaty on the European Union and
officially notified the EU of its decision to withdraw from the EU. On 31 January 2020, the UK
withdrew from the EU. According to Articles 126 and 127 of the Article 50 Withdrawal Agreement
(approved by the European Parliament on 29 January 2020), the UK entered an implementation period
during which it will negotiate its future relationship with the EU. During such implementation period —
which is due to operate until 31 December 2020 — most EU rules and regulations shall continue to apply
in the UK. During the transition period, the UK and the EU may not reach an agreement on the furture
relationship between them or may reach a significantly narrower agreement than that envisaged by the
political declaration of the European Commission and the UK Government. To minimise the risks for
firms and businesses the UK Government continues preparations (including the UK Government
publishing further draft secondary legislation under powers provided in the European Union
(Withdrawal) Act 2018 ( as amended by the European Union (Withdrawal Agreement) Act 2020)) to
ensure that there is a functioning statute book at the end of the transition period.. Due to the on-going
political uncertainty as regards the structure of the future relationship between UK and EU, the precise
impact on the business of the Issuer is difficult to determine. As such, no assurance can be given that
such matters would not adversely affect the market value and/or the liquidity of the Notes in the
secondary market.

Credit risk

We would like to remark that, as of 30 September 2020, Intesa Sanpaolo recorded a gross NPL ratio
(based on EBA metrics) of 5.9%. On 31 December 2019, the same data corresponded to 6.8%,
compared to 7.5% recorded on 31 December 2018. The credit institutions which recorded a gross NPL
ratio higher than 5% are required — on the grounds of the "Guidelines on management of non
performing and forborne exposures" of EBA — to prepare specific strategic and operative plans for the
management of such exposures.

Taking into consideration the pattern of the main credit risk indicators in 2018—-2019, in the first nine
months of 2020 and the assignment of non-performing loans mentioned hereafter, Intesa Sanpaolo
deems that the risk related to credit quality is not significant.

The economic and financial activity and soundness of the Bank depend on its borrower’s
creditworthness.

The Bank is exposed to the traditional risks related to credit activity. Therefore, the clients' breach of
the agreements entered into and of their underlying obligations, or any lack of information or incorrect
information provided by them as to their respective financial and credit position, could have negative
effects on the economic and/or financial situation of the Bank.



Furthermore, any exposures in the bank portfolio towards counterparties, groups of connected
counterparties and counterparties of the same economic sector, which perform the same activity or
belong to the same geographic area, could increase the Bank concentration risk.

More generally, the counterparties may not satisfy their respective obligations towards the Bank by
reason of bankruptcy, absence of liquidity, operational disruption or any other reason. The bankruptcy
of an important stakeholder, or any concerns about its default, could cause serious liquidity issues,
losses or defaults by other institutions, which, in turn, could negatively affect the Bank. The Bank may
also be subject to the risk, under specific circumstances, that some of its credits towards third parties
are no longer collectable. Furthermore, a decrease of the creditworthiness of third parties, including
sovereign States, of which the Bank holds securities or bonds, might cause losses and/or negatively
affect the ability of the Bank to invest again or use in a different way such securities or bonds for
liquidity purposes. A significant decrease of the creditworthiness of the counterparties of the Bank
might, therefore, have a negative impact on the results of the same Bank’s performance. Albeit, in many
cases, the Bank could require further guarantees to the counterparties which are in financial difficulties,
certain disputes may arise with respect to the amount of guarantee that the Bank is entitled to receive
and the value of the assets which are object of guarantee. The default rates, counterparties rating
deterioration and disputes in relation to counterparties on the guarantee appraisal could be significantly
increased during periods of market tensions and illiquidity.

In compliance with the provisions of the "ECB Guidance to banks on non-performing loans" published
in March 2017 through which the ECB calls on banks to implement realistic and ambitious strategies
to work towards a holistic approach regarding the problem of NPLs, Intesa Sanpaolo submitted to the
ECB a plan for the reduction of its non-performing loans.

Subsequently, building on the overall strategy and targets outlined in the 2018-21 Business Plan
published in February 2018, Intesa Sanpaolo has developed a solid 4-year plan, at no costs to
shareholders, to reach an NPL level in line with European peers, continuing to maintain a lower leverage
and a stronger balance sheet. The 2018-21 Group NPL Plan leverages the excellent performance
achieved in 2017, where the bank outperformed vs plan targets by the strengthening of the proactive
management of bad loans performed by each division, by the results achieved in the recovery activities,
by the accomplishment of the planned disposals, but also thanks to the supervision and monitoring
activities performed by the “Group NPL Plan Control Room”.

For more information on European legislative initiatives on Non-Performing Loans, please refer to
“Regulatory Section” on page 139 of this Base Prospectus.

Italy was the first European country being hit by COVID-19 outbreak, which has been leading to a
strong GDP contraction with negative effects in all economic sectors. Nevertheless, results for the first
nine months of 2020 confirmed Intesa Sanpaolo’s ability to effectively face the challenging aftermath
of the COVID-19 pandemic. Group Gross NPL stock decreased by roughly €2,3 billion from 31
December 2019, and of approximately €23 billion from December 2017, therefore already achieving
90% of the target set for the entire four-year period of the 2018 2021 Business Plan.

For further information on the management of the "credit risk", please refer to Part E of the Explanatory
Note of the consolidated financial statements for 2019, included by reference in this Base Prospectus.

Market risk

In the first nine months of 2020, net of the UBI Group, the Group's average managerial VaR was 273.1
million euro, up compared to 161.8 million euro in the same period of 2019. The performance of this
indicator — mainly determined by the IMI Corporate & Investment Banking Division (which comprises
the operations of Banca IMI, now merged into Intesa Sanpaolo) — once again derives from an increase
in the risk measures, mainly attributable to the health emergency caused by the COVID-19 pandemic.



By analysing its composition we observe, with respect to the different factors, the prevalence of credit
spread risk. It should be specified that in IMI Corporate & Investment Banking Division, the VaR limit
also includes the HTCS (Held To Collect and Sell) component.

As to the bank portfolio risks, the market risk, measured in terms of VaR, has recorded in the first six
months of 2020 an average value of € 579 million (€103 million was the average value on 30 June
2019). On 30 June 2020, the VaR was equal to €814 million, compared to €126 million on 30 June
2019. On 31 December 2019, the VaR was equal to €227 million, compared to €91 million on 31
December 2018.

The market risk is the risk of losses in the value of financial instruments, including the securities of
sovereign States held by the Bank, due to the movements of market variables (by way of example and
without limitation, interest rates, prices of securities, exchange rates), which could determine a
deterioration of the financial soundness of the Bank and/or the Group. Such deterioration could be
produced either by negative effects on the income statement deriving from positions held for trading
purposes, or from negative changes in the FVOCI (Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income)
reserve, generated by positions classified as financial Activities evaluated at fair value, with an impact
on the overall profitability.

The Bank is therefore exposed to possible changes of the financial instruments value, including the
securities issued by sovereign States, due to fluctuations of interest rates, exchange rates of currencies,
prices of the securities listed on the markets, commodities and credit spreads and/or other risks. Such
fluctuations could be caused by changes in the general economic trend, the investors' propensity to
investments, monetary and tax policies, liquidity of the markets on a global scale, availability and
capital cost, interventions of rating agencies, political events both at social and international level, war
conflicts and acts of terrorism. The market risk occurs both with respect to the trading book, which
includes the financial trading instruments and derivative instruments related thereto, and the banking
book, which includes the financial assets and liabilities that are different from those contained in the
trading book.

For further information please see Part E of the Explanatory Note of the consolidated financial
statements, incorporated by reference to this Base Prospectus.

Liquidity risk of Intesa Sanpaolo

The ratio between the credits towards customers and the direct deposit taking, as reported in the
consolidated financial statement ("Loan to deposit ratio") on 30 September 2020 was at 90%,
compared to 93% on 31 December 2019.

The "Liquidity Coverage Ratio" (LCR) on 30 September 2020 was higher than 100% against a minimum
regulatory threshold equal to 100%.

The "Net Stable Funding Ratio" (NSFR) on 30 September 2020 was higher than 100% against a
minimum regulatory threshold of 100% to be respected starting from 2021.

The participation of the Group to TLTRO funding transactions with ECB at the end of September 2020
was equal to approximately € 82.9 billion (of which Intesa Sanapolo: € 70.9 and UBI Banca: € 12
billion).

Although the Bank constantly monitors its own liquidity risk, any negative development of the market
situation and the general economic context and/or creditworthiness of the Bank, possibly accompanied
by the need to adapt the liquidity situation of the Bank to the regulatory requirements updated from
time to time in implementation of the European rules, may have negative effects on the activities and
the economic and/or financial situation of the Bank and the Group.



The liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank is not able to satisfy its payment obligations at maturity, both
due to the inability to raise funds on the market (funding liquidity risk) and of the difficulty to disinvest
its own assets (market liquidity risk).

The liquidity of the Bank may be prejudiced by the temporary impossibility of accessing capital markets
by the issuance of debt securities (both guaranteed and not guaranteed), the inability to receive funds
from counterparties which are external to or of the Group, the inability to sell certain assets or redeem
its investments, as well as unexpected cash outflows or the obligation to provide more guarantees. Such
a situation may occur by reason of circumstances that are independent from the control of the Bank,
such as a general market disruption or an operational issue which affects the Bank or any third parties,
or also by reason of the perception among the participants in the market that the Bank or other
participants in the market are experiencing a higher liquidity risk. The liquidity crisis and the loss of
trust in the financial institutions may increase the Bank’s cost of funding and limit its access to some of
its traditional liquidity sources.

Examples of liquidity risk manifestation are the bankruptcy of an important participant to the market,
or concerns about its possible default, which may cause serious liquidity issues, losses or defaults of
other banks which, in turn, could negatively affect the Bank; and a decrease of the creditworthiness of
third parties of which the Bank holds securities or bonds, that may determine losses and/or negatively
affect the ability of the Bank to invest again or use in a different way such securities or bonds for
liquidity purposes.

The participation of the Group to the TLTRO funding transactions with the ECB as at 31 December
2019 is equal to approximately Euro 49 billion. In particular, the Group has participated to 7 TLTRO
funding transactions, starting from 24 June 2016. As at 30 September 2020, such transactions amounted
to approximately Euro 70,9 billion (excluding the contribution of Euro 12 billion of UBI Banca),
consisting entirely of TLTROs II1.

For further information please see Part E of the Explanatory Note of the consolidated financial
statements, incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus.

Due to the financial market crisis, followed also by the reduced liquidity available to operators in the
sector, in March 2019 ECB announced a new series of quarterly targeted longer-term refinancing
operations (TLTROIII) to be launched in September 2019 to March 2021, each with a maturity of two
years, recently shifted by an additional 1 year. On March 2020 new long term refinancing operations
(LTROs) were announced to provide a bridge until the TLTRO III window in June 2020 and ensure
liquidity and regular money market conditions. These measures were integrated with temporary
collateral easing measures.

Operational risk

The Bank is exposed to several categories of operational risk which are intrinsic to its business, among
which those mentioned herein, by way of example and without limitation. frauds by external persons,
frauds or losses arising from the unfaithfulness of the employees and/or breach of control procedures,
operational errors, defects or malfunctions of computer or telecommunication systems, computer virus
attacks, default of suppliers with respect to their contractual obligations, terrorist attacks and natural
disasters. The occurrence of one or more of said risks may have significant negative effects on the
business, the operational results and the economic and financial situation of the Bank. The capital
absorption amounts to 2,103 million euro as at 30 September 2020 and represents approximately 7%
of the total value of the ISP Group requirement. The increase compared to 1,781 million euro as at 30
June 2020 is due to the addition of the operational risk requirements of the acquired UBI Group.

The operational risk may be defined as the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal
processes, people and systems or from external events. Operational risk includes legal risk and



compliance risk, model risk, ICT risk and financial reporting risk; strategic and reputational risk are not
included.

The Bank has defined a framework for the operational risks management which consists of the
following phases:

e Identification: the detection and description of potential operational risk areas (e.g.
operational events, presence of issues, applicability of risk factors, significant risk
scenarios);

e Assessment and measurement: determination of operational risk exposure;

e Monitoring and control: continuous management of changes in the operational risk
exposure, also to prevent the occurrence of harmful events and to promote active risk
management;

e Mitigation: operational risk containment through appropriate mitigation actions and
suitable risk transfer strategies, based on a risk-driven approach;

e Reporting: preparation of information flows related to operational risk management,
designed to ensure adequate knowledge of the exposure to this risk.

Although the Bank constantly supervises its own operational risks, certain unexpected events and/or
events out of the Bank's control may occur (including those mentioned above by way of example and
without limitation), with possible negative effects on the business and the economic and/or financial
situation of the Bank and the Group, as well as on its reputation.

For further information please see Part E of the Explanatory Note of the consolidated financial
statements for 2018, incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus.

Foreign exchange risk

The Bank is exposed to several categories of foreign exchange risk which are intrinsic to its business
and are lied in foreign currency loans and deposits held by customers, purchases of securities, equity
investments and other financial instruments in foreign currencies, conversion to domestic currency of
assets, liabilities and income of branches and subsidiaries abroad, trading of foreign currencies and
banknotes, and collection and/or payment of interest, commissions, dividends and administrative costs
in foreign currencies. Although the Bank constantly monitors its exposure to foreign currencies, any
negative development of the foreign rates may have negative effects on activities and the economic
and/or financial situation of the Bank and the Group.

“Foreign exchange risk” is defined as the possibility that foreign exchange rate fluctuations produce
significant changes, both positive and negative, in the Group’s balance sheet aggregates. The key
sources of exchange rate risk lie in:

foreign currency loans and deposits held by corporate and/or retail customers;

purchases of securities, equity investments and other financial instruments in foreign currencies;

conversion into domestic currency of assets, liabilities and income of branches and subsidiaries
abroad;

trading of foreign currencies and banknotes;



collection and/or payment of interest, commissions, dividends and administrative costs in foreign
currencies.

More specifically, “structural” foreign exchange risk refers to the exposures deriving from the
commercial operations and the strategic investment decisions of the Intesa Sanpaolo Group.

Foreign exchange transactions, spot and forward, are carried out mostly by IMI Corporate & Investment
Banking Division (which comprises the operations of Banca IMI, now merged into Intesa Sanpaolo),
which also operates in the name and on behalf of the Intesa Sanpaolo with the task of guaranteeing
pricing throughout the Bank and the Intesa Sanpaolo Group while optimizing the proprietary risk profile
deriving from brokerage of foreign currencies traded by customers.

The main types of financial instruments traded include spot and forward exchange transactions in
foreign currencies, forex swaps, domestic currency swaps, and foreign exchange options.

Risk related to the development of the banking sector regulation and the changes in the regulation
on the solution of banking crises

The Bank is subject to a complex and strict regulation, as well as to the supervisory activity performed
by the relevant institutions (in particular, the European Central Bank, the Bank of Italy and CONSOB).
Both aforementioned regulation and supervisory activity are subject, respectively, to continuous
updates and practice developments.

Furthermore, as a listed Bank, the Bank is required to comply with further provisions issued by
CONSOB.

The Bank, besides the supranational and national rules and the primary or regulatory rules of the
financial and banking sector, is also subject to specific rules on anti-money laundering, usury and
consumer protection.

Although the Bank undertakes to comply with the set of rules and regulations, any changes of the rules
and/or changes of the interpretation and/or implementation of the same by the competent authorities
could give rise to new burdens and obligations for the Bank, with possible negative impacts on the
operational results and the economic and financial situation of the Bank.

Regulatory framework

Starting from 1 January 2014, a part of the Supervisory Rules has been amended on the grounds of the
Directions deriving from the so called Basel III agreements, mainly with the purpose to significantly
strengthen the minimum capital requirements, the restraint of the leverage degree and the introduction
of policies and quantitative rules for the mitigation of the liquidity risk of the banks.

As for the capital requirements, the prudential provisions in force provide for minimum capitalisation
levels. In particular, the banks are required to have a Common Equity Tier 1 (CET 1) ratio at least equal
to 7% of the risk-weighted assets, a Tier 1 ratio equal at least to 8.5% of the risk-weighted assets and a
Total Capital ratio equal at least to 10.5% of said risk-weighted assets (such minimum levels include
the so called "capital conservation buffer", namely a "buffer" of further mandatory capitalisation).

As known, Intesa Sanpaolo, as a bank of significant importance for the European financial system, is
subject to direct supervision of the European Central Bank (ECB). Following the Supervisory Review
and Evaluation Process (SREP) the ECB provides, on an annual basis, a final decision of the capital
requirement that /ntesa Sanpaolo must comply with a consolidated level. On 8 February 2019, Intesa
Sanpaolo received the final decision of the ECB concerning the capital requirement that must be
respected in terms of Common Equity Tier 1 ratio starting from 1 March 2019, which was fixed at



8.88% according to the transitional criteria in force for 2019 and at 9.35% according to the criteria
currently in force.

The following requirements match the determination of the requirement related to the Common Equity
Tier 1 ratio for 2019: a) the SREP requirement in terms of Total Capital ratio equal to 9.5%, which
includes the Pillar I minimum requirement of 8%, in whose context a 4.5% in terms of Common Equity
Tier 1 ratio and 1.5% of additional requirement of Pillar II, entirely in terms of Common Equity Tier 1
ratio; b) the additional requirement related to the Capital Conservation Buffer, equal to 2.5% according
to the criteria in force in 2019 and the O-SII Buffer (Other Systematically Important Institutions Buffer)
additional requirement, equal to 0.38% according to the transitional criteria in force for 2019 and 0.75%
according to the criteria in force in 2021.

It should be noted that, on 12 March 2020, the ECB, taking into account the economic effects of the
coronavirus (COVID-19), announced certain measures aimed at ensuring that banks, under its direct
supervision, are still able to provide credit support to the real economy.

Considering that the European banking sector acquired a significant amount of capital reserves (with
the aim of enabling banks to face with stressful situations such as the COVID-19), the ECB allows
banks to operate temporarily below the capital level defined by the "Pillar 2 Guidance (P2G)" and the
"capital conservation buffer (CCB)". Furthermore, the ECB expects these temporary measures to be
further improved by an appropriate revision of the countercyclical capital buffer (CCyB) by the
competent national authorities.

Moreover, due to the COVID -19 outbreak, with the recommendation of March 27, 2020 the ECB
recommended that at least until 1 October 2020 no dividends are paid out and no irrevocable
commitment to pay out dividends is undertaken by the credit institutions for the financial year 2019 and
2020 and that credit institutions refrain from share buy-backs aimed at remunerating shareholders. ECB
has decided to extend the recommendation on dividends until 1 January 2021with the New
recommendation BCE/2020/35 that repeals Recommendation ECB 2020/19 of March 27.

By taking into account the additional requirement made by the Institution specific Countercyclical
Capital Buffer, the requirement of Common Equity Tier 1 ratio to be respected by Intesa Sanpaolo is
equal to 8.96% according to the transitional criteria in force for 2019 and to 9.36% according to the
criteria currently in force.

Asat 31 December 2019, by taking into account the transitional treatment adopted to mitigate the impact
of the IFRS 9 (IFRS 9 Transitional), the total solvency coefficient of the Intesa Sanpaolo Group (Total
Capital Ratio) is at 17.7%; and the ratio between the Class I Capital (Tier 1) of the Group and the set of
risk-weighted assets (Tier 1 ratio) is at 15.2%. The ratio between the Primary Capital of Class 1 (CET1)
and the risk-weighted assets (Common Equity Tier 1 ratio) is equal to 13.5%.

By taking into consideration the full inclusion of the impact of IFRS 9 (IFRS 9 Fully Loaded), the
solvency coefficients as of 31 December 2019 are the following: Total capital ratio 17.00%; Tier 1 ratio
14.3%; and Common Equity Tier 1 ratio 13.00%.

As for the liquidity, the European rules envisage, inter alia, a short-term indicator (Liquidity Coverage
Ratio or LCR), aimed at creating and maintaining a liquidity buffer able to allow the survival of the
bank for a period of thirty days in case of serious market stress, and a structural liquidity indicator (Net
Stable Funding Ratio or NSFR) with a temporal horizon longer than a year, introduced to ensure that
the assets and liabilities have a sustainable maturity structure.

Both indicators of the Group are widely above the minimum limits provided by the Rules.



The slowdown in economic activity caused by lockdowns across Europe and the measures the
Governments have taken to face the effects of the current health and economic emergency impacted the
Group operations in the different countries of its perimeter. The business continuity management plans
were activated in order to ensure the regular execution of Treasury activities and the proper information
flows to the senior management and the Supervisors.

Despite the overall liquidity situation of the Group is more than safe and under constant control, some
risks may materialize in the coming months, depending on the length of the current lockdown and
expected economic recovery. An important mitigating factor to these risks are the contingency
management policies in place in the Group system of rules and the measures announced by the European
Central Bank, which have granted a higher flexibility in the management of the current liquidity
situation by leveraging on the available liquidity buffers.

Furthermore, the Prudential Basel III Regulation introduced the financial Leverage Ratio,
which measures the coverage degree of Class 1 Capital compared to the total exposure of the
Bank Group. Such index is calculated by considering the assets and exposures out of the
budget. The objective of the indicator is to contain the degree of indebtedness in the balance
sheets of the banks. The ratio is subject to a minimum regulatory limit of 3%.

Although the above-mentioned regulatory evolution (further described under the "Regulatory Section"
on page 125 of this Base Prospectus) envisages a gradual adaptation to the new prudential requirements,
the impacts on the management dynamics of the Bank could be significant.

In this context, a few other relevant provisions are the implementation of Directives 2014/49/EU
(Deposit Guarantee Schemes Directive) of 16 April 2014 and the adoption of the (EU) Regulation no.
806/2014 of the European Parliament and the Council of 15 July 2014 (Single Resolution Mechanism
Regulation, — so called SRMR), which may determine a significant impact on the economic and
financial position of the Bank and the Group, as such rules set the obligation to create specific funds
with financial resources that shall be provided, starting from 2015, by means of contributions by the
credit institutions.

Moreover, the Directive 2014/59/EU of the European Parliament and the Council (Bank Recovery and
Resolution Directive, BRRD, as amended by Directive 879/2019/EU, BRRD II), which, inter alia,
introduced the so called "bail-in", Regulation 2019/876/EU of the European Parliament and the Council,
which amends Regulation 575/2013/EU (s.c. "CRR II") and the Directive of the Parliament and the
Council 2019/878/EU, which amends Directive 2013/36/EU (s.c. "CRD V") must be taken into
consideration and put in force by Intesa Sanpaolo Group.

The Intesa Sanpaolo Group is subject to the BRRD, as amended from time to time, which is intended
to enable a wide range of actions that could be taken towards institutions considered to be at risk of
failing (i.e. the sale of business, the asset separation, the bail-in and the bridge bank). The execution of
any action under the BRRD towards the Intesa Sanpaolo Group could materially affect the value of, or
any repayments linked to the Covered Bonds.

Notwithstanding the above, it should be noted that pursuant to Article 44 (2) of the BRRD, as
implemented in Italy by Article 49 of Legislative Decree No. 180 of 16 November 2015, resolution
authorities shall not exercise the write down or conversion powers in relation to secured liabilities,
including covered bonds or their related hedging instruments, save to the extent that these powers may
be exercised in relation to any part of a secured liability (including covered bonds and their related
hedging instruments), that exceeds the value of the assets, pledge, lien or collateral against which it is
secured.



On 15 October 2013, the Council of the European Union adopted the Council Regulation (EU) No.
1024/2013 granting specific tasks to the ECB as per prudential supervision policies of credit institutions
(the SSM Regulation) in order to establish a single supervisory mechanism (the Single Supervisory
Mechanism or SSM). From 4 November 2014, the SSM Regulation has given the ECB, in conjunction
with the national regulatory authorities of the Eurozone and participating Member States, direct
supervisory responsibility over "banks of significant importance" in the Eurozone.

In this respect, "banks of significant importance" include any Eurozone bank in relation to which(i) the
total value of its assets exceeds €30 billion or — unless the total value of its assets is below €5 billion —
the ratio of its total assets over the national gross domestic product exceeds 20%; (ii) is one of the three
most significant credit institutions established in a Member State; (iii) has requested, or is a recipient
of, direct assistance from the European Financial Stability Facility or the European Stability
Mechanism; (iv) is considered by the ECB to be of significant relevance where it has established
banking subsidiaries in more than one participating Member State and its cross-border assets/liabilities
represent a significant part of its total assets/liabilities. Notwithstanding the fulfilment of the relevant
criteria, the ECB, on its own initiative after consulting with each national competent authority or upon
request by a national competent authority, may declare an institution significant to ensure the consistent
application of high-quality supervisory standards. Intesa Sanpaolo and the Intesa Sanpaolo Group have
been classified, respectively, as a significant supervised entity and a significant supervised group within
the meaning of Regulation (EU) No. 468/2014 of the European Central Bank of 16 April 2014
establishing the framework for co-operation within the Single Supervisory Mechanism between the
European Central Bank and each national competent authority and with national designated authorities
(the SSM Framework Regulation) and, as such, are subject to direct prudential supervision by the
ECB in respect of the functions granted to ECB by the SSM Regulation and the SSM Framework
Regulation.

For further details, please see the "Regulatory Section" on page 139 of this Base Prospectus.

Risks related to the entry into force of new accounting principles and the amendment of the
applied accounting principles

The Bank is exposed, as well as any other entity operating within the bank sector, to the effects deriving

from both the entry into force of new accounting principles and the amendment of the existing ones, in
particular with respect to the international IAS/IFRS accounting principles, as approved and adopted
within the European legal system. On the date of first implementation of the IFRS 9 principle (31 March
2018), the main impacts for the Intesa Sanpaolo Group arose from the application of the new
impairment accounting model (based on the "expected loss" concept instead of the "incurred loss"
approach, which was previously envisaged by IAS 39), which has led to an increase of the value
adjustments. The first implementation of the IFRS 16 principle, on 31 March 2019, caused an impact
on the CET 1, equal to -8 base points.

It is important to highlight that a particular attention should be given towards other interventions on the
accounting regulations, particularly the new international principle IFRS 9 "Financial Instruments",
which replaced the IAS 39 as per the classification and measurement of the financial instruments. Such
principle, which has been approved by means of Regulation (EU) 2067/2016, entered into force on 1
January 2018.

For an in depth analysis of the IFRS 9, the relevant implementation project and the effects of its first
application (FTA) we refer to the chapter on "The transition to the international accounting principle
IFRS 9" included in the balance sheet as of 31 December 2018. We would like to underline that, upon
the first application of the principle, the main impacts for Intesa Sanpaolo Group arised from the
enforcement of the new impairment accounting model (based on the concept of "expected loss" instead
of the approach of the "incurred loss", previously envisaged by IAS 39), which caused an increase of
the value adjustments.



Also with reference to the application of the IFRS 9, we observe that the Intesa Sanpaolo Group, as
mainly a banking financial conglomerate, has decided to avail itself of the option of application of the
so called "Deferral Approach" (or Temporary Exemption), by virtue of which the financial assets and
liabilities of the insurance subsidiary Companies continue to be registered on the balance sheet under
the provisions of IAS 39, awaiting the entry into force of the new international accounting principle on
insurance agreements (IFRS 17), which is scheduled for 2022."

For further details on the first adoption of the new principle please refer to the specific qualitative and
quantitative information included in the chapter “Criteria for the preparation of the Annual Report as of
31 December 2019”.

2. RISKS RELATED TO COVERED BONDS

The risks below have been classified into the following categories:

Risks related to Covered Bonds generally

Risks related to the Guarantor;

Risks related to the underlying, and

Risk related to the market.

Risks related to Covered Bonds generally

The Covered Bonds may not be a suitable investment for all investors

Each potential investor in the Covered Bonds must determine the suitability of that investment in light
of its own circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should:

(1) have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Covered
Bonds, the merits and risks of investing in the Covered Bonds and the information contained
or incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus or any applicable supplement;

(1) have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its
particular financial situation, an investment in the Covered Bonds and the impact the Covered
Bonds will have on its overall investment portfolio;

(i)  have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the
Covered Bonds, including Covered Bonds where the currency for principal or interest payments
is different from the potential investor’s currency;

(iv) understand thoroughly the terms of the Covered Bonds and be familiar with the behaviour of
any relevant indices and financial markets; and

v) be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for
economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear
the applicable risks.

Some Covered Bonds are complex financial instruments. Sophisticated institutional investors generally
do not purchase complex financial instruments as stand-alone investments. They purchase complex
financial instruments as a way to reduce risk or enhance yield with an understood, measured, appropriate

1 Please note that in June 2019 IASB published the Exposure Draft Amendments to IFRS 17 which includes the proposal to postpone the
date of first application to 2022



addition of risk to their overall portfolios. A potential investor should not invest in Covered Bonds
which are complex financial instruments unless it has the expertise (either alone or with a financial
adviser) to evaluate how the Covered Bonds will perform under changing conditions, the resulting
effects on the value of the Covered Bonds and the impact this investment will have on the potential
investor’s overall investment portfolio.

Obligations to make payments when due on the Covered Bonds

The Issuer is liable to make payments when due on the Covered Bonds. The obligations of the Issuer
under the Covered Bonds are direct, unsecured, unconditional and unsubordinated obligations, ranking
pari passu without any preference amongst themselves and equally with its other direct, unsecured,
unconditional and unsubordinated obligations. Consequently, any claim directly against the Issuer in
respect of the Covered Bonds will not benefit from any security or other preferential arrangement
granted by the Issuer. The Covered Bonds Guarantor has no obligation to pay the Guaranteed Amounts
payable under the Covered Bonds Guarantee until the service on the Covered Bonds Guarantor of an
Article 74 Notice to Pay (which has not been withdrawn) or a Notice to Pay. Failure by the Covered
Bonds Guarantor to pay amounts due under the Covered Bonds Guarantee in respect of any Series or
Tranche would constitute a Covered Bonds Guarantor Event of Default which would entitle the
Representative of the Covered Bondholders to serve a Covered Bonds Guarantor Acceleration Notice
and accelerate the obligations of the Covered Bonds Guarantor under the Covered Bonds Guarantee
and entitle the Representative of the Covered Bondholders to enforce the Covered Bonds Guarantee.
The occurrence of an Issuer Event of Default does not constitute a Covered Bonds Guarantor Event of
Default.

The Covered Bonds will not represent an obligation or be the responsibility of any of the Dealers, the
Arranger, the Representative of the Covered Bondholders or any other party to the Transaction
Documents, their officers, members, directors, employees, security holders or incorporators, other than
the Issuer and, upon service of an Article 74 Notice to Pay (which has not been withdrawn) or a Notice
to Pay, the Covered Bonds Guarantor. The Issuer and the Covered Bonds Guarantor will be liable solely
in their corporate capacity and, as to the Covered Bonds Guarantor, limited recourse to the Available
Funds, for their obligations in respect of the Covered Bonds and such obligations will not be the
obligations of their respective officers, members, directors, employees, security holders or
incorporators.

Extendable obligations under the Covered Bonds Guarantee

With respect to the Series of Covered Bonds in respect of which the Extendable Maturity is specified
in the relevant Final Terms, if the Covered Bonds Guarantor is obliged under the Covered Bonds
Guarantee to pay a Guaranteed Amount and has insufficient funds available under the relevant Priority
of Payments to pay such amount on the Maturity Date, then the obligation of the Covered Bonds
Guarantor to pay such Guaranteed Amounts shall automatically be deferred to the relevant Extended
Maturity Date. However, to the extent the Covered Bonds Guarantor has sufficient moneys available to
pay in part the Guaranteed Amount in respect of the relevant Series of Covered Bonds, the Covered
Bonds Guarantor shall make such partial payment in accordance with the relevant Priorities of
Payments, as described in Condition 8 (Redemption and Purchase) on the relevant Maturity Date and
any subsequent CB Payment Date falling prior to the relevant Extended Maturity Date. Payment of the
unpaid amount shall be deferred automatically until the applicable Extended Maturity Date. Interest
will continue to accrue and be payable on the unpaid Guaranteed Amount on the basis set out in the
applicable Final Terms or, if not set out therein, in Condition 8 (Redemption and Purchase), mutatis
mutandis. In these circumstances, except where the Covered Bonds Guarantor has failed to apply money
in accordance with the relevant Priorities of Payments in accordance with Condition 8 (Redemption and
Purchase), failure by the Covered Bonds Guarantor to pay the relevant Guaranteed Amount on the
Maturity Date or any subsequent CB Payment Date falling prior to the Extended Maturity Date (or the
relevant later date following any applicable grace period) shall not constitute a Covered Bonds



Guarantor Events of Default. However, failure by the Covered Bonds Guarantor to pay any guaranteed
amount or the balance thereof, as the case may be, on the relevant Extended Maturity Date and/or pay
any other amount due under the Covered Bonds Guarantee will (subject to any applicable grace period)
constitute a Covered Bonds Guarantor Events of Default.

Risks related to the structure of a particular issue of Covered Bonds

Covered Bonds issued under the Programme will either be fungible with an existing Series (in which
case they will form part of such Series) or have different terms to an existing Series (in which case they
will constitute a new Series). All Covered Bonds issued from time to time will rank pari passu with
each other in all respects and will share equally in the security granted by the Covered Bonds Guarantor
under the Covered Bonds Guarantee. If an Issuer Event of Default and/or a Covered Bonds Guarantor
Event of Default occurs and results in acceleration, all Covered Bonds of all Series will accelerate at
the same time.

A wide range of Covered Bonds may be issued under the Programme. A number of these Covered
Bonds may have features which contain particular risks for potential investors. Under no circumstances
shall the interest payments for the Covered Bondholder be less than zero. Set out below is a description
of the most common of such features:

(a) Covered Bonds subject to optional redemption by the Issuer

An optional redemption feature of Covered Bonds is likely to limit their market value. During any
period when the Issuer may elect to redeem Covered Bonds, the market value of those Covered Bonds
generally will not rise substantially above the price at which they can be redeemed. This also may be
true prior to any redemption period.

The Issuer may be expected to redeem Covered Bonds when its cost of borrowing is lower than the
interest rate on the Covered Bonds. At those times, an investor generally would not be able to reinvest
the redemption proceeds at an effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Covered Bonds
being redeemed and may only be able to do so at a significantly lower rate. Potential investors should
consider reinvestment risk in light of other investments available at that time.

(b) Zero Coupon Covered Bonds

The Issuer may issue Covered Bonds which do not pay current interest but are issued at a discount from
their nominal value or premium from their principal amount. Such Covered Bonds are characterised by
the circumstance that the relevant covered bondholders, instead of benefitting from periodical interest
payments, shall be granted an interest income consisting in the difference between the redemption price
and the issue price, which difference shall reflect the market interest rate. A holder of a zero coupon
covered bond is exposed to the risk that the price of such covered bond falls as a result of changes in
the market interest rate. Prices of zero coupon Covered Bonds are more volatile than prices of fixed rate
Covered Bonds and are likely to respond to a greater degree to market interest rate changes than interest
bearing Covered Bonds with a similar maturity. Generally, the longer the remaining terms of such
Covered Bonds, the greater the price volatility as compared to conventional interest-bearing securities
with comparable maturities.

(c) Fixed/Floating Rate Covered Bonds

Fixed/Floating Rate Covered Bonds may bear interest at a rate that the Issuer may elect to convert from
a fixed rate to a floating rate or from a floating rate to a fixed rate. The Issuer’s ability to convert the
interest rate will affect the secondary market and the market value of the Covered Bonds since the Issuer
may be expected to convert the rate when it is likely to produce a lower overall cost of borrowing. If
the Issuer converts from a fixed rate to a floating rate, the spread on the Fixed/Floating Rate Covered



Bonds may be less favourable than then prevailing spreads on comparable Floating Rate Covered Bonds
tied to the same reference rate. In addition, the new floating rate at any time may be lower than the rates
on other Covered Bonds. If the Issuer converts from a floating rate to a fixed rate, the fixed rate may be
lower than then prevailing rates on its Covered Bonds.

(d) Covered Bonds issued at a substantial discount or premium

The market values of securities issued at a substantial discount or premium from their principal amount
tend to fluctuate more in relation to general changes in interest rates than do prices for conventional
interest-bearing securities. Generally, the longer the remaining term of the securities, the greater the
price volatility as compared to conventional interest-bearing securities with comparable maturities.

Certain decisions of Representative of the Covered Bondholders taken without the consent or
sanction of any of the Covered Bondholders

Pursuant to the Rules of the Organisation of the Covered Bondholders, the Representative of the
Covered Bondholders may, without the consent or sanction of any of the Covered Bondholders concur
with the Issuer and/or the Covered Bonds Guarantor and any other relevant parties in making or
sanctioning any modifications to the Rules of the Organisation of the Covered Bondholders, the
Conditions and/or the other Transaction Documents:

(1) provided that in the opinion of the Representative of the Covered Bondholders such
modification is not materially prejudicial to the interests of any of the Covered Bondholders of
any Series; or

(i1) which in the opinion of the Representative of the Covered Bondholders are made to correct a
manifest error or an error established as such to the satisfaction of the Representative of the
Covered Bondholders or of a formal, minor or technical nature, or are made to comply with
mandatory provisions of law.

In establishing whether an error is established as such, the Representative of the Covered Bondholders
may have regard to any evidence on which the Representative of the Covered Bondholders considers
reasonable to rely on, and may, but shall not be obliged to, have regard to all or any of the following:

(1) a certificate from a Relevant Dealer, stating the intention of the parties to the relevant
Transaction Document, confirming nothing has been said to, or by, the investors or any other
parties which is in any way inconsistent with such stated intention and stating the modification
to the relevant Transaction Document that is required to reflect such intention;

(i1) confirmation from the Rating Agency that, after giving effect to such modification, the Covered
Bonds shall continue to have the same credit ratings as those assigned to them immediately
prior to the modification.

Covered Bondholders are bound by Extraordinary Resolutions and Programme Resolutions

A meeting of Covered Bondholders may be called to consider matters which affect the rights and
interests of Covered Bondholders. These include (but are not limited to): (i) instructing the
Representative of the Covered Bondholders to take enforcement action against the Issuer and/or the
Covered Bonds Guarantor; (ii) reduction or cancellation of the amount payable or, where applicable,
modification of the method of calculating the amount payable or modification of the date of payment
or, where applicable, modification of the method of calculating the date of payment in respect of any
principal or interest in respect of the Covered Bonds; (iii) alteration of the currency in which payments
under the Covered Bonds are to be made; (iv) alteration of the majority required to pass an Extraordinary
Resolution; and (v) any amendments to the Covered Bonds Guarantee or the Deed of Pledge (except in



a manner determined by the Representative of the Covered Bondholders not to be materially prejudicial
to the interests of the Covered Bondholders of any Series).

Certain decisions of Covered Bondholders shall be taken at a Programme level by means of Programme
Resolution. A Programme Resolution will bind all Covered Bondholders, irrespective of whether they
attended the meeting or voted in favour of the Programme Resolution. No Resolution, other than a
Programme Resolution, passed by the holders of one Series of Covered Bonds will be effective in
respect of another Series unless it is sanctioned by an Ordinary Resolution or an Extraordinary
Resolution, as the case may require, of the holders of that other Series. Any Resolution passed at a
meeting of the Covered Bondholders of a Series shall bind all other holders of that Series, irrespective
of whether they attended the meeting and whether they voted in favour of the relevant Resolution.

It should also be noted that after the delivery of a Notice to Pay, the protection and exercise of the
Covered Bondholders’ rights against the Issuer will be exercised by the Covered Bonds Guarantor (or
the Representative of the Bondholders on its behalf). The rights and powers of the Covered Bondholders
may only be exercised in accordance with the Rules of the Organisation of the Covered Bondholders.
In addition, after the delivery of a Covered Bonds Guarantor Acceleration Notice, the protection and
exercise of the Covered Bondholders’ rights against the Covered Bonds Guarantor and the security
under the Covered Bonds Guarantee is one of the duties of the Representative of the Covered
Bondholders. The Conditions limit the ability of each individual Covered Bondholder to commence
proceedings against the Covered Bonds Guarantor by conferring on the meeting of the Covered
Bondholders the power to determine in accordance with the Rules of the Organisation of the Covered
Bondholders, whether any Covered Bondholder may commence any such individual actions.

Representative of the Covered Bondholders' powers may affect the interests of the Covered
Bondholders

In the exercise of its powers, trusts, authorities and discretions the Representative of the Covered
Bondholders shall only have regard to the interests of the Covered Bondholders and the other Secured
Creditors but if, in the opinion of the Representative of the Covered Bondholders, there is a conflict
between these interests, the Representative of the Covered Bondholders shall have regard solely to the
interests of the Covered Bondholders.

If, in connection with the exercise of its powers, trusts, authorities or discretions, the Representative of
the Covered Bondholders is of the opinion that the interests of the Covered Bondholders of any one or
more Series would be materially prejudiced thereby, the Representative of the Covered Bondholders
shall not exercise such power, trust, authority or discretion without the approval of such Covered
Bondholders by Extraordinary Resolution or by a direction in writing of such Covered Bondholders of
at least 75 per cent. of the Outstanding Principal Balance of the Covered Bonds of the relevant Series.

Credit rating of the Covered Bonds may not reflect all risks
The rating assigned to the Covered Bonds address, inter alia:

the likelihood of full and timely payment to Covered Bondholders of all payments of interest on
each CB Payment Date;

the likelihood of timely payment of principal in relation to the Hard Bullet Covered Bonds on the
Maturity Date; and

the likelihood of ultimate payment of principal in relation to Covered Bonds on (a) the Maturity
Date thereof, or (b) if the Covered Bonds are subject to an Extended Maturity Date in accordance
with the applicable Final Terms, the Extended Maturity Date thereof.



Whether or not a rating in relation to any Series of Covered Bonds will be issued by a credit rating
agency established in the European Union or in the United Kingdom (UK) and registered under the
CRA Regulation will be disclosed in the relevant Final Terms. The credit ratings included or referred
to in this Base Prospectus have been issued by Moody's France S.A.S.. In general, European regulated
investors are restricted from using a rating for regulatory purposes if such rating is not issued by a credit
rating agency established in the European Union or the UK and registered under the CRA Regulation
(or is endorsed and published or distributed by subscription by such a credit rating agency in accordance
with the CRA Regulation) unless (1) the rating is provided by a credit rating agency not established in
the EEA or the UK but endorsed by a credit rating agency established in the EEA or the UK and
registered under the CRA Regulation or (2) the rating is provided by a credit rating agency not
established in the EEA or the UK which is certified under the CRA Regulation. The European Securities
and Markets Authority (the ESMA) is obliged to maintain on its website,
https://www.esma.europa.eu/page/List-registered-and-certified-CRAs, a list of credit rating agencies
registered and certified in accordance with the CRA Regulation. Certain information with respect to the
credit rating agencies and ratings will be disclosed in the Final Terms.

The expected rating of the Covered Bonds is set out in the relevant Final Terms for each Series of
Covered Bonds. The Rating Agency may lower its ratings or withdraw its rating if, in its sole judgement,
the credit quality of the Issuer or the Covered Bonds has declined or is in question, and the Issuer has
not undertaken to maintain a rating. In addition, at any time the Rating Agency may revise its relevant
rating methodology with the result that, amongst other things, any rating assigned to the Covered Bonds
may be lowered. If any rating assigned to the Covered Bonds is lowered or withdrawn, the market value
of the Covered Bonds may reduce.

A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be revised or withdrawn
by the rating agency. The ratings may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure,
market, additional factors discussed above and other factors that may affect the value of the Covered
Bonds.

The return on an investment in Covered Bonds will be affected by charges incurred by investors

An investor’s total return on an investment in any Covered Bonds will be affected by the level of fees
charged by the nominee service provider and/or clearing system used by the investor. Such a person or
institution may charge fees for the opening and operation of one or more investment accounts, transfers
of Covered Bonds, custody services and on payments of interest, principal and other amounts. Potential
investors are therefore advised to investigate the basis on which any such fees will be charged on the
relevant Covered Bonds. Certain information in that respect are available under the section headed
"General Information".

Law 130

Law 130 was enacted in Italy in April 1999 and amended to allow for the issuance of covered bonds in
2005. Law 130 was further amended during the following years.

As at the date of this Base Prospectus, no interpretation of the application of Law 130 as it relates to
covered bonds has been issued by any Italian court or governmental or regulatory authority, except for
(i) the MEF Decree setting out the technical requirements of the guarantee which may be given in
respect of covered bonds, (ii) the Bol OBG Regulations concerning guidelines on the valuation of assets,
the procedure for purchasing integration assets and controls required to ensure compliance with the
legislation, and (iii) the clarifications, provided for by the Bank of Italy, to certain queries concerning
the OBG Regulations submitted to the such authority by Italian banks and the Italian Banking
Association (A4ssociazione Bancaria Italiana). Consequently, it is possible that such or different
authorities may issue further regulations relating to Law 130 or the interpretation thereof, the impact of
which cannot be predicted by the Issuer as at the date of this Base Prospectus.



Change of law

The structure of the Programme and, inter alia, the issue of the Covered Bonds and the rating assigned
to the Covered Bonds are based on the relevant law, tax and administrative practice in effect at the date
of this Base Prospectus, and having due regard to the expected tax treatment of all relevant entities
under such law and practice. No assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible change to the
law (including any change in regulation which may occur without a change in primary legislation), tax
or administrative practice or its interpretation will not change after the Issue Date of any Series or that
such change will not adversely impact the structure of the Programme and the treatment of the Covered
Bonds. This Base Prospectus will not be updated to reflect any such changes or events.

The regulation and reform of “benchmarks” may adversely affect the value of Covered Bonds linked
to such “benchmarks”

The London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR), the Euro Interbank Offered Rate (EURIBOR) and other
indices which are deemed to be “benchmarks” are the subject of recent national, international and other
regulatory guidance and proposals for reform. Some of these reforms are already effective while others
are still to be implemented. These reforms may cause such benchmarks to perform differently than in
the past, or to disappear entirely, or have other consequences which cannot be predicted. Any such
consequence could have a material adverse effect on any Covered Bonds linked to such a “benchmark”.

Regulation (EU) No. 2016/1011 (the Benchmarks Regulation) on indices used as benchmarks in
financial instruments and financial contracts or to measure the performance of investment fund became
applicable from 1 January 2018. The Benchmarks Regulation applies to the provision of benchmarks,
the contribution of input data to a benchmark and the use of a benchmark, within the EU. The
Benchmarks Regulation could have a material impact on any Covered Bonds linked to LIBOR,
EURIBOR or another benchmark rate or index, in particular, if the methodology or other terms of the
“benchmark” are changed in order to comply with the terms of the Benchmarks Regulation and such
changes could (amongst other things) have the effect of reducing or increasing the rate or level, or
affecting the volatility of the published rate or level of the “benchmark”.

More broadly, any of the international, national or other proposals for reform, or the general increased
regulatory scrutiny of “Benchmarks”, could increase the costs and risks of administering or otherwise
participating in the setting of a “Benchmark” and complying with any such regulations or requirements.
Such factors may have the effect of discouraging market participants from continuing to administer or
contribute to certain "benchmarks," trigger changes in the rules or methodologies used in certain
"benchmarks" or lead to the discontinuance or unavailability of quotes of certain "benchmarks".

As an example of such benchmark reforms, on 27 July 2017 the UK Financial Conduct Authority
announced that it will no longer persuade or compel banks to submit rates for the calculation of the
LIBOR benchmark after 2021 and, on 12 July 2018, announced that the LIBOR benchmark may cease
to be a regulated benchmark under the Benchmark Regulation. Such announcements indicate that the
continuation of LIBOR on the current basis(or at all) cannot and will not be guaranteed after 2021.In
addition, on 29 November 2017, the Bank of England and the FCA announced that, from January 2018,
its Working Group on Sterling Risk-Free Rates has been mandated with implementing a broad-based
transition to the Sterling Overnight Index Average (SONIA) over the next four years across sterling
bond, loan and derivative markets, so that SONIA is established as the primary sterling interest rate
benchmark by the end of 2021.

Separate workstreams are also underway in Europe to provide a fallback by reference to a euro risk-
free rate (based on a euro overnight risk-free rate as adjusted by a methodology to create a term rate).
On 13 September 2018, the working group on Euro risk-free rates recommended the new Euro short-
term rate (ESTR) as the new risk free rate for the area euro. The €STR was published for the first time
on 2 October 2019. The euro risk free-rate working group for the euro area has also published a set of



guiding principles and high level recommendations for fallback provisions in, amongst other things,
new euro denominated cash products (including bonds) referencing EURIBOR. The guiding principles
indicate, among other things, that continuing to reference EURIBOR in relevant contracts (without
robust fallback provisions) may increase the risk to the euro area financial system.

Actually, although EURIBOR has been reformed in order to comply with the terms of the Benchmark
Regulation, it remains uncertain as to system how long it will continue in its current form, or whether

it will be further reformed or replaced with €STR or an alternative benchmark. It is not possible to

predict with certainty whether, and to what extent, LIBOR and EURIBOR will continue to be supported
going forwards.

This may cause LIBOR and EURIBOR to perform differently than they have done in the past and may
have other consequences which cannot be predicted. Such factors may have (without limitation) the
following effects on certain benchmarks: (i) discouraging market participants from continuing to
administer or contribute to a benchmark; (ii) triggering changes in the rules or methodologies used in
the benchmark and/or (iii) leading to the disappearance of the benchmark. Any of the above changes or
any other consequential changes as a result of international or national reforms or other initiatives or
investigations, could have a material adverse effect on the value of and return on any Covered Bond
linked to, referencing, or otherwise dependent (in whole or in part) upon, a benchmark.

The terms and conditions of the Covered Bonds provide that, if the Issuer (in consultation with the
Calculation Agent) determines that a Benchmark Event (as defined in the Conditions) has occurred
(including, but not limited to, a Reference Rate (as defined in the Conditions) ceasing to be provided or
upon a material change of a Reference Rate), if applicable, then the Issuer shall use reasonable
endeavours to appoint an Independent Adviser for the purposes of determining a Successor Rate or an
Alternative Benchmark Rate (as further described in Condition 6(f) (Fallback Provisions) of the Terms
and Conditions of the Covered Bonds and, if applicable, an Adjustment Spread. If the Issuer is unable
to appoint an Independent Adviser or if the Independent Adviser and the Issuer cannot agree upon, or
cannot select, the Successor Rate or Alternative Benchmark Rate, the Issuer may determine the
replacement rate, provided that if the Issuer is unable or unwilling to determine the Successor Rate or
Alternative Benchmark Rate, the further fallbacks described in the Terms and Conditions of the
Covered Bonds shall apply. In certain circumstances, including but not limited to where the Issuer is
unable or unwilling to determine an Alternative Benchmark Rate and Alternative Relevant Screen Page,
the ultimate fallback for the purposes of calculation of interest for a particular Interest Period may result
in the rate of interest of the last preceding Interest Period being used. This may result in effective
application of a fixed rate of interest for Covered Bonds initially designated to be Floating Rate Covered
Bonds. In addition, due to the uncertainty concerning the availability of Successor Rates and Alternative
Reference Rates and the involvement of an Independent Adviser, the relevant fallback provisions may
not operate as intended at the relevant time.

The use of a Successor Rate or an Alternative Benchmark Rate may result in interest payments that are
substantially lower than or that do not otherwise correlate over time with the payments that could have
been made on the Covered Bonds if the relevant benchmark remained available in its current form.
Furthermore, if the Issuer is unable to appoint an Independent Adviser or if the Issuer fails to agree a
Successor Rate or an Alternative Benchmark Rate or adjustment spread, if applicable with the
Independent Adviser, the Issuer may have to exercise its discretion to determine (or to elect not to
determine) an Alternative Benchmark Rate or adjustment spread, if applicable in a situation in which it
is presented with a conflict of interest. In addition, while any Adjustment Spread may be expected to
be designed to eliminate or minimise any potential transfer of value between counterparties, the
application of the Adjustment Spread to the Covered Bonds may not do so and may result in the Covered
Bonds performing differently (which may include payment of a lower interest rate) than they would do
if the Reference Rate were to continue to apply in its current form.



Investors should consult their own independent advisers and make their own assessment about the
potential risks imposed by the Benchmark Regulation or any of the international or national reforms
and the possible application of the benchmark replacement provisions of the Covered Bonds,
investigations and licensing issues in making any investment decision with respect to the Covered
Bonds linked to or referencing such a “benchmark”.

Controls over the transaction

The Bol OBG Regulations require that certain controls be performed by the Issuer (see paragraph
headed "Controls over the transaction" under the section headed “Selected aspects of Italian law”),
aimed, inter alia, at mitigating the risk that any obligation of the Issuer or the Covered Bonds Guarantor
under the Covered Bonds is not complied with. Whilst the Issuer believes that it has implemented the
appropriate policies and controls in compliance with the relevant requirements, investors should note
that there is no assurance that such compliance ensures that the aforesaid controls are actually performed
and that any failure to properly implement the relevant policies and controls could have an adverse
effect on the Issuer’s or the Covered Bonds Guarantor’s ability to perform their obligations under the
Covered Bonds.

Risks related to the Guarantor

Covered Bond Guarantor only obliged to pay the Guaranteed Amounts on the Due for Payment Date

The Covered Bonds Guarantor has no obligation to pay the Guaranteed Amounts payable under the
Covered Bonds Guarantee until service by the Representative of the Covered Bondholders:

(1) on the Covered Bonds Guarantor, following the occurrence of an Article 74 Event or an Issuer
Event of Default, respectively, of an Article 74 Notice to Pay (which has not been withdrawn)
or a Notice to Pay; and

(i1) following the occurrence of a Covered Bonds Guarantor Event of Default, on the Covered
Bonds Guarantor of a Covered Bonds Guarantor Acceleration Notice.

An Article 74 Notice to Pay can only be served if an Article 74 Event occurs and results in service by
the Representative of the Covered Bondholders of an Article 74 Notice to Pay on the Issuer and the
Covered Bonds Guarantor. A Notice to Pay can only be served if an Issuer Event of Default occurs and
results in service by the Representative of the Covered Bondholders of a Notice to Pay on the Issuer
and the Covered Bonds Guarantor. A Covered Bonds Guarantor Acceleration Notice can only be served
if a Covered Bonds Guarantor Events of Default occurs.

Following service of an Article 74 Notice to Pay (which has not been withdrawn) or a Notice to Pay on
the Covered Bonds Guarantor (provided that (a) an Article 74 Event or an Issuer Event of Default has
occurred and (b) no Covered Bonds Guarantor Acceleration Notice has been served) under the terms of
the Covered Bonds Guarantee, the Covered Bonds Guarantor will be obliged to pay the Guaranteed
Amounts as on the Due for Payment Date. Such payments will be subject to and will be made in
accordance with the Post-Issuer Default Priority of Payments. In these circumstances, other than the
Guaranteed Amounts, the Covered Bonds Guarantor will not be obliged to pay any amount, for example
in respect of broken funding indemnities, penalties, premiums, default interest or interest on interest
which may accrue on or in respect of the Covered Bonds.

Pursuant to the Covered Bonds Guarantee, following the occurrence of an Article 74 Event or an Issuer
Event of Default and service, respectively, of an Article 74 Notice to Pay (which has not been
withdrawn) or a Notice to Pay, but prior to the occurrence of any Covered Bonds Guarantor Event of
Default, the Covered Bonds Guarantor shall substitute the Issuer in every and all obligations of the
Issuer towards the Covered Bondholders, so that the rights of payment of the Covered Bondholders in



such circumstance will only be the right to receive payments of the Scheduled Interest and the
Scheduled Principal from the Covered Bonds Guarantor on the Scheduled Due for Payment Date. In
consideration of the substitution of the Covered Bonds Guarantor in the performance of the payment
obligations of the Issuer under the Covered Bonds, the Covered Bonds Guarantor (directly or through
the Representative of the Covered Bondholders) shall exercise, on an exclusive basis, the right of the
Covered Bondholders vis-a-vis the Issuer and any amount recovered from the Issuer will be part of the
Available Funds.

Furthermore, please note that the above restrictions are provided for by either the MEF Decree or
contractual agreements between the parties of the Covered Bonds Guarantee, and there is no case-law
or other official interpretation on this issue. Therefore, we cannot exclude that a court might uphold a
Covered Bondholder’s right to act directly against the Issuer.

Limited resources available to the Covered Bonds Guarantor

The Covered Bonds Guarantor’s ability to meet its obligations under the Covered Bonds Guarantee will
depend on the realisable value of the Portfolio, the amount of principal and revenue proceeds generated
by the Portfolio and/or the Eligible Investments and Authorised Investments and the timing thereof and
amounts received from the Hedging Counterparties, the Receivables Collection Account Bank and the
Account Bank. The Covered Bonds Guarantor will not have any other source of funds available to meet
its obligations under the Covered Bonds Guarantee.

If a Covered Bonds Guarantor Event of Default occurs, the proceeds of the Portfolio, the Eligible
Investments and Authorised Investments and the amounts received from the Hedging Counterparties,
the Receivables Collection Account Bank and the Account Bank, may not be sufficient to meet the
claims of all the Secured Creditors, including the Covered Bondholders. If the Secured Creditors have
not received the full amount due to them pursuant to the terms of the Transaction Documents, then they
may still have an unsecured claim against the Issuer for the shortfall. There is no guarantee that the
Issuer will have sufficient funds to pay that shortfall.

Covered Bondholders should note that the Asset Coverage Test and the Amortisation Test have been
structured to ensure that the outstanding nominal amount of the assets included in the Portfolio shall be
greater than or equal to the Outstanding Principal Balance of the Covered Bonds. In addition the MEF
Decree and the Bol OBG Regulations provide for certain further tests aimed at ensuring that (a) the net
present value of the Eligible Portfolio (net of certain costs) shall be greater than or equal to the net
present value of the Covered Bonds; and (b) the amount of interest and other revenues generated by the
assets included in the Portfolio (net of certain costs) shall be equal to, or greater than, the interest and
costs due by the Issuer under the Covered Bonds (for a full description of the Tests see Section "Credit
Structure").

However there is no assurance that there will not be a shortfall in the amounts available to the Covered
Bonds Guarantor to meet its obligations under the Covered Bonds Guarantee.

Reliance of the Covered Bonds Guarantor on third parties

The Covered Bonds Guarantor has entered into agreements with a number of third parties, which have
agreed to perform services for the Covered Bonds Guarantor. In particular, but without limitation, the
Servicer has been (and Successor Servicer may be) appointed to service, in accordance with the terms
of the Servicing Agreement, Public Assets and Integration Assets included in the Portfolio and the Asset
Monitor has been appointed to monitor compliance with the Tests.

In the event that any of those parties fails to perform its obligations under the relevant agreement to
which it is a party, the realisable value of the Portfolio or any part thereof may be affected, or, pending
such realisation (if the Portfolio or any part thereof cannot be sold), the ability of the Covered Bonds



Guarantor to make payments under the Covered Bonds Guarantee may be affected. For instance, if the
Servicer has failed to adequately administer the Portfolio, this may lead to higher incidences of non-
payment or default by Debtors. The Covered Bonds Guarantor is also reliant on the Hedging
Counterparties to provide it with the funds matching its obligations under the Covered Bonds
Guarantee.

If an event of default occurs in relation to the Servicer pursuant to the terms of the Servicing Agreement,
then the Covered Bonds Guarantor with the prior notice to the Representative of the Covered
Bondholders will be entitled to terminate the appointment of the Servicer and with the prior consent of
the Representative of the Covered Bondholders and prior notice to the Rating Agency will be entitled
to appoint a Successor Servicer in its place. There can be no assurance that a successor with sufficient
experience in carrying out the activities of the Servicer would be found and would be willing and able
to carry out the relevant activities on the terms of the Servicing Agreement. The ability of a Successor
Servicer to perform fully the required services would depend, among other things, on the information,
software and records available at the time of the appointment. Any delay or inability to appoint a
Successor Servicer may affect the realisable value of the Portfolio or any part thereof, and/or the ability
of the Covered Bonds Guarantor to make payments under the Covered Bonds Guarantee.

The Representative of the Covered Bondholders is not obliged in any circumstances to act as a Servicer
or to monitor the performance by the Servicer of its obligations.

Reliance on Hedging Counterparties

To provide a hedge against interest rate risks and/or currency risk in respect of each Series of the
Covered Bonds issued under the Programme, the Covered Bonds Guarantor may enter into CB Swaps
with the CB Hedging Counterparties. Additionally, to provide a hedge against interest rate risk and/or
currency risk on the Portfolio, the Covered Bonds Guarantor will enter into TBG Swaps in respect of
each assigned portfolio (together the TBG Swaps and the CB Swaps, the Swap Agreements) with the
TBG Hedging Counterparties (together the TBG Hedging Counterparties and the CB Hedging
Counterparties, the Hedging Counterparties).

If the Covered Bonds Guarantor fails to make timely payments of amounts due under any Swap
Agreement, then it will (unless otherwise stated in the relevant Swap Agreement) have defaulted under
that Swap Agreement. A Hedging Counterparty is (unless otherwise stated in the relevant Master
Agreement) only obliged to make payments to the Covered Bonds Guarantor as long as the Covered
Bonds Guarantor complies with its payment obligations under the relevant Swap Agreement. In
circumstances where non-payment by the Covered Bonds Guarantor under a Swap Agreement does not
result in a default under that Swap Agreement, the Hedging Counterparty may be obliged to make
payments to the Covered Bonds Guarantor pursuant to the Master Agreements as if payment had been
made by the Covered Bonds Guarantor. Any amounts not paid by the Covered Bonds Guarantor to a
Hedging Counterparty may in such circumstances incur additional amounts of interest by the Covered
Bonds Guarantor, which would rank senior to amounts due on the Covered Bonds. If the Hedging
Counterparty is not obliged to make payments or if it defaults in its obligations to make payments of
amounts in the relevant currency equal to the full amount to be paid to the Covered Bonds Guarantor
on the payment date under the Master Agreements, the Covered Bonds Guarantor will be exposed to
changes in the relevant currency exchange rates to Euro and to any changes in the relevant rates of
interest.

If a Swap Agreement terminates, then the Covered Bonds Guarantor may be obliged to make a
termination payment to the relevant Hedging Counterparty. There can be no assurance that the Covered
Bonds Guarantor will have sufficient funds available to make a termination payment under the relevant
Swap Agreement, nor can there be any assurance that the Covered Bonds Guarantor will be able to
enter into a replacement swap agreement, or if one is entered into, that the credit rating of the
replacement hedging counterparty will be sufficiently high to prevent a downgrade of the then current



ratings of the Covered Bonds by the Rating Agency. In addition, the Master Agreements may provide
that notwithstanding any relevant Hedging Counterparty ceasing to be assigned the requisite ratings and
it failing to take the remedial action set out in the relevant Master Agreement, the Covered Bonds
Guarantor may not terminate the Master Agreement until a replacement hedging counterparty has been
found. There can be no assurance that the Covered Bonds Guarantor will be able to enter into a
replacement swap agreement with a replacement hedging counterparty with the requisite ratings and at
the same terms and conditions subsequent swap agreement.

If the Covered Bonds Guarantor is obliged to pay a termination payment under any Master Agreement,
such termination payment may rank ahead of amounts due on the Covered Bonds and with amounts due
under the Covered Bonds Guarantee. Accordingly, the obligation to pay a termination payment may
adversely affect the ability of the Covered Bonds Guarantor to meet its obligations under the Covered
Bonds Guarantee.

No Gross-up for Taxes by the Covered Bonds Guarantor

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Base Prospectus, if withholding of, or deduction of any
present or future taxes, duties, assessments or charges of whatever nature is imposed by or on behalf of
Italy, any authority therein or thereof having power to tax, the Covered Bonds Guarantor will make the
required withholding or deduction of such taxes, duties, assessments or charges for the account of the
Covered Bondholders, as the case may be, and shall not be obliged to pay any additional amounts to
the Covered Bondholders.

Risks related to the underlying

Limits to the integration

Under the Bol OBG Regulations, any integration, whether through Public Assets or Integration Assets,
shall be carried out in accordance with the modalities, and subject to the limits, set out in the Bol OBG
Regulations (see paragraph headed “Tests set out in the MEF Decree” under the section headed
“Selected aspects of Italian law ™).

More specifically, under the Bol OBG Regulations, integration is allowed exclusively for the purpose
of (i) complying with the tests provided for under the MEF Decree; (ii) complying with any contractual
overcollateralisation requirements agreed by the parties to the relevant agreements or (iii) complying
with the Integration Assets Limit.

Investors should note that the integration is not allowed in circumstances other than as set out in the
Bol OBG Regulations and specified above.

Limited description of the Portfolio

Covered Bondholders may not receive detailed statistics or information in relation to the Public Assets
and Integration Assets included in the Portfolio, because it is expected that the constitution of the
Portfolio will frequently change due to, for instance:

6)] the Seller selling further Public Assets and Integration Assets,

(i1) the Seller repurchasing certain Public Assets and Integration Assets in accordance with the
Master Transfer Agreement; and

(iii)  the Seller (as long as it is the Servicer in the context of the Programme) being granted by the
Covered Bonds Guarantor with a wide power to renegotiate the terms and conditions of Public
Assets and Integration Assets included in the Portfolio.



However, each Receivable and Security being, from time to time, part of the Portfolio, will be required
to meet the Criteria and/or the characteristics (as applicable) set out in the Master Transfer Agreement
and to conform to the representations and warranties granted by the Seller under the Warranty and
Indemnity Agreement (see paragraph headed “Warranty and Indemnity Agreement” under the section
headed “Description of the Transaction Documents”). In addition, the Tests are intended to ensure, inter
alia, that the ratio of the Covered Bonds Guarantor’s assets to the Covered Bonds is maintained at a
certain minimum level and the Asset Cover Report to be provided by the Calculation Agent on each
Calculation Date will set out, inter alia, certain information in relation to the Tests.

In accordance with the Portfolio Administration Agreement, any Additional Seller may sell to the
Covered Bonds Guarantor, and the latter shall purchase, Public Assets and Integration Assets, subject
to, inter alia: (i) the execution of a master transfer agreement substantially in the form of the Master
Transfer Agreement, and (ii) the granting of a subordinated loan by such Additional Seller for the
purpose of financing the purchase of Public Assets or Integration Assets from it, in accordance with the
provision of a subordinated loan agreement to be executed substantially in the form of the Subordinated
Loan Agreement.

Sale of Selected Assets and/or Integration Assets following the occurrence of an Article 74 Event or
an Issuer Event of Default

Following the service of an Article 74 Notice to Pay (which has not been withdrawn) or of a Notice to
Pay and prior to the occurrence of a Covered Bonds Guarantor Event of Default, if necessary in order
to effect timely payments under the Covered Bonds, as determined by the Calculation Agent in
consultation with the Portfolio Manager, then the Covered Bonds Guarantor, shall direct the Servicer
to sell Selected Assets (selected on a random basis) and/ or Integration Assets, provided that no
representations and warranties will be given by the Covered Bonds Guarantor in respect of the Selected
Assets sold (see “Description of the Transaction Documents — Portfolio Administration Agreement”™).

There is no guarantee that a buyer will be found to acquire Selected Assets and/or Integration Assets at
the times required and there can be no guarantee or assurance as to the price which may be able to be
obtained for such Selected Assets and/or Integration Assets, which may affect payments under the
Covered Bonds Guarantee. However, the Selected Assets and/or Integration Assets may not be sold by
the Covered Bonds Guarantor (through the Servicer) for an amount lower than the Adjusted Required
Redemption Amount for the relevant Series of Covered Bonds until 6 (six) months prior to the Maturity
Date in respect of such Covered Bonds or (if the same is specified as applicable in the relevant Final
Terms) the Extended Maturity Date in respect of such Covered Bonds. If, inter alia, Selected Assets
and/or Integration Assets have not been sold (in whole or in part) in an amount equal to the Adjusted
Required Redemption Amount by the date which is 6 (six) months prior to the Maturity Date or
Extended Maturity Date of a Series of Covered Bonds which are not Long Dated Covered Bonds, the
Covered Bonds Guarantor (through the Servicer), is obliged to sell the Selected Assets and/or
Integration Assets for the best price reasonably available notwithstanding that such price may be less
than the Adjusted Required Redemption Amount (see paragraph headed "Portfolio Administration
Agreement" under the section headed “Description of the Transaction Documents”).

Realisation of assets following the occurrence of a Covered Bonds Guarantor Event of Default

If a Covered Bonds Guarantor Events of Default occurs and a Covered Bonds Guarantor Acceleration
Notice is served on the Covered Bonds Guarantor, then the Representative of the Covered Bondholders
shall, in the name and on behalf of the Covered Bonds Guarantor, direct the Servicer to sell the Selected
Assets and/or the Integration Assets as quickly as reasonably practicable taking into account the market
conditions at that time (see paragraph headed "Portfolio Administration Agreement” under the section
headed “Description of the Transaction Documents™).



There is no guarantee that the proceeds of realisation of the Portfolio will be in an amount sufficient to
repay all amounts due to creditors (including the Covered Bondholders) under the Covered Bonds and
the Transaction Documents. If a Covered Bonds Guarantor Acceleration Notice is served on the
Covered Bonds Guarantor then the Covered Bonds may be repaid sooner or later than expected or not
at all.

Factors that may affect the realisable value of the Portfolio or the ability of the Covered Bonds
Guarantor to make payments under the Covered Bonds Guarantee

Following the occurrence of an Issuer Event of Default, the service of a Notice to Pay on the Issuer and
on the Covered Bonds Guarantor, the realisable value of the assets included in the Portfolio may be
reduced (which may affect the ability of the Covered Bonds Guarantor to make payments under the
Covered Bonds Guarantee) by, inter alia:

(1) default by the Debtors on amounts due in respect of Public Assets and Integration Assets;
(i1) set-off risks in relation to some types of Public Assets and Integration Assets included in the
Portfolio;

(1i1) limited recourse to the Covered Bonds Guarantor;

(iv) possible regulatory changes by the Bank of Italy, CONSOB and other regulatory authorities;
v) adverse movement of the interest rate;

(vi) unwinding cost related to the hedging structure; and

(vii))  regulations in Italy that could lead to some terms of the Public Assets and Integration Assets
being unenforceable.

Each of these factors is considered in more detail below. However, it should be noted that the
Amortisation Test is intended to ensure that there will be an adequate amount of Public Assets and
Integration Assets in the Portfolio and monies standing to the credit of the Accounts to enable the
Covered Bonds Guarantor to repay the Covered Bonds following an Issuer Event of Default, service of
a Notice to Pay on the Issuer and on the Covered Bonds Guarantor and accordingly it is expected
(although there is no assurance) that Selected Assets and/or Integration Assets could be realised for
sufficient values to enable the Covered Bonds Guarantor to meet its obligations under the Covered
Bonds Guarantee.

Default by Debtors in paying amounts due on Receivables or Securities

Debtors may default on their obligations due under the Receivables or the Securities for a variety of
reasons. The Public Assets and Integration Assets are affected by credit, liquidity and interest rate risks.
Various factors influence delinquency rates, prepayment rates, repossession frequency and the ultimate
payment of interest and principal, such as changes in the national or international economic climate,
regional economic conditions, changes in tax laws, interest rates, inflation, the availability of financing,
yields on alternative investments, political developments and government policies. Certain factors may
lead to an increase in default by the Debtors, and could ultimately have an adverse impact on the ability
of the Debtors to repay the Receivables or the Securities.

Changes to the lending criteria of the Seller

Each of the Loans originated by the Seller will have been originated in accordance with its lending
criteria at the time of origination. Each of the Loans sold to the Covered Bonds Guarantor by the Seller,



but originated by a person other than the Seller (an Originator), will have been originated in accordance
with the lending criteria of such Originator at the time of origination. It is expected that the Seller’s or
the relevant Originator’s, as the case may be, lending criteria will generally consider term of loan,
indemnity guarantee policies, status of applicants and credit history. In the event of the sale or transfer
of any Loans to the Covered Bonds Guarantor, the Seller will warrant that (a) such Loans as were
originated by it were originated in accordance with the Seller’s lending criteria applicable at the time
of origination and (b) such Loans as were originated by an Originator, were originated in accordance
with the relevant Originator’s lending criteria applicable at the time of origination. The Seller retains
the right to revise its lending criteria from time to time subject to the terms of the Master Transfer
Agreement. An Originator may additionally revise its lending criteria at any time. However, if such
lending criteria change in a manner that affects the creditworthiness of the Loans, that may lead to
increased defaults by Debtors and may affect the realisable value of the Portfolio and the ability of the
Covered Bonds Guarantor to make payments under the Covered Bonds Guarantee. However, Defaulted
Assets in the Portfolio will be given a zero weighting for the purposes of the calculation of the Tests.

Loans disbursed by lenders in pool (ATI and Convenzioni in Pool)

The Portfolio includes certain Loans disbursed by lenders in pool both by means of ATI (as defined in
this Base Prospectus) or Convenzioni in Pool (as defined in this Base Prospectus).

Pursuant to Italian law, should a pool of banks participate in a public auction for the granting of a loan
towards a public entity, such banks are requested to form an ATI, such a temporary association of
enterprises, and give an irrevocable mandate (an in rem propriam mandate) to one of them acting as
agent bank. The agent bank is entitled, inter alia, to enter into the loan agreement and perform all the
recovery and collection activity towards the Debtor. In particular, the agent bank is, among the lenders,
the only entity entitled to exercise the enforcement, recovery and collection activities towards the
Debtor, provided that the agent bank shall, in accordance with an intercreditor agreement, distribute to
each of the lender the relevant reimbursement amount. The lenders constituting the pool are therefore
subject to the timing of payment by the agent bank and to the due fulfillment of its obligation under the
intercreditor agreement.

Certain Loans included in the Portfolio are loans disbursed by lenders in the pool both by means of ATI
or Convenzioni in Pool and, in respect to some of such loans, Intesa Sanpaolo (former Banca
Infrastrutture Innovazione e Sviluppo S.p.A.) acts as agent bank otherwise Intesa Sanpaolo acts as
principal.

Where Intesa Sanpaolo acts as agent bank in an ATI, Intesa Sanpaolo may, in accordance with the
provisions regulating the ATI, assign its rights against the Debtor, but nevertheless will remain the only
recognised counterparty for the public entity Debtor and, accordingly, the only entitled to perform, also
in the interest of the Covered Bonds Guarantor, the enforcement and recovery procedures vis-a-vis such
Debtor.

In the event that Intesa Sanpaolo is not the agent bank, but acts solely in its capacity as a lender in the
pool, Intesa Sanpaolo would, following the assignment of the Loan and the Portfolio, not be able to
supervise the enforcement, recovery and collection activities, which are performed by the relevant agent
bank.

For the avoidance of doubt, the Covered Bonds Guarantor shall only be able to rely on the relevant
agent bank fulfilling its obligations in a timely and orderly fashion.

The Transaction Documents contain certain provisions aimed at mitigating the risks mentioned above.
In particular, in accordance with the Servicing Agreement and the Portfolio Administration Agreement,
upon the occurrence of an ATI Agent Trigger Event, the Issuer and the Servicer are required to
implement certain ATI Agent Remedy Actions. (For a complete description see “Credit Structure”).



Risk related to the market

Limited secondary market

Covered Bonds may have no established trading market when issued, and one may never develop. If a
market does develop, it may not be very liquid. Therefore, investors may not be able to sell their
Covered Bonds easily or at prices that will provide them with a yield comparable to similar investments
that have a developed secondary market. This is particularly the case for Covered Bonds that are
especially sensitive to interest rate, currency or market risks, are designed for specific investment
objectives or strategies or have been structured to meet the investment requirements of limited
categories of investors. These types of Covered Bonds generally would have a more limited secondary
market and more price volatility than conventional debt securities. Illiquidity may have a severely
adverse effect on the market value of Covered Bonds. In addition, Covered Bonds issued under the
Programme might not be rated or listed on a stock exchange or regulated market and, in these
circumstances, pricing information may be more difficult to obtain and the liquidity and market prices
of such Covered Bonds may be adversely affected. In an illiquid market, an investor might not be able
to sell his Covered Bonds at any time at fair market prices. The possibility to sell the Covered Bonds
might additionally be restricted by country specific reasons. In addition, liquidity may be limited if the
Issuer makes large allocations to a limited number of investors.

Exchange rate risks and exchange controls

The Issuer will pay principal and interest on the Covered Bonds in the Specified Currency. This presents
certain risks relating to currency conversions if an investor’s financial activities are denominated
principally in a currency or currency unit (the Investor’s Currency) other than the Specified Currency.
These include the risk that exchange rates may significantly change (including changes due to
devaluation of the Specified Currency or revaluation of the Investor’s Currency) and the risk that
authorities with jurisdiction over the Investor’s Currency may impose or modify exchange controls. An
appreciation in the value of the Investor’s Currency relative to the Specified Currency would decrease
(1) the Investor’s Currency-equivalent yield on the Covered Bonds, (ii) the Investor’s Currency
equivalent value of the principal payable on the Covered Bonds and (iii) the Investor’s Currency
equivalent market value of the Covered Bonds. Government and monetary authorities may impose (as
some have done in the past) exchange controls that could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate.
As aresult, investors may receive less interest or principal than expected, or no interest or principal.

Interest rate risks

Investment in Fixed Rate Covered Bonds involves the risk that subsequent changes in market interest
rates may adversely affect the value of the Fixed Rate Covered Bonds.

Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments

The investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or
review or regulation by certain authorities. Each potential investor should consult its legal and/or tax
advisers to determine whether and to what extent (i) Covered Bonds are legal investments for it, (ii)
Covered Bonds can be used as collateral for various types of borrowing and (iii) other restrictions apply
to its purchase or pledge of any Covered Bonds. Financial institutions should consult their legal advisors
or the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of Covered Bonds under any
applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.



DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

This Base Prospectus should be read and construed in conjunction with the following documents which
have previously been published or which are published simultaneously with this Base Prospectus and
which have been filed with the CSSF shall be incorporated by reference in, and form part of this Base
Prospectus:

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

()

€9)

the Issuer’s unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements as at 30 September 2020;
https://group.intesasanpaolo.com/content/dam/portalgroup/repository-documenti/investor-
relations/bilanci-relazioni-en/2020/20201202_Trimestrale3Q20_uk.pdf;

the Issuer’s unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements in respect of the half-year
2020, with auditors’ limited review report;

https://group.intesasanpaolo.com/content/dam/portalgroup/repository-documenti/investor-
relations/bilanci-relazioni-en/2020/20200917_Semestrale uk.pdf

the Issuer's audited consolidated annual financial statements, including the auditors’ report
thereon, notes thereto and the relevant accounting principles in respect of the year ended on 31
December 2019;

https://group.intesasanpaolo.com/content/dam/portalgroup/repository-documenti/investor-
relations/bilanci-relazioni-en/2019/20200430 BILANCI 2019 Def uk.pdf

the Issuer’s audited consolidated annual financial statements, including the auditors' report
thereon, notes thereto and the relevant accounting principles, in respect of the year ended on
and as at 31 December 2018;

https://group.intesasanpaolo.com/content/dam/portalgroup/repository-documenti/investor-
relations/bilanci-relazioni-en/2018/CNT-05-000000052A83D/CNT-05-000000052F 133.pdf

the Covered Bond Guarantor’s unaudited interim condensed financial statements, including the
auditors’ limited review report, in respect of the half-year 2020;

https://group.intesasanpaolo.com/content/dam/portalgroup/repository-documenti/investor-
relations/Contenuti/RISORSE/Documenti%20PDF/en_prosp obg/20201104 Semestrale ISP
CB PUBBLICO 300620 uk.pdf

the Covered Bonds Guarantor audited annual financial statements, including the auditor’s
report thereon, in respect of the year ended on and as at 31 December 2019;

https://group.intesasanpaolo.com/content/dam/portalgroup/repository-documenti/investor-
relations/Contenuti/RISORSE/Documenti%20PDF/en_prosp_obg/20200811 ISP CB_PUBB
LICO bilancio 31122019 uk.PDF

the Covered Bonds Guarantor audited annual financial statements including the auditor’s report
thereon, in respect of the year ended on and as at 31 December 2018;

https://group.intesasanpaolo.com/content/dam/portalgroup/repository-documenti/investor-
relations/Contenuti/RISORSE/Documenti%20PDF/en_prosp_obg/20191220 ISP_CB_PUBB
LICO_Financial Statements_2018.pdf

The table below sets out the relevant page references for, infer alia (i) the notes, the balance sheet, the
income statement and the accounting policies relating to the unaudited condensed financial statements



of the Issuer as at 30 September 2020 and the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements
of the Issuer in respect of the half-year ended on 30 June 2020, with auditors’ limited review report; (ii)
the notes, the balance sheet, the income statement, the auditor’s report and the accounting policies
relating to the consolidated financial statements of the Issuer for the years ended on and as at 31
December 2019 and 31 December 2018, (iii) the notes, the balance sheet, the income statement and the
accounting policies relating to the interim financial statements of the Covered Bonds Guarantor in
respect of the half-year ended on 30 June 2020, with auditors’ limited review report, and (iv) the notes,
the balance sheet, the income statement, the auditor’s report and the accounting policies relating to the
financial statements of the Covered Bonds Guarantor for the years ended on and as at 31 December
2019 and 31 December 2018.

The audited consolidated financial statements referred to above, together with the audit reports thereon,
the Issuer’s unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements in respect of the half-year 2020 and
the Issuer’s unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements as at 30 September 2020 are
available both in the original Italian language and in English language. The English language versions
represent a direct translation from the Italian language documents. The Issuer and the Covered Bonds
Guarantor, as relevant, are responsible for the English translations of the financial reports incorporated
by reference in this Base Prospectus and declare that such is an accurate and not misleading translation
in all material respects of the Italian language version of the Issuer's and Cover Bonds Guarantor's
financial reports (as applicable). Any part of the documents listed under items from (1) to (7) above not
listed in cross reference list below but contained in such documents, is not incorporated by reference in
this Base Prospectus and is either not relevant for the investor or it is covered elsewhere in this Base
Prospectus.

Cross-reference List

The following table shows where the information incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus,
including the information required under Annex 7 of the Prospectus Regulation (in respect of the Issuer)
and the Covered Bond Guarantor, can be found in the above mentioned financial statements

incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus.

Interim statements of the Issuer as at 30 September 2020

Page
number(s)
Consolidated balance Sheet...........cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiee e 42-43
Consolidated iNCOME StAtEMENL .........eceeriereieieieeiieiee et 44
Statement of consolidated comprehensive iNCOME...........cceeevvevievieiienveereeieennen. 45
Changes in consolidated shareholders' equity ..........cccevvvevieniiiieciicie e 46-47
ECONOMUEC T@SULLS........oooceeieiiiei ettt 51-68
Balance sheet Agregates ..............cc.ocvveviiiiciiieiiiiiiiieeiieeeiee e 69-86
Breakdown of consolidated results by business ared...............c.cocooevveveveenenan, 87-104
RiSK MANAGEMENL ...ttt 105-120
ACCOUNTING POLICIES. ...t s 121-125
Declaration of the Manager responsible for preparing the Company's financial
reports pursuant to Art. 154 bis of Legislative Decree 58/1998 .........cccccceveeneee 126
ATLACRIMIEIIES ...ttt sttt ettt s 127 - 149

Half-yearly report of the Issuer as at 30 June 2020



Page

number(s)

Consolidated balance Sheet...........ooveriiieiiiiiieee e 60-61
Consolidated INCOME StAtEMENL ........ccuerierieriieieiieieie ettt 62
Statement of consolidated comprehensive INCOME.........cc.eeveeveeieeiiieneenieiie e, 63
Changes in consolidated shareholders' eqUity ..........cccocvevvieeciierierieniere e 64-65
Consolidated statement of cash flOWS .........cceecieririeiinieeee e 66
EXPlanatory INOTES ......c..eeecuiiiiiieeiieeiee ettt e sre e ve e e be e sbeeetaeesaseeensaeessnas 67-169
ACCOUNTING POLICIES ...eevvieriieiieiiieeie et et esiteste e sreebeeseesseesteesteesssesssessseesseesseennns 69-76
SUDSEQUENT EVENLS .....vvieirieeiieeciie ettt e et e esteeeteeestreesbeeeebeeesbeeessseesssaeessseessseens 77
ECONOMIC TESUILS ..ottt 78-96
Balance sheet aggregates.......oouviiiiiiiiierieiieree ettt enreenseensees 97-130
Breakdown of results by business area and geographical area..............cccceveenvennen. 131-158
RiSK MaNagemeEnt ..........cccoevuiiiiiiiiieiicieetiete et eve e e eteeste e ae v e eeveeaveeaves 159-189
Shareholder base, related party transactions and other information....................... 190-196
Certification of the half-yearly condensed consolidated financial statements

pursuant to Art. 154 bis of Legislative Decree 58/1998 ........cccoovvvvvvcivncveecieennen. 197-198
Independent Auditors' REPOTT........cccuieviiviieiiieiieiie ettt 199-202
ATLACRITNIENIES ...ttt sttt sttt 203-226

Audited annual consolidated financial statements of the Issuer for the year ended on 31 December
2019

Page number(s)

Consolidated balance SNHEEt..........ccvevvieviieiiiiiiiie et 172-173
Consolidated INCOME StAtEMENT ........c.ccvveeviieriieiieeie e eie et et e sreereeereereereas 174

Statement of consolidated comprehensive inCOmMe ...........ocvevvverververvenceeeieennen. 175

Changes in consolidated shareholders' equity........c.cccceevvievievieiieiiicieereeieee, 176-177
Consolidated statement of cash floWS.........ccccueviiiviiiiiiciciceeece e, 178

Notes to the consolidated financial statements ...........cccceveverevereieereenieeseesie s 179-534
—Part A — Accounting POLICIES ......cceevvverieeieerieieecteecieeetre e ereereesreesteesaneeave e 181-257
— Part B — Information on the consolidated balance sheet............c.cccceeveiiiennens 258-343
— Part C — Information on the consolidated income statement ..............c.ccceeeeeenne 344-367
— Part D — Consolidated comprehensive inCOmE .........cc.ecveevievieenieeneeneesneennens 368

— Part E — Information on risks and relative hedging policies ..........cccccvveeveennens 369-504
— Part F — Information on consolidated capital...........ccccooevvrerirerienieniienienienienns 505-509
— Part G — Business COMbDINAtIONS. .........c.ceeruireriieeiieeiieeeieeesreescreeeieeeseveesveeenes 510-515
— Part H — Information on compensation and transactions with related parties... 516-522
— Part I — Share-based payments ..........cceccveeeieeeiieiienierierie e seee e sne e 523-526
—Part L — Segment r€POITING ......c.ccevvieiiiieeiieeriieeiieesteesreeeseveesreeeeeeesereesveeenes 527-529
— Part M — DiSclosure 0f [€aSes.......cccueevvuiieiiiiiiieeiieecieeeiee et 530-534

Certification of the consolidated financial statements pursuant to Art. 154 bis of
Legislative Decree 58/1998.......ccveviieiieieieceese et 535



Page number(s)
Independent Auditors' Report on the consolidated financial statements.............. 537-545
Attachments to the Consolidated Financial Statements...........c.ccccoeevververivennnne. 547-572

Audited annual consolidated financial statements of the Issuer for the year

ended on 31 December 2018 Page
Audited annual consolidated financial statements of the Issuer number(s)
Consolidated Balance Sheet Pages 192-193
Consolidated Income Statement Page 194
Statement of consolidated comprehensive income Page 195
Statement of changes in consolidated shareholders’ equity Pages 196-197
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows Page 198
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements Pages 199-544

Certification of the consolidated financial statements pursuant to Art. 154 bis of Page 545
Legislative Decree 58/1998

Independent Auditors’ Report on the consolidated financial statements Pages 547- 5577

Covered Bond Guarantor half-yearly report as at and for the six months ended on 30 June 2020

Unaudited half-year condensed financial statements Page number(s)

Statement of financial position 11-12
Income Statement 13
Statement of comprehensive income 14
Statements of changes in equity 15
Statement of cash flows 16-17
Notes to the financial statements 18-46
Independent Auditors’ Report First 2 pages of

the PDF version
of the document

Audited annual financial statements of the Covered Bond Guarantor for the year ended on 31
December 2019

Audited annual consolidated financial statements of the Issuer Page number(s)

Statement of financial position —23-24

Income Statement 25

Statement of comprehensive income 26

Statements of changes in equity 27

Statement of Cash Flows 28

Notes to the financial statements 30-63

Independent Auditor’s Report First five pages
of the PDF

version of the
document



Audited annual financial statements of the Covered Bond Guarantor for the year ended on 31
December 2018

Audited annual financial statements of the Covered Bond Guarantor Page number(s)

Statement of financial position 14 - 15

Income Statement 16

Statement of comprehensive income 17

Statements of changes in equity 18

Statement of Cash Flows 19

Notes to the financial statements 20-53

Independent Auditor’s Report First five pages
of the PDF
version of the
document

The financial statements referred to above have been prepared in accordance with the accounting
principles issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and the relative interpretations of
the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee, as adopted by the European Union
under Regulation (EC) 1606/2002.

The information not included in the cross-reference lists above is not incorporated by reference. Part of
the documents in the cross-reference list above has not been incorporated by reference and is considered
either not relevant for an investor or is otherwise covered elsewhere in this Base Prospectus.

Availability of Documents

Copies of the documents incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus may also be obtained from
the registered office of the Issuer; the Issuer’s unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial
statements as at 31 September 2020, the Issuer’s unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements
in respect of the half-year 2020 and the audited consolidated annual financial statements of the Issuer,
including the auditor’s report thereon, notes thereto and the relevant accounting principles in respect of
the years respectively ended on as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, on the Issuer's website
(http://www.group.intesasanpaolo.com/scriptlsirQ/si09/salastampa/eng_comunicati_stampa.jsp ~ and
http://www.group.intesasanpaolo.com/scriptlsir0/si09/investor_relations/eng_bilanci_relazioni.jsp#/in
vestor_relations/eng_bilanci_relazioni.jsp).

Copies of all documents incorporated by reference herein may be obtained without charge at the head
office of the Luxembourg Listing Agent in the city of Luxembourg and the website of the Luxembourg
Stock Exchange (https://www.bourse.lu/programme/Programme-IntesaSanpaolo/13643). Written or
oral requests for such documents should be directed to the specified office of the Luxembourg Listing
Agent.




SUPPLEMENT TO THE BASE PROSPECTUS

The Issuer has undertaken, in connection with the listing of the Covered Bonds on the official list of the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange, that if there shall occur any adverse change in the business or financial
position of the Issuer or any change in the information set out under “Terms and Conditions of the
Covered Bonds”, that is material in the context of issuance of Covered Bonds under the Programme,
the Issuer will prepare or procure the preparation of a supplement to this Base Prospectus or, as the case
may be, publish a new Base Prospectus, for use in connection with any subsequent issue by the Issuer
of Covered Bonds to be admitted to trading on the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.



DESCRIPTION OF THE ISSUER
History and organisation of the Intesa Sanpaolo Group
Intesa Sanpaolo Origins

Intesa Sanpaolo is the result of the merger by incorporation of Sanpaolo IMI S.p.A. with Banca Intesa
S.p.A. (effective 1 January 2007).

Banca Intesa S.p.A.

Banca Intesa S.p.A. was originally established in 1925 under the name of La Centrale and invested in
the business of the production and distribution of electricity. After the nationalisation of companies in
this sector in the early 1960s, the company changed its name to La Centrale Finanziaria Generale,
acquiring equity investments in various companies in the banking, insurance and publishing sector. The
company merged by incorporation with Nuovo Banco Ambrosiano in 1985 and assumed its name and
constitutional objects. Following the acquisition of Cassa di Risparmio delle Provincie Lombarde S.p.A.
(Cariplo) in January 1998, the Intesa Sanpaolo Group's name was changed to Gruppo Banca Intesa.
Then, in 2001, Banca Commerciale Italiana S.p.A. was merged into the Gruppo Banca Intesa and the
Intesa Sanpaolo Group's name was changed to "Banca Intesa Banca Commerciale Italiana S.p.A.". On
1 January 2003 the corporate name was changed to "Banca Intesa S.p.A.".

Sanpaolo IMI S.p.A.

Sanpaolo IMI S.p.A. (Sanpaolo IMI) was formed in 1998 through the merger of Istituto Mobiliare
Italiano S.p.A. (IMI) and Istituto Bancario San Paolo di Torino S.p.A. (Sanpaolo).

Sanpaolo originated from the "Compagnia di San Paolo" brotherhood, which was set up in 1563 to help
the needy. The "Compagnia di San Paolo" began undertaking credit activities and progressively
developed into a banking institution during the nineteenth century, becoming a public law credit
institution (Istituto di Credito di Diritto Pubblico) in 1932. Between 1960 and 1990, Sanpaolo expanded
its network nationwide through a number of acquisitions of local banks and medium-sized regional
banks, ultimately reaching the level of a multifunctional group of national importance in 1991 after its
acquisition of Crediop. On 31 December 1991, Sanpaolo became a stock corporation (societa per
azioni) with the name Istituto Bancario San Paolo di Torino Societa per Azioni.

IMI was established as a public law entity in 1931 and during the 1980s it developed its specialist credit
and investment banking services and, with Banca Fideuram, its professional asset management and
financial consultancy services. IMI became a joint stock corporation (societa per azioni) in 1991.

The merger between Banca Intesa and Sanpaolo IMI and the creation of Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A.

The boards of directors of Banca Intesa and Sanpaolo IMI unanimously approved the merger of
Sanpaolo IMI with Banca Intesa on 12 October 2006 and the merger became effective on 1 January
2007. The surviving entity changed its name to Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A., the parent company of the Intesa
Sanpaolo Group.

Legal Status

Intesa Sanpaolo is a company limited by shares, incorporated in 1925 under the laws of Italy and
registered with the Companies' Registry of Turin under registration number 00799960158. It is also
registered on the National Register of Banks under no. 5361 and is the parent company of "Gruppo
Intesa Sanpaolo". Intesa Sanpaolo operates subject to the Banking Law.



Registered Office

Intesa Sanpaolo's registered office is at Piazza San Carlo 156, 10121 Turin (Italy) and its telephone
number is +39 0115551. Intesa Sanpaolo's secondary office is at Via Monte di Pieta 8, 20121 Milan
(Italy). The LEI Code of the Issuer is 2W8NSUU78PMDQKZENCO08.

Website
The website of the Issuer is www.intesasanpaolo.com.

The information on the website does not form part of this Base Prospectus unless information contained
therein is incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus.

Objects

The objects of Intesa Sanpaolo are deposit-taking and the carrying-on of all forms of lending activities,
including through its subsidiaries. Intesa Sanpaolo may also, in compliance with laws and regulations
applicable from time to time and subject to obtaining the required authorisations, provide all banking
and financial services, including the establishment and management of open-ended and closed-ended
supplementary pension schemes, as well as the performance of any other transactions that are incidental
to, or connected with, the achievement of its objects.

Ratings
The credit ratings assigned to Intesa Sanpaolo are the following:

* BBB (high) by DBRS Rating GmbH ("DBRS Morningstar");> BBB- by Fitch Ratings Limited
("Fitch Ratings");

* Baal by Moody’s France S.A.S. ("Moody’s"); and
* BBB by S&P Global Ratings Europe Limited ("S&P Global Ratings”).

Each of DBRS Morningstar, Fitch Ratings, Moody’s and S&P Global Ratings is established in the EEA
or in the United Kingdom and registered under Regulation (EU) No 1060/2009, as amended (the CRA
Regulation) and appears